LEPTIN DELIVERS $\beta\text{-}CELL\text{-}DERIVED$ C-PEPTIDE TO ERYTHROCYTES

By

Lisa Meints

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Chemistry – Doctor of Philosophy

ABSTRACT

LEPTIN DELIVERS β-CELL-DERIVED C-PEPTIDE TO ERYTHROCYTES By

,

Lisa Meints

Diabetes mellitus, a global health concern, is a disorder of chronic hyperglycemia associated with deficiency or resistance to insulin. Although manageable with treatments aimed at increasing the body's utilization of insulin, often, complications associated with poor microvascular blood flow persist. Erythrocytes play an important role in regulation of microvascular blood flow by their ability to release ATP, a known stimulus of NO. Although insulin produced by the pancreatic β -cells acts on GLUT4, erythrocytes and most other bloodstream cells possess GLUT1, suggesting that a different molecular secretion may stimulate GLUT1 trafficking to the cell membrane. Fewer microvascular complications are observed for diabetic patients who possess residual pancreatic β -cell activity, suggesting that other pancreatic secretions are important.

C-peptide, the 31 amino acid peptide that connects the alpha and beta chains of insulin during its synthesis, is released into the bloodstream in equimolar quantities to insulin after its cleavage from proinsulin. The Spence group, and others, have shown that C-peptide increases erythrocyte-derived ATP release and downstream NO production. However, unlike all other groups, the Spence group has only observed cellular activity of C-peptide in the presence a carrier protein and transition metal. In vivo, the candidate metal is likely Zn²⁺, due to its high concentrations in the pancreatic β -cells. In 2015, it was verified by ITC that HSA can carry C-peptide, with a K_a of 1.75 ± 0.64 x 10⁻⁵ M⁻¹ and binding stoichiometry of two C-peptide to a single HSA.

Due to the long half-life of HSA (~12-21 days) it is subject to the slow process of non-enzymatic glycation, impacting its ability to act as a carrier molecule, which is particularly problematic in conditions of persistent hyperglycemia. For this reason, Spence group hypothesized that other molecules be able to carry C-peptide and Zn²⁺ to the erythrocyte. Leptin, a recently discovered adipocyte-derived hormone with a well-known role in metabolism, and a half-life of ~25 minutes, has been implicated in a variety of physiological processes, including glucose regulation, nitric oxide release and blood flow. It was confirmed that leptin, like albumin, can carry C-peptide and Zn²⁺, increase erythrocyte-derived ATP release and stimulate GLUT1 trafficking.

This dissertation investigates of leptin's binding interactions with erythrocytes and C-peptide and how they are impacted by Zn^{2+} , albumin, and hyperglycemia. The results reported herein demonstrate that leptin has a saturable and specific binding site on the erythrocyte with $K_d = (1.79 \pm 0.46) \times 10^{-7}$ M and a binding affinity in the presence of 20 nM C-peptide with $K_d = (2.05 \pm 0.20) \times 10^{-7}$ M. Specific binding between C-peptide and leptin has been confirmed by SPR, with a K_d of 2.40 x 10⁻⁶ M. The data presented herein provide important information toward understanding the mechanism by which C-peptide and leptin are involved in erythrocyte energetics and will aid in creation of more targeted therapeutics to address the microvascular complications of diabetes.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank Dr. Dana Spence for his expert scientific guidance and mentorship during my graduate studies. Dr. Spence's persistent belief in my abilities, even in times when I doubted myself, was a crucial factor in my success. I would like to thank fellow lab member and friend Morgan Geiger, who went above and beyond to help in my training whenever she could, which was another important factor to my success. I would like to thank to Monica Jacobs, who also was a friend throughout my graduate studies, and always there for me to use as a sounding board for research and other events in my life. I would like to thank all Spence lab members for their friendship, support, and willingness to help during my graduate studies. I would like to thank my committee members, Dr. Jetze Tepe, Dr. Liangliang Sun, and Dr. Christina Chan for their expert guidance and support. I would like to thank my family, whose love and support was the foundation of my success. I am thankful for my cat Jasper, who never left my side while I worked on my dissertation at home. Praise be to God.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	/iii
LIST OF FIGURES	.ix
KEY TO ABBREVIATIONS	xv
Chapter 1: Diabetes History, Complications and C-peptide 1.1 Diabetes Statistics 1.2 Classification of Diabetes 1.2.1 Type 1 Diabetes 1.2.2 Type 2 Diabetes 1.3 Diagnostic Criteria for Diabetes 1.4 Vascular Complications of Diabetes 1.4.1 Microvascular Complications of Diabetes 1.4.2 Macrovascular Complications of Diabetes 1.5 History of Diabetes Research 1.6 Insulin 1.7 C-peptide 1.7.1 Early Studies of C-peptide and Clinical Use 1.7.2 Biological Effects of C-peptide 1.8 Erythrocyte-derived ATP Release 1.9 C-peptide and Zn ²⁺ Delivery to Erythrocytes 1.0 Binding Analysis of Albumin	.1 .2 .5 .6 .7 .8 11 21 24 230 36 .7
Chapter 2: Leptin's Role in Regulation of Blood Flow 2 2.1 Discovery of Leptin 2 2.2 Leptin and Glucose Homeostasis 2 2.2.1 Mechanisms of Leptin Action on Glucose Homeostasis 2 2.2.2 Leptin Effects on Type 1 Diabetes 2 2.3 Leptin Effects on Type 2 Diabetes 2 2.3 Leptin Receptor Isoforms 2 2.3.1 Effect of Leptin on the Sympathetic Nervous System 2 2.3.2 Leptin and Nitric Oxide 2 2.3.3 NO Independent Vasodilatory Effects of Leptin 2 2.3.4 Renal Effects of Leptin 2 2.4 Leptin and Its Interaction with Pancreatic Hormones 2 2.4.1 C-peptide and leptin Effect on Erythrocyte Cellular Activity 2 2.4.2 Mechanistic Studies of Leptin's Effect on Erythrocytes 2 2.4.2.1 Zn ²⁺ Binding to Erythrocytes is Increased by Leptin 2 2.4.2.2 C-peptide and leptin Binding to Erythrocytes 5	39 32 42 44 44 55 55 55 55 55 57
Chapter 3 – Investigation of Leptin Binding to Erythrocytes	59

3.1 Drug-receptor Interaction (Theory)	59
3.2 Ligand Binding Assays	60
3.2.1 Types of Binding Assays	60
3.2.2 Non-Specific Ligand Binding	61
3.2.3 Evaluating Ligand Binding Data – Non-linear Regression	63
3.3 Evaluating Leptin Binding to Erythrocytes by Enzyme Linked Immunosori	cont Assay
2.4 Dedielebeling with ^{99m} Te for Direct Diading Apolysis of 00mTe C postide	
3.4 Radiolabeling with ""TCTOF Direct Binding Analysis of 99mTC-C-peptide	
O ETYINIOCYLES	
3.5.1 Preparation of Lyonhilized HVNIC reagent	
3.5.2 Preparation of Lyophilized Tin Tricine Reagent	60
3.5.2 Preparation of C-pentide	69
$3.5.4$ Preparation of $7n^{2+}$	70
3.5.5 Preparation of ^{99m} Tc-leptin	
3.5.6 Isolation and Purification of Ervthrocytes	
3.5.7 Standard and Sample Preparation for Radiolabeling Experiments	
3.6 Results	
3.7 Discussion	
Chapter 4: Binding Analysis of C-peptide and Leptin	91
4.1 Introduction	91
4.1.1 Adapting Ultrafiltration Dialysis to Investigate C-peptide and leptin	Interaction
	96
4.1.2 Surface Plasmon Resonance - Background	100
4.1.3 Surface Plasmon Resonance Biosensor Chip Design	
4.2 Methods	
4.2.1 Preparation of C-peptide	
4.2.2 Preparation of Leptin for Ultrafiltration Experiments	
4.2.3 Preparation of Leptin For SPR	
4.2.4 Binding Analysis with Commercial Ultrafiltration Devices	
4.2.5 Creation of 12 and 3.5 kDa MWCO Ultrafiltration Devices	
4.2.6 Optimization of Experiment Conditions with 3D-printed Ultrafiltration	
1270 populdo ELISA for Litrofiltration Experimente	
4.2.7 C-peptide ELISA for Ultraintration Experiments	····· / 447
4.2.0.1 FIULEUULE IUL TADA $assay$	110
4.2.0.2 FIULEUULE IULDUA assay	120
т.2.3 Он IX ананузю	120 120
4.5 Results	
Chapter 5: Current Studies, Conclusions and Future Directions	
5.1 Investigation of C-peptide Binding to Ervthrocytes in the Presence of	f Leptin in
Hyperglycemic Conditions	
5.2 Methods	

 5.2.1 Preparation of C-peptide	133 134 134 134 134 135 135 137 137 141 144 147 etes 148
 5.5.3 Other Considerations for Development of a Zn²⁺/C-peptide/Leptin Diab Therapeutic	etes 148 150 150 152
APPENDIX	154
REFERENCES	156

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1 C-peptide purification by HPLC gradient method. Solvent A: 0.1% HPLC-grade trifluoroacetic acid (TFA; EMD Millipore, Burlington, MA) in HPLC-grade water (Sigma Aldrich). Solvent B: 0.089% TFA/60% HPLC-grade acetonitrile (Sigma Aldrich) in HPLC-grade water.

Table 4.1: Advantages and disadvantages for using SPR to monitor molecular interactions. Adapted from Helmerhorst et al., *Clin. Biochem. Rev.* **2021**, *33* (4) 161-73.

Table 4.2 Optimization of centrifugation time and speed for commercial ultrafiltration devices. A series of centrifugation speeds and times were tested and ultrafiltrate was measured to determine optimal conditions for initial experiments. n = 3, volumes are approximate.

Table 5.1 Sample preparation for analysis of C-peptide binding to erythrocytes in the presence of leptin and gBSA. All listed values are volume in microliters (μ L). 800 nM Zn²⁺, 800 nM C-peptide (Cp), 10 nM leptin (Lp), 5,000 nM BSA in AF-PSS (BSA), 5,000 nM gBSA in AF-PSS (gBSA), and erythrocytes (RBCs) were prepared as described in methods section.

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.7: Depiction of 3D-printed fluidic device used to measure erythrocyte-derived release of ATP. As shown, erythrocyte samples are pumped through channels of the device. ATP released from the erythrocytes diffuses from channels of the device through the porous membrane of a transwell insert (which is loaded with 50 µL of PSS buffer immediately prior to erythrocyte delivery to device channels). The moles of ATP diffusing into the transwell insert are proportional to the amount of ATP in the channel, allowing the amount of ATP released from the erythrocytes to be quantitatively determined. Adapted from Liu et al., *Integr. Biol.* **2015**, *7*, 534-43.

Figure 1.8: Illustration of the principle of ultrafiltration binding studies. In (a), a sample mixture of protein and ligand is loaded into a device fitted with a size-exclusion membrane. The pores of the membrane are large enough to allow passage of the ligand but small enough to prevent passage of the protein and any ligand-protein complexes. In (b), pressure is used to push a small amount of solution containing the unbound ligand through the membrane pores. The concentration of unbound ligand in the ultrafiltrate is equivalent to the concentration of unbound ligand in the retentate. Adapted from Castiaux et al., *Anal. Bioanal.* **2018**, *410*, 7565-73.

Figure 3.3: ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding to erythrocytes in the absence of C-peptide. In (a), experimentally determined total ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding (closed circles) and non-specific ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding (open circles) are displayed [^{99m}Tc-leptin] = 0-1000 nM, 7%

Figure 3.9: Comparison of total ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding to erythrocytes without (plain bar) or with C-peptide (light grey bar). A single concentration of ^{99m}Tc-leptin (0.5 nM, representing the average serum leptin level under normal physiological conditions) was chosen to the effect of a saturating concentration of C-peptide (20 nM) on leptin binding to erythrocytes.7% erythrocytes, n = 3 (3 biological replicates, 11 technical replicates), error = sd.

Figure 3.10: ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding to erythrocytes in the absence of C-peptide. In (a), experimentally determined total ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding (closed circles) and non-specific ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding (open circles) are displayed. [^{99m}Tc-leptin] = 0-1000 nM, 7% erythrocytes. n = 3, error = sd. In (b) specifically bound ^{99m}Tc-leptin was determined and

Figure 4.2: Depiction of 3D-printed ultrafiltration device used to perform binding affinity measurements. Adapted from Jacobs et al., *Metallomics* **2020**, *12* (7), 1036-43.........95

Figure 4.3: Schematic illustration of an intensity dispersion of the magnetic field and field components of a surface plasmon polariton at a metal-dielectric interface. The surface plasmons have a combined surface charge and electromagnetic character. SPs are transverse magnetic (H is in the y direction), with the generation of surface charge requiring an electric field normal (perpendicular) to the surface. The combined nature also leads to the field component perpendicular to the surface being increased near the surface while decaying exponentially with distance away. Reproduced from Barnes et al., *Nature* **2003**, *424*, 824-30.

Figure 4.4: Scheme for surface plasmon polaritons (SSPs) a) shows the infiltration distance of SSPs into the metal and dielectric. The field in the perpendicular direction is

termed evanescent, due to the attached, non-radiative nature of SPs that blocks power from disseminating away from the surface. In the dielectric field above the metal (usually air or glass), the decay length of the field, δ_{d} , is on the order of approximately half the wavelength of light implicated, while the decay length into the metal, δ_{m} , is determined by the skin depth. b) shows the dispersion curve for a SP mode, showing the momentum mismatch issue that must be surmounted to couple SP modes and light, with the SP mode always beyond the light line, having larger momentum ($\hbar K_{SP}$) than a free space photon ($\hbar K_0$) of the same frequency ω . Reproduced from Barnes et al., *Nature* **2003**, *424*, 824-30.

KEY TO ABBREVIATIONS

AC	Adenylyl cyclase
AF-PSS	Albumin-free physiological salt solution
Akt	Protein kinase B
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
A1C	Glycated hemoglobin
BCA	Bicinchoninic acid
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CFTR	Cystic fibrosis trans membrane conductance regulator
cGMP	Cyclic guanosine monophosphate
DDW	Double deionized water
EDHF	Endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
eNOS	Endothelial nitric oxide synthase
ERY	Erythrocyte
ESI-MS	Electrospray ionization mass spectrometry
FCS	Fluorescence correlation spectroscopy
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
GC	Guanylyl cyclase
gBSA	Glycated bovine serum albumin

gHSA	Glycated human serum albumin		
GLUT1	Glucose transporter 1		
GLUT4	Glucose transporter 4		
HABA	4'hydroxyazobenzene-2-carboxylic acid		
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen		
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography		
HSA	Human serum albumin		
HYNIC	Hydrazinonicotinamide		
ITC	Isothermal Titration Calorimetry		
JAK	Janus kinase		
LC-MS	Liquid chromatography mass spectrometry		
LED	Light-emitting diode		
L-NAME	N ^w -nitro-L-arginine methylester		
MEK	Methyl ethyl ketone		
MWCO	Molecular weight cut-off		
NO	Nitric oxide		
NPY	Neuropeptide Y		
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline		
PKA	Protein kinase A		
PSS	Physiological salt solution		
SADH	Streptavidin in dextran hydrogel		
SP	Surface plasmon		
SPR	Surface plasmon resonance		

- SRP Signal recognition particles
- STAT Signal transducer and activator of transcription
- TLC Thin-layer chromatography
- TRIS Tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane

Chapter 1: Diabetes History, Complications and C-peptide

1.1 Diabetes Statistics

Diabetes mellitus (commonly known as diabetes) is a cluster of metabolic diseases characterized by hyperglycemia (elevated concentrations of bloodstream glucose) ensuing from defects in either insulin action or secretion, or both. Chronic hyperglycemia results in long-term damage, including organ dysfunction and failure, affecting in particular the kidneys, eyes, vasculature and nerves.¹ According to the 2016 World Health Organization (WHO) Global report on diabetes, worldwide, approximately 422 million adults were living with diabetes as of 2014, compared with 108 million in 1980. The global incidence of diabetes has almost doubled since 1980, from 4.7% to 8.5% of the adult population because of an increase in risk factors including being obese or overweight. Diabetes caused 1.5 million deaths in 2012, with another 2.2 million deaths associated with higher-than-ideal blood glucose, which is a risk factor for cardiovascular and other diseases. Of these deaths, 43% occurred before the age of 70, with the percentage of deaths due to high blood glucose or diabetes occurring before age 70 being higher for low- and middle-income countries than for high income countries. Over the past decade, the incidence of diabetes has risen faster for low and middle income countries relative to high income countries.²

In the United States as of 2018, 34.2 million people, or 10.5% of the U.S. population, had diabetes. Of these, 34.1 million, or 13%, were adults (age 18 or over), and another 7.3 million adults met laboratory criteria for diabetes but were not aware of

or did not report having diabetes. The percent of adults with diabetes increased with age, reaching 26.8% for those 65 or older. From 1999-2016, age adjusted prevalence of adults significantly increased, with estimates of 9.5% from 1999-2002 and 12% from 2013-2016.³

1.2 Classification of Diabetes

Many individuals do not fit into a certain classification for diabetes and deciding a type often depends on circumstances at the time of diagnosis. For a person with gestational diabetes for example hyperglycemia may continue even after delivery and result in a diagnosis of type 2 diabetes. On the other hand, a person who develops diabetes due to a high dose of exogenously administered steroids may become normoglycemic after steroids are discontinued, only to develop diabetes years later. Another example is a person treated with thiazides (a diuretic) who develops diabetes many years later. Because thiazides themselves rarely lead to hyperglycemia, it is likely that individuals who develop diabetes after thiazide use have a predisposal to type 2 diabetes that is provoked by the drug.¹

The amount of hyperglycemia may change over time depending on the underlying disease process and degree of progression (Figure 1.1). The disease process can impair fasting glucose and/or glucose tolerance while not fulfilling the diagnostic criteria for diabetes. In some patients, sufficient glycemic control may be achieved with weight reduction, exercise and/or a glucose lowering agent, and the patient will not require administration of insulin. Other individuals will have residual insulin secretion yet still

require exogenous insulin to achieve normoglycemia but can survive without it. Still some others will have widespread β -cell destruction with no residual insulin secretion and require administration of exogenous insulin to survive. The severity of metabolic abnormality in any one case may progress, regress, or stay the same. The degree of hyperglycemia is reflective of the severity of disease and the prescribed treatment more than the origin of the disease itself.¹

Stages	Normoglycemia	Hyperglycemia	
Types	Normal Glucose Regulation	Impaired Glucose Tolerance/Fasting Glucose	Diabetes Mellitus Not insulin Insulin requiring Insulin requiring requiring for control for survival
Туре 1			
Туре 2			
Gestational Diabetes			

Figure 1.1. Disorders of glycemia – stages and etiologic types. Adapted from American Diabetes Association, Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus, 2014.

1.2.1 Type 1 Diabetes

Type 1 diabetes is an immune-mediated form of diabetes and includes only 5-10% of those with diabetes. It has formerly been known by the terms insulin-dependent diabetes, or juvenile-onset diabetes, and arises from a cellular-mediated autoimmune

destruction of the pancreatic β-cells. Although this form of diabetes commonly occurs in childhood or adolescence, it can occur at any age, including the last decades of life. It is marked by the presence of autoantibodies^{a,4} to the pancreatic islet cells, insulin, glutamic acid decarboxylase and tyrosine phosphatases.¹ One or more of these autoantibodies are usually detected in 85-90% of those with fasting hyperglycemia. Type 1 diabetes has strong links to variations in the human leukocyte antigen (HLA), particularly to HLA DQ beta and HLA DR beta, which can be either causative or protective.¹

The rate of β -cell destruction in type 1 diabetes can be vastly different; rapid in some (usually infants and children) and slow in others (particularly adults). Some, particularly children and adolescents, may present with the first symptom of acute ketoacidosis,^{b, 4} while others will have moderate fasting hyperglycemia that can quickly change to severe hyperglycemia with or without ketoacidosis in the course of infection or other stress.^{1, 5} Still others (usually adults) will have enough residual β -cell function to avoid ketoacidosis for many years, although such individuals usually eventually require administration of exogenous insulin to survive.¹

Risk factors for autoimmune destruction of the pancreatic β-cells includes genetic predisposition and environmental factors, many of which are still under investigation. Obesity is not normally correlated with type 1 diabetes but may be present, and usually,

^a An autoantibody is an antibody that is made by an organism in response to a component of its own tissues.
^b Ketoacidosis is a serious complication of diabetes in which there are high levels of blood acids called ketones. Without enough insulin, the body begins to break down fat as fuel, which leads to this build-up.

individuals with type 1 diabetes have increased susceptibility to other autoimmune disorders.¹

1.2.2 Type 2 Diabetes

Type 2 diabetes has previously been known as adult-onset or non-insulin dependent diabetes and includes individuals who have insulin resistance and normally relative rather than complete insulin deficiency. In the beginning, and often throughout life, individuals with type 2 diabetes will not require administration of exogenous insulin to survive. There are likely many different factors that may lead to a diagnosis of type 2 diabetes, and some are not known. However, autoimmune destruction of the β -cells does not occur.¹

Obesity is usually associated with type 2 diabetes, and obesity itself may cause some degree of insulin resistance. Individuals with type 2 diabetes who are not obese usually have a raised percentage of body fat distributed mainly in the abdominal region. Unlike type 1 diabetes, ketoacidosis rarely occurs spontaneously with type 2 diabetes (although it may be seen during stress of another illness or infection).¹ Type 2 diabetes can go undiagnosed for many years as the hyperglycemia develops gradually and at early stages is typically not severe enough to cause the characteristic symptoms of diabetes. (*i.e.* increased thirst, hunger, urination, fatigue, blurred vision)^{1, 6} For these reasons, such individuals are at an increased risk of developing complications.¹

While individuals with this form of disease may have normal or even elevated insulin levels, with normal β -cell function, the higher blood sugar levels observed in these

individuals would be expected to result in higher insulin levels as a response. Therefore, insulin secretion is considered defective because it is insufficient to make up for insulin resistance. While insulin resistance may improve with weight reduction through diet and exercise or by treatment of hyperglycemia with pharmaceuticals, it is rarely returned to normal. Risk of developing type 2 diabetes increases with age, obesity, and sedentary lifestyle. It is seen more commonly in women with a prior diagnosis of gestational diabetes and individuals with hypertension or dyslipidemia (abnormal blood lipid levels) and varies in frequency between different racial and ethnic groups. Interestingly, although the pathophysiology is complex and largely undefined, type 2 diabetes is more associated with a genetic predisposition than type 1 diabetes.¹

1.3 Diagnostic Criteria for Diabetes

The diagnosis of diabetes for years was based on glucose measures, either oral glucose tolerance test or fasting plasma glucose¹ until in 1997 the first Expert Committee on the Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus updated the diagnostic criteria using the observed relationship between retinopathy and fasting plasma glucose levels as a main factor to identify threshold glucose level.⁷ The analyses of epidemiologic studies evaluating the link between retinopathy and glycemia by means of fasting plasma glucose, 2 hour plasma glucose and A1C^{c, 8} showed that below a certain level of glycemia

^c A1C – Also known as hemoglobin A1c, glycohemoglobin, or HbA1c is a measure of glycation of hemoglobin, or how much glucose is attached to the body's hemoglobin protein.

there was little evidence of retinopathy, while above that level prevalence of retinopathy increased in a linear fashion. The analyses lead to a new diagnostic cut off point of greater than or equal to 126 mg/dl (7.0 mmol/L) for fasting plasma glucose and corroborated the long-standing diagnostic 2 hour plasma glucose level of greater than or equal to 200 mg/dl (11.1 mmol/L).⁷

A1C is a broadly used marker of chronic glycemia because it reflects an average of blood glucose levels over the span of 2-3 months. A1C plays an important role in the control of diabetes because it correlates with the presence of vascular complications and is an indicator of glycemic management. Although previously A1C has not been used as a diagnostic tool due to a lack of standardization for assays, now A1C assays are highly standardized and results can be consistently applied for a single patient at different time points as well as between patient populations. ¹ In 2009, an International Expert Committee, in a decision confirmed by the American Diabetes Association, after examination of established and emerging epidemiological evidence, began to recommend the use of A1C test to diagnose diabetes with a cutoff of greater than or equal to 6.5%.^{1,9}

1.4 Vascular Complications of Diabetes

The life expectancy of adults with diabetes is decreased by an average of 5-10 years, and annual mortality is about 5.4%, or approximately double that for non-diabetic adults. While this increase is primarily due to cardiovascular disease, deaths for non-cardiovascular causes are also increased. Diabetes increases the risk for development

of vascular complications that are largely irreversible. While duration of diabetes is a key factor in progression of pathogenesis, coexisting health issues such as hypertension or high cholesterol and lifestyle factors such as cigarette smoking may contribute.¹⁰ Microvascular complications of diabetes affect the small blood vessels in the body and include retinopathy, nephropathy and neuropathy, while macrovascular complications affect the large vessels and include coronary and peripheral artery disease as well as stroke.¹¹

1.4.1 Microvascular Complications of Diabetes

There is a strong correlation between the occurrence and advancement of microvascular complications and glycemic control. In the Diabetes Control and Complications trial, which was a study of type 1 diabetes, in patients given intensive treatment with insulin the number of clinically relevant microvascular complications was reduced by 34-76% in patients administered rigorous treatment with insulin, leading to a 10% mean reduction in glycated^{d, 12, 13} hemoglobin levels, to 7.2% from 8%, but the patients had more frequent hypoglycemic events.¹⁴ For patients with type 2 diabetes, in a United Kingdom prospective diabetes study, tight glucose control diminished glycated hemoglobin concentrations by an average of 0.9% compared to standard treatment with

^d Glycation is a covalent, non-enzymatic, post-translational, substate concentration-dependent and irreversible process linking the aldehyde group of glucose and other reducing sugars to proteins.

a mean glycated hemoglobin level of 7.0% vs. 7.9%, leading to a 25% reduction overall for microvascular complications.¹⁰

One of these complications, known as diabetic retinopathy, is a progressive disorder associated with various clinical abnormalities and is the most common cause of blindness for individuals 30-69 years. Retinal damage can arise from microvascular leakage and occlusion (blockage). Almost 1/5 of patients with type 2 diabetes have retinopathy to some degree at the time of diagnosis, although in type 1 diabetes retinopathy virtually never happens in the first five years post diagnosis or prior to puberty. However, after 15 years, virtually all patients with type 1 diabetes and nearly 2 out of 3 patients with type 2 diabetes will have some background retinopathy.¹⁰ Retinopathy (Figure 1.2) is a term describing damage to any portion of the retina of the eyes, which may lead to vision impairment.¹⁵ In type 1 diabetes, vision threatening retinopathy is often due to neovascularization, or formation of new blood vessels within the microvasculature in response to poor blood flow. Unfortunately, these vessels often leak, leading to a cloudy vitreous and resultant reduced vision. In type 2 diabetes, retinopathy often presents as maculopathy¹⁰, or a pathological condition of the macula, a small spot in the retina that is responsible for highly sensitive and accurate central vision.¹⁶

Diabetic Retinopathy



Figure 1.2: Eye with diabetic retinopathy. Poor blood flow associated with diabetes results in damage to the blood vessels of the retina. New, weakened vessels grow, clouding the vitreous and resulting in poor eyesight or blindness.

Diabetic nephropathy, also known as renal or kidney disease, is a term describing damage of a kidney, and is characterized by protein secreted in the urine (proteinuria) greater than 300 mg over 24 hours, increased blood pressure and diminishing renal function. The most severe form of diabetic nephropathy leads to end stage renal disease that requires dialysis or transplantation, but early stages, or incipient nephropathy, are characterized by microalbuminuria, where the urine contains small quantities of protein that are not detectable by conventional dipstick testing. Microalbuminuria is defined by an albumin excretion rate of 20-300 mg over 24 hours or 20-200 µg/minute in a timed collection and is foretelling of development of acute nephropathy, for type 1 diabetes.

While rate of decline in glomerular function can vary greatly between individuals, treatment of hypertension can greatly slow the decline in renal function and increase survival. Development of proteinuria is a marker of pervasive vascular damage and marks a heightened risk for later end stage renal disease and macrovascular complications, especially for cardiovascular disease. Both microproteinuria and proteinuria are linked to lessened survival for type 1 and type 2 diabetes.¹⁰

Neuropathy describes dysfunction of one or more peripheral nerves, and typically presents as numbness or weakness.⁴ Diabetic neuropathy can present in many ways, and in the most common form presents as a diffuse progressive polyneuropathy that primarily affects the feet. This condition is predominantly sensory and can be asymptomatic, affecting 40-50% of all patients with diabetes.¹⁰ Neuropathy can be detected by a monofilament test to assess sensory neuron and motor responses.¹⁷ Patients with sensory neuropathy and other risk factors of diabetes must be careful with their foot care to minimize the risk of ulceration. While neuropathic foot ulcers are distinct from vascular ulcers, it is common for these to occur together.¹⁰

1.4.2 Macrovascular Complications of Diabetes

Atherosclerosis, a disease where the walls of the arteries develop abnormal lesions,¹⁸ accounts for most of the excess mortality in patients with diabetes. However, the relationship between glucose control and macrovascular events is less dominant than for microvascular complications, with risk factors such as smoking, high blood pressure,

proteinuria and high cholesterol being more important for development of large vessel disease in patients with diabetes.¹⁰

Hyperlipidemia, or the abnormal elevation of lipids or lipoproteins in the blood,¹⁹ is not more common in patients with type 1 diabetes than the general population.¹⁰ However, in patients with type 2 diabetes, although the total and low density lipoprotein concentrations are similar to those of non-diabetics, there is a more atherogenic lipid profile, in that there are lower than normal concentrations of high density lipoprotein and higher than normal concentrations of small density lipoproteins.¹⁰

At least half of patients with diabetes suffer from hypertension; tight blood pressure control can reduce the risk of stroke, heart failure, diabetes-related deaths and microvascular complications.¹⁰ Although a single direct cause for chronic diabetic complications is not evident, several reports suggest that an underlying dysfunction at the interface between the blood stream and peripheral tissues leads to vessel pathology.^{20, 21}

1.5 History of Diabetes Research

Clinical features of diabetes were first described 3000 years ago by the ancient Egyptians. In the Ebers papyrus, which dates to 1550 BC there are descriptions of various diseases, among which there is a polyuric syndrome that is likely diabetes.²² The Verdic medical treaties of ancient India also elaborate congenital and late-onset diabetic conditions.²³ The term diabetes was given by Araetus of Cappadocia (81-138 AD) who described diabetes as a polyuric wasting disease. Diabetes is a Greek word meaning 'to run through or siphon', due to the excessive thirst and urination associated with the

disease.²⁴ The word mellitus, meaning 'honey sweet', was added by Thomas Willis of Britain in 1675, to describe the sweetness of urine and blood of patients.²⁵

In modern times, experimental influences of modern medicine have increased our understanding of diabetes, with two significant achievements leading the way. The first was the use of chemistry as a diagnostic tool beginning in the second half of the 18th century, and the second was the rise of endocrinology as a proper discipline because of the works of Claude Bernard (1813-1878) and Brown-Sequard (1817-1894). Bernard introduced the concept of organs of internal secretions (glands) and Brown-Sequard showed that infusing blood from healthy animals could delay death from adrenalectomy (removal of adrenal glands).²⁶ In 1776, Mathew Dobson, a physician of Liverpool, confirmed that there is sugar in the urine and blood of diabetic patients. In 1815, a French chemist named Michael Chevreal showed that this sugar was glucose.²⁷ Claude Bernard, who is considered the founder of experimental medicine for applying physical and chemical methods to artificially induce disease, proposed the idea of excess glucose production in patient's livers with the aid of an enzyme and described the formation of liver glycogen and its fate in the liver and other places in the body.²⁶

Proof that diabetes is due to a defect of the pancreas was the outcome of critical works of Joseph von Mering (1849-1908) and Oskar Minkowski (1841-1904), who showed that pancreatectomized dogs developed rapidly fatal diabetes that was not related to loss of flow of pancreatic juices to the intestine, implying that the pancreas plays some role in metabolism of carbohydrates.²⁸ Even though the role of pancreatic islets in the disease process of diabetes was known by the end of the 19th century, it took another 30 years for insulin to be discovered, isolated and be used clinically.²⁹

Frederick Banting predicted that it may be possible to separate internal pancreatic secretions by ligating the pancreatic ducts, which would lead to atrophy of the acinar cells (the exocrine cells of the pancreas responsible for production and transport of enzymes)³⁰ to decrease contamination of the tissue extracts with digestive enzymes.³¹ The suggestion was presented to J. J. R. Macleod, a well-known physiologist at the University of Toronto, who made available to Banting a summer laboratory, dogs for experiments, and arranged for Charles Best to assist Banting. By the fall of 1921, Banting and Best were able to separate a substance from pancreatic extracts which significantly increased the lifespan of dogs made diabetic by excision of the pancreas, and by winter of 1922, Banting and Best were able to save the life of a young by treatment with the separated substance. Aid was acquired by Macleod to allow for large scale commercial preparation of insulin, with the patent received by the University of Toronto. By 1923, large enough quantities of insulin were available for widespread treatment of diabetes.³¹

1.6 Insulin

Insulin is a peptide hormone secreted by the pancreatic β-cells in the islets of Langerhans that facilitates maintenance of normal blood glucose levels by aiding cellular glucose uptake, regulating lipid, carbohydrate and protein metabolism and assisting cell growth and division by mitogenic effects.³² Although the monomeric structure of insulin was first discovered using X-ray crystallography and reported in 1926,³³ it took another 40 years for the structure of hexameric insulin containing zinc to be solved solved.³⁴⁻³⁷ 2D NMR studies have provided information on the monomeric, dimeric and hexameric insulin

conformations, providing insight on the native insulin structure and amino acids that specifically bind to the insulin receptor.³⁸ The conformational state of insulin is influenced by its concentration and the surrounding pH,39 with interactions among hydrophobic amino acids favoring aggregation of insulin monomers as concentration rises, leading to formation of dimers, and in the presence of around 10 mM Zn²⁺ and pH 6, aggregation into densely clustered 'granules' of insoluble crystalline hexamers, with a concentration of approximately 40 mM.^{39, 40} Hexameric insulin is composed of six molecules of insulin peptide arranged as three dimers.³⁸ In the insulin hexamer, two zinc atoms are coordinated with the imidazole groups of three histidine residues and three water molecules.⁴⁰ Interactions are weaker between the dimers within the hexamers than for the interactions within the dimer, with greater van der Waals forces between the dimers within the hexamers than for the monomers within the dimers, making the hexamer configuration less stable and likely to disassemble when concentration fluctuates (i.e., during secretion into the bloodstream). When insulin hexamers are secreted from the β cell and diffuse down their concentration gradient into the blood, electrostatic forces, decreased insulin concentration and high pH⁴¹ favor dissociation of insulin into its active, monomeric form.³⁸



Figure 1.3: Maturation process of insulin. As concentration rises, insulin monomers aggregate. Within the insulin hexamer, two Zn²⁺ ions are coordinated with the imidazole groups of three histidine residues and three molecules of water. Upon secretion from the β -cell, with fluctuations in concentration and pH, insulin hexamers dissociate. Adapted from Medawala et al., *Rev. Diabet. Stud.* **2009**, *6* (3), 148-58.

Even though secreted insulin is comprised of 51 amino acids, the gene for insulin encodes a 110-amino acid precursor called preproinsulin that like other secreted proteins includes a hydrophobic N-terminal signal peptide that interacts with cytosolic ribonucleoprotein signal recognition particles (SRP).⁴² SRPs help to transport preproinsulin across the rough endoplasmic reticulum membrane into the lumen by the peptide-conducing channel,^{43, 44} where a signal peptidase cleaves the signal peptide of insulin to reveal proinsulin.⁴⁵ Proinsulin folds and forms three disulfide bounds,⁴⁶ in a process requiring a diverse set of endoplasmic reticulum chaperone proteins. ⁴⁷ Before maturation of the three-dimensional conformation, the folded proinsulin is transported from the endoplasmic reticulum to the Golgi apparatus where it moves into immature secretory vesicles and is cleaved to produce insulin and C-peptide, the latter being a 31-

amino acid peptide.⁴⁸ Before secretion into the bloodstream, C-peptide and insulin are stored in the secretory granules alongside less abundant β-cell secretory products.^{48, 49}

Administration of exogenous insulin, which is the standard treatment for type 1 diabetes, does not completely alleviate microvascular complications, and insulin itself has no direct effect on blood stream cells.^{50,51} Insulin stimulates glucose transport through glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4) but most blood stream cells, including erythrocytes, neutrophils, macrophages and T-cells do not have GLUT4, and accomplish glucose transport through glucose transporter 1 (GLUT1).^{51, 52} Also, since the half-life of insulin in the bloodstream is in the order of 4-6 minutes,⁵³ its role in control over bloodstream properties is likely minimal, suggesting a role for other pancreatic β -cell secretions.

1.7 C-peptide

C-peptide was first described by Steiner and colleagues in 1967 as a precursor in the biosynthesis of insulin.⁵⁴ Although the physical properties of insulin and its amino acid sequence had been known and described for a number of species,^{55, 56} little was known about how this molecule was made. However, it was known that the two polypeptide chains of insulin do not readily combine in high yield under normal physiological conditions.⁵⁷ It was initially speculated that analogous to another pancreatic secretion, the digestive enzyme chymotrypsin, the A and B chains of insulin may be synthesized sequentially and then cleaved after the native structure, including proper formation of disulfide bridges, had been established.⁵⁸ Steiner studied the biosynthesis of insulin in two β -cell tumors removed from individuals suffering from recurrent severe

hypoglycemia.^{54, 59} Gel filtration data for protein purified from tumor slices showed presence of an earlier eluting component that might contain insulin bound to other polypeptide material in the form of a complex.^{54, 59} These studies with islet cell tumors,^{54, 59} along with studies of rat^{54, 60} and codfish islets⁶¹ and fetal calf pancreas⁶² demonstrated that insulin is formed from a larger single chain polypeptide precursor, proinsulin.

In between the A and B chains of porcine⁶³ and bovine⁶⁴ proinsulin, there is a connecting sequence of 30 (bovine) or 33 (porcine) amino acids. Although the sequences differ between the two species, identical pairs of basic amino acids occur at each end for both species, and this basic segment can be freed with limited tryptic digestion.^{63, 65} In later experiments in rat islets, a large peptide containing most of the connecting peptide and similar to the tryptic peptide was found.⁶⁰ The peptide has also been identified in extracts of human and bovine pancreas, with the bovine peptide having an identical sequence to the bovine proinsulin connecting segment, without the terminal basic residues.⁶⁶ This peptide that is now known as C-peptide is held in the β -cell with insulin in equimolar amounts following cleavage from proinsulin (Figure 1.4),⁶⁶ and is secreted with insulin from the β -cell into the circulation. The presence of C-peptide and insulin in equimolar quantities in pancreatic extracts and labeling experiments with islets hinted that C-peptide may be important for granule formation, stability or release.⁶⁷



Figure 1.4: Depiction of insulin and C-peptide liberation from the proinsulin molecule. In proinsulin, the A and B chains of insulin are connected by C-peptide and disulfide bonds. C-peptide is excised by β -cell peptidases prior to release into the bloodstream.

1.7.1 Early Studies of C-peptide and Clinical Use

C-peptide fulfills an important biological role by supporting formation of the correct secondary and tertiary structure of insulin by correct positioning of disulfide bonds. The question has also been raised whether C-peptide is secreted from the β-cell with insulin as a convenient method of disposal, or if it plays a regulatory biological role.⁶⁸ Several early studies examined possible biological effects of C-peptide,⁶⁹ and while insulin-like effects on blood glucose levels or glucose level after glucose loading have not been detected,^{70, 71} studies of rat C-peptide showed that C-peptide decreases glucose-stimulated insulin release both in vivo and in vitro.⁷²⁻⁷⁶ It has also been reported that C-peptide inhibits arginine-stimulated glucagon release from isolated perfused rat pancreas⁷⁵ and inhibits fat-stimulated gastric inhibitory polypeptide secretion by intestinal cells.⁷² Despite the data suggesting that that exogenously administered C-peptide decreases the need for insulin by facilitating glucose disposal, for a number of years, it
was thought that C-peptide did not possess biological activity apart from its role in insulin biosynthesis.⁶⁹

Due to the fact that C-peptide is secreted into the circulation in equal quantities to insulin, but excreted from the body in a more constant rate over a longer time,⁷⁷ C-peptide is clinically useful as a method of determining insulin secretory status in diabetes treated with insulin and patients with hypoglycemia.⁷⁸ The rate of degradation of C-peptide in the body is slower compared to that of insulin (the half-life is ~30-35 minutes for C-peptide⁷⁹ whereas it is ~4-6 minutes for insulin⁵³) and for this reason gives a more stable testing window for the fluctuating β -cell response.⁷⁸ The plasma concentration of C-peptide in the fasting state in healthy individuals is 0.3-0.6 nmol/l,⁸⁰ and although half of all secreted insulin from the pancreas is metabolized by the liver in first-pass metabolism, C-peptide has little hepatic clearance. C-peptide is cleared from peripheral circulation at a constant rate, while insulin is inconsistently cleared, which makes direct measurement of insulin less steady. Also, in diabetes, because C-peptide is not administered with insulin,⁷⁸

Studies have demonstrated that there is a strong correlation between incidence of microvascular complications and glycemic control in diabetes.^{81, 82} Several investigations in the 1980s showing of patients with type 1 diabetes have detectable C-peptide (measured in plasma or urine) have demonstrated that enduring insulin production is a key factor.^{83, 84} In 1987, Östman and coworkers verified through analysis of C-peptide levels in plasma and urine that patients with type 1 diabetes who have residual β -cell function experience less microvascular complications and improved glycemic control compared to those who do not.⁸⁵ This important finding initiated a revival of the

investigation of C-peptide as a bioactive molecule, and between 1990 and 2000, more than 100 peer-reviewed articles were published examining the therapeutic potential and bioactive capacity of C-peptide.⁸⁶

1.7.2 Biological Effects of C-peptide

Research has provided insights into the mechanism of signal transduction of Cpeptide and cellular effects, with impacts on nerve and renal function, and glucose utilization. While most species only produce one form of proinsulin, mice and rats produce two isoforms, 1 and 2, that differ from three (mouse and two (rat) amino acid residues on the C-peptide portion of proinsulin.⁶⁹ Although rat C-peptides 1 and 2 differ by two amino acid residues,⁸⁷ they can stimulate sodium-potassium adenosine triphosphatase (Na⁺-K⁺ -ATPase) activity to an equal degree,^{88, 89} with a scrambled form of C-peptide having no discernable effect. Other studies have shown that C-peptide can stimulate Na⁺-K⁺ -ATPase activity in rat sciatic nerve,^{90, 91} granulation tissue,⁹⁰ pancreatic islets⁹² and erythrocytes.⁹³ C-peptide also improves deformability of erythrocytes from patients with type I diabetes.⁹⁴

It has been proposed that C-peptide may act in cooperation with other hormones. The dose response curve for C-peptide and Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activity in renal tubular cells is shifted two orders of magnitude to the left in the presence of subthreshold concentrations of neuropeptide Y (NPY), which indicates increased C-peptide effectiveness in the presence of NPY, while no synergism has been observed for Cpeptide and insulin for Na⁺-K⁺ -ATPase activity.⁸⁸ A low insulin concentration, however,

enhances the Na⁺ -K⁺ -ATPase activity of human C-peptide on rat muscle arterioles.⁹⁵ Additional studies will increase understanding of these phenomena.

For patients with type 1 diabetes, administration of C-peptide overlaps with a circulatory response, with an increase in blood flow in skeletal muscles at rest and during exercise, redistribution of skin microvascular blood flow and enhanced capillary blood cell velocity.⁹⁶ C-peptide increases blood flow, capillary filtration coefficients and permeability surface area product in isolated and perfused rat hindquarter, which signifies recruitment of capillaries.⁹⁷ Reports suggest that C-peptide achieves vasodilation through an increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration that stimulates endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) activity.⁹⁸⁻¹⁰⁰ C-peptide has been shown to increase nitric oxide (NO) release from bovine aortic endothelial cells in a concentration-dependent way, and this release was abolished by addition of an NO synthase inhibitor.⁹⁹ Forearm blood flow improvements caused by C-peptide in type 1 diabetic patients can be prevented with an NO synthase blocker.⁹⁸ It has also been reported that C-peptide can stimulate a concentration-dependent dilation of rat skeletal muscle arterioles that occurs by an NO mechanism.⁹⁵

Thus C-peptide, through activation of Ca²⁺-dependent signal transduction pathways, stimulates Na⁺ -K⁺ -ATPase^{88-90, 93} and eNOS activities.^{95, 98, 99} Both of these enzymes are known have decreased activity in type 1 diabetes, particularly in renal and nerve tissue.⁶⁹ There is evidence that C-peptide replacement in type 1 diabetes leads to improved renal function, which is demonstrated by alleviation of glomerular hyperfiltration,¹⁰¹⁻¹⁰³ decreased urinary albumin secretion^{101, 104} and elimination of nerve dysfunction.^{104, 105}

Diabetes is associated with morphological and functional changes in the microcirculation, and it is firmly established that erythrocyte properties of diabetic patients are abnormal.¹⁰⁶⁻¹⁰⁹ Abnormalities of diabetic erythrocytes include decreased deformability,^{110, 111} decreased membrane viscosity,¹¹² as well as increased erythrocyte aggregation.¹¹³ Although the molecular basis for these erythrocyte abnormalities is not known, it is thought to be related to non-enzymatic glycation of proteins and proceeding antioxidative imbalance.^{114, 115} Erythrocyte deformability is important for sufficient perfusion in the microvasculature. The modified lipid composition of diabetic erythrocyte membrane and disruptions in ion homeostasis are linked to decreased Na⁺ -K⁺ -ATPase activity, with the latter leading to intracellular accumulation of sodium and calcium ions.^{106, 116, 117}

The finding by Forst et al. that replacement of C-peptide in type 1 diabetic patients led to improvements of microvascular blood flow to levels similar to those of healthy subjects,¹¹⁸ and the discovery of C-peptide activation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase by intracellular calcium ion influx⁹⁹ led to the hypothesis that C-peptide may affect rheologic^{e, 4} properties of erythrocytes.⁹⁴ Using PC-based laser diffraction, Kunt et al. investigated the deformability of erythrocytes in type 1 diabetic subjects in relation to normal subjects to determine that erythrocyte deformability is significantly lower in type 1 diabetic patients relative to normal patients. When the erythrocytes were incubated with several concentrations of C-peptide, it was found that treatment with C-peptide could restore the deformability of diabetic erythrocytes to a level statistically like control

^e Rheologic – relating to the science of deformation and flow of matter.

erythrocytes, but C-peptide had no effect on control erythrocytes.⁹⁴ Since different concentrations of C-peptide had a comparable effect on erythrocyte deformability, it was thought that basal physiological levels of C-peptide are enough to restore deformability of diabetic erythrocytes.⁹⁹ Follow up studies by Forst et al. supported the notion that C-peptide influences microvascular blood flow in humans, providing the first in vivo evidence of an effect of human C-peptide on endothelial NO metabolism and erythrocyte Na⁺-K⁺ - ATPase activity.¹¹⁹

1.7.3 C-peptide Binding and the Search for a Receptor

No identification of a conserved active site or established binding assay has long been a barrier to recognition of C-peptide as a bioactive hormone.⁶⁹ Initial attempts at examining the binding interactions between C-peptide and cell membranes occurred in 1986, when binding of tyrosylated ¹²⁵I-labeled rat C-peptide (1) was evaluated using cultured rat islet tumor cells.¹²⁰ Although evidence of specific binding was reported, evaluation of the results was complicated by enduring secretion of C-peptide from the cells during the binding studies and existence of two different rat C-peptides.⁸⁷ Other studies looking at C-peptide interaction with skeletal cell membranes by radioligand technique had difficulty demonstrating cellular binding,¹²¹ possibly because of relatively few binding sites per unit cell surface area.¹²⁰ In research done by Ido et al. in the late 1990s, C-peptide was found to have helpful actions on vascular and neural dysfunction in experimentally induced diabetes in rats.⁹⁰ These effects with native C-peptide and also

D-enantiomer^f and sequence reverse C-peptide, leading to the idea that nonreceptor membrane interactions may explain some of C-peptide's effects.^{90, 122}

Intracellular effects of C-peptide have been observed during examination of fresh segments of proximal rat nephron, a well-defined experimental model and established target of peptide hormones.^{123, 124} Rat C-peptide (1) has been found to stimulate Na⁺ -K⁺ -ATPase activity in a concentration dependent way in single, proximal convoluted tubules separated from rat kidneys. Pretreatment of tubules with pertussis toxin, known to influence the α-subunit of G_i proteins, completely blocked the effect. This, and other observations, led to the notion that the C-peptide signal transduction pathway may involve a G-protein interacting with a ligand⁹-activated receptor.⁸⁸

These studies were continued by investigating Na⁺ -K⁺ -ATPase activity for a set of C-peptide fragments. Two sets of C-peptide fragments were found to elicit cellular Na⁺ -K⁺ -ATPase activity, one at the -COOH terminal region of the C-peptide molecule, and the other in the midsegment as shown in Figure 1.5. For the -COOH terminal region, maximal activity was observed for a pentapeptide segment (EGSLQ).⁸⁹ This segment gave full replacement of C-peptide activity which is characteristic of a ligand-receptor interaction. Indeed, residues at positions 1 (glutamic acid) and 5 (glutamine) of the pentapeptide segment are conserved in most mammalian species. The studies on the

^f Enantiomer – One of two stereoisomers that are non-superimposable mirror images. L enantiomers have the hydroxyl group attached on the left side of the asymmetric carbon furthest from the carbonyl, whereas D enantiomers have the hydroxyl group on the right side.

^g Ligand (biochemistry) - a molecule that binds another (typically larger) molecule.

pancreatic islets.¹²⁵ For the midsegment region (ELGGGFGAG), only 80% of activity of the intact molecule was attained, with the data for this segment suggesting a second site of non-specific interactions with receptor-atypical behavior.⁸⁹



Figure 1.5: Linear representation of human proinsulin molecule showing amino acid sequence of C-peptide, highlighting the positions of the mid and pentapeptide segment that are associated with C-peptide cellular activity. The pentapeptide region (EGSLQ) mimics C-peptide in assays of Na⁺ -K⁺-ATPase activity and binding. Figure adapted from Wahren et al., *Amer. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* **2000**, *278* (5), E759-68.

Fluorescence correlation spectroscopy (FCS) monitors Brownian movements^{h, 4} of a fluorophore-labeled ligand after excitation with a fluorophore-focused laser beam.^{126, 127} Measurements are carried out in a small volume element that can be shifted from the incubation medium with labeled ligand to the membrane surface of cells growing in culture.⁶⁹ Determination of diffusion time of the labeled ligand when it is free in the medium or bound to the cell membrane is allowed by the autocorrelation function of fluctuations

^h Brownian motion – describes the erratic, random motion of microscopic particles in fluid, which results from unremitting bombardment from molecules in the surrounding medium.

in fluorescence intensity.^{126, 127} FCS has higher detection sensitivity and enhanced signalto-noise ratio with sub-micron resolution in comparison with radioligand binding analysis.^{126, 127} In 1999, Wahren and coworkers applied FCS analysis to the characterization of C-peptide membrane interactions.¹²⁸

FCS of human C-peptide labeled with tetramethyl-rhodamine at the N-terminus revealed specific binding to cultured human renal endothelial cells, skin fibroblasts and saphenous vein endothelial cells. This binding was determined to be stereospecific because a peptide with the same amino acid combination but random sequence or the D-enantiomer of C-peptide could not displace the bound C-peptide. Also, addition of the COOH-terminal pentapeptide segment could competitively displace bound C-peptide. Although proinsulin contains the pentapeptide segment, it could not competitively displace bind C-peptide, indicating that the free -COOH terminus is necessary for binding. Insulin, insulin-like growth factor and neuropeptide Y could not displace the binding.¹²⁸ C-peptide could not displace C-peptide binding was in contrast to reports which suggested that C-peptide may bind with low affinity to a proinsulin receptor.^{129, 130} The FSC data also indicated species specificity, because at physiological concentrations rat C-peptide could not bind human cells.⁶⁹

In agreement with Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase data,^{88, 89} preincubation of cells with pertussis toxin eliminated measurable FSC binding of C-peptide at physiological concentrations.¹²⁸

This was consistent with an allostericⁱ signal transduction mechanism, since before treatment with there was an apparent high affinity interaction of C-peptide with its receptor, but after treatment, only a possible low affinity interaction, which may be explained by a change in receptor configuration.^{128, 131}

It was anticipated that in healthy humans, C-peptide receptor saturation is reached at physiological C-peptide concentrations (0.6 nM), as C-peptide effects have not been demonstrated in normal animals or healthy subjects^{71, 76, 90, 102, 132-134} only in animal models of diabetes or in patients with type 1 diabetes.^{94, 98, 100-105, 118, 134-136} This is in agreement with FSC data for renal tubular cells where half-saturation of C-peptide binding was determined to occur at a concentration of 0.3 nM, and full saturation at 0.9 nM.¹²⁸

Although existing data provide insights into C-peptide membrane interactions, including stereospecific binding of C-peptide to a cell surface receptor that occurs at low nanomolar concentrations and is thought to be G-protein-coupled and mediated by the -COOH pentapeptide region, as well as nonspecific, nonchiral membrane interactions localized to the midsegment region, a more detailed understanding will require further evaluation and characterization of the receptor structure.⁶⁹

ⁱ Allosteric – relating to the changing of activity of a protein by the binding of an effector molecule at a designated site.

1.8 Erythrocyte-derived ATP Release

Work relating to C-peptide involvement with erythrocytes and endothelial nitric oxide synthase activation¹³⁷ was important because of the work by Sprague et al. which showed that erythrocytes release adenosine triphosphate (ATP, Figure 1.6), an established stimulus of the potent vessel dilator NO from the endothelium. Erythrocytes release ATP in response to various stimuli, including hypoxia, mechanical deformation and other agonists.¹³⁸⁻¹⁴⁰ Sprague showed that erythrocyte-derived ATP is a contributing factor of vascular resistance in the isolated rabbit lung.¹⁴¹



Figure 1.6: Proposed pathway for erythrocyte-derived ATP release and downstream NO release from endothelial cells. A stimulus (i.e., low O₂, shear stress) activates a cyclic guanosine monophosphate pathway leading to ATP release from the erythrocyte that binds to the P2Y receptor of an endothelial cell inducing nitric oxide release and leading to vasodilation. CFTR, cystic fibrosis trans membrane conductance regulator; PKA, protein kinase A; AC, adenylyl cyclase; cAMP, cyclic adenosine monophosphate; cGMP, cyclic guanosine monophosphate, GC, guanylyl cyclase. Adapted from Sprague et al., *Diabetes* **2006**, *55* (12), 3588-93.

Combined reports showing that C-peptide can enhance blood flow in the microvasculature and glucose transport in specific cell types^{100, 102, 121}, and reports showing that erythrocytes can release ATP in response to various stimuli¹³⁸⁻¹⁴⁰ led the Spence group to suggest that C-peptide may facilitate production of endothelium or platelet-derived NO by increasing ATP release from the erythrocyte.¹⁴² In 2008. the Spence group showed that erythrocytes can release increased concentrations of ATP when incubated with C-peptide, but only in the presence of transition metals, Fe²⁺ or Cr³⁺.The erythrocytes could release increased concentrations of ATP over a period of around 24 hours when incubated with C-peptide in the presence of Fe²⁺, and continued ATP release over a period of 3-5 days with C-peptide in the presence Cr³⁺. Erythrocytes incubated with C-peptide and these metals had augmented transport of ¹⁴C-labeled glucose through the major glucose transporter found in the erythrocyte, GLUT1.¹⁴² An increase in GLUT1 activity would increase glycolysis, which is the main path by which erythrocytes make ATP, and therefore activate the reported cyclic AMP-dependent pathway through which ATP is released from the erythrocyte.¹⁴³

1.9 C-peptide and Zn²⁺ Delivery to Erythrocytes

Although the need for metal activation for C-peptide effects was an important finding in the investigation of bioactivity of the peptide because it offered a possible explanation for the lack of successful clinical trials, questions remained surrounding the role of metals in the mechanism. The choice of metals used to elicit cellular activity in the initial investigations was not arbitrary; the observation that within 24 to 36 hours after

preparation in water, C-peptide exhibited markedly reduced activity, particularly in its ability to increase concentrations of erythrocyte-derived ATP, lead to analysis of the 'inactivated' peptide by electrospray ionization mass spectrometry (ESI-MS), which showed that the peptide had not undergone any substantial change or degradation. A high-resolution scan of a triply charged region of the spectrum showed that the peptide had formed adducts with different ions including K⁺ and Na⁺, and Fe²⁺. Addition of Fe²⁺ to fresh C-peptide solution in a molar ratio of 2:1 caused formation of this adduct in plenty. To lengthen the activity of C-peptide, a metal with a slower exchange rate with ligands in solution, Cr³⁺, was added to a recently prepared C-peptide solution in a molar ration of 2:1 and again analyzed by ESI-MS, which showed the formation of C-peptide adduct with Cr³⁺. In support of the idea that a transition metal was required for activation, C-peptide that had been purified by high performance liquid chromatography to remove trace metal impurities remaining from the manufacturing process showed no activity in the presence of erythrocytes. For these reasons, in initial studies, erythrocytes were incubated in Cpeptide solutions containing Fe²⁺ or Cr³⁺.¹⁴²

In vivo in the pancreatic β -cell granules, C-peptide cohabits with insulin in its hexameric form¹⁴⁴ of six insulin molecules and two zinc atoms. Zinc transporter proteins in the β -cells keep zinc concentrations at millimolar levels,¹⁴² and because the pH of the granules is highly acidic, granular C-peptide is protonated and thus would not easily bind to Zn²⁺.^{145, 146} The Spence group thought that when exposed to the bloodstream, C-peptide would become de-protonated and competitively bind and dislodge Zn²⁺ from hexamerized insulin, leading to the suggestion that in vivo, the metal necessary for C-peptide activity was Zn²⁺.¹⁴² Indeed, mass spectrometric analysis revealed that in the

absence of any insulin hexamer, C-peptide can effectively bind Zn²⁺.¹⁴⁷ This finding was in agreement with previous reports that C-peptide can disaggregate hexameric insulin and that interaction between hexameric insulin and C-peptide is significantly impacted by pH, zinc ions and zinc chelators like ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA).¹⁴⁸ A follow up study confirmed that Zn²⁺, in the presence of C-peptide, can stimulate ATP release from erythrocytes.¹⁴⁷

Although many methods were tried, the Spence group was not able to establish substantial binding between C-peptide and Zn^{2+} alone.¹⁴⁹ Since the addition of either C-peptide or Zn^{2+} alone did not increase erythrocyte-derived ATP, it was at first hypothesized that Zn^{2+} may assist delivery of C-peptide to the erythrocyte.¹⁴⁷ However, this was incorrect, as C-peptide enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) and ⁶⁵Zn²⁺ radioisotopic data demonstrated that C-peptide binds to erythrocytes in the presence or absence of Zn^{2+} , but Zn^{2+} transfer to the erythrocyte needs C-peptide.¹⁴⁹

Because of the absence of binding between C-peptide and Zn^{2+} , it was postulated that another molecule in the system was contributing to the delivery of C-peptide and Zn^{2+} to the erythrocyte. The physiological salt solution (PSS) used as the buffer in all previous studies by the Spence group involving C-peptide contained albumin. Albumin is the most abundant protein in human plasma with a normal concentration between 35 and 50 g/l and known to have a diverse set of functions in vivo including oncotic pressure regulation, binding and transport, as well as antioxidant properties.¹⁵⁰ In 2015, isothermal titration calorimetry (ITC) analysis of binding provided important evidence that albumin is a determinant in C-peptide and Zn^{2+} binding and potentially delivery to the erythrocyte, which initiated a reevaluation of ELISA-based measurements of C-peptide binding to

erythrocytes and radioisotopic determination of Zn²⁺ delivery to erythrocytes.¹⁴⁹ As predicted, C-peptide binding to the erythrocyte was not found in the absence of albumin. Also, Zn²⁺ delivery to the erythrocyte was also absent in albumin-free PSS, whether or not C-peptide was present.¹⁴⁹

Because in the literature it is well-known that the glutamic acid residue at position 27 (E27) of C-peptide is necessary for cellular activity^{96, 151} and many linkages between albumin and other peptides or proteins occur through carboxylate linkages, further exploration assessed the ability of a E27 mutant to alanine (E27A) to bind albumin. However, it was determined by ITC that the E27A mutant did not bind albumin, and by radioisotopic assay, it was shown that the mutant, when in the three-component system with albumin and Zn^{2+} , could not deliver Zn^{2+} to the erythrocyte. Because the mutant could not be detected by C-peptide ELISA, binding of the mutant to the erythrocyte itself was not determined.¹⁴⁹

Although the data showed that albumin is needed for Zn²⁺ and C-peptide delivery to the erythrocyte, static measurements did not offer any evidence toward the mechanism by which C-peptide can improve blood flow in animal and human type 1 diabetic patients. Because of this, a 3D-printed fluidic device (Figure 1.7) was designed and created to allow active, flow-based studies of erythrocyte interaction with C-peptide, Zn²⁺ and albumin. In line with the binding data, studies with the fluidic device demonstrated an increase in ATP release from erythrocytes incubated with C-peptide, Zn²⁺ and albumin.¹⁴⁹



Figure 1.7: Depiction of 3D-printed fluidic device used to measure erythrocyte-derived release of ATP. As shown, erythrocyte samples are pumped through channels of the device. ATP released from the erythrocytes diffuses from channels of the device through the porous membrane of a transwell insert (which is loaded with 50 μ L of PSS buffer immediately prior to erythrocyte delivery to device channels). The moles of ATP diffusing into the transwell insert are proportional to the amount of ATP in the channel, allowing the amount of ATP released from the erythrocytes to be quantitatively determined. Adapted from Liu et al., *Integr. Biol.* **2015**, *7*, 534-43.

To simulate in vivo conditions, the system was updated to include INS-1 cells, a widely used rat islet β -cell model more closely more closely in diabetes research that can secret both insulin and C-peptide and contains ZnT-8 protein (the transporter found in β -cell granules responsible for Zn²⁺ transport) cultured on 6 mm transwell membrane inserts and positioned inside the fluidic device. When the INS-1 cells were stimulated with glucose, ATP release and downstream NO production by endothelial cells was only noted when the endothelial cells and erythrocytes were present, and the erythrocytes were flowing in a stream of albumin-containing buffer. Importantly, the C-peptide secretion concentrations into the insert over a time of two hours and the concentration of C-peptide that could diffuse into the device channels and influence the erythrocyte flowing stream were between 0.5-2 nM, which is comparable to what has been reported in vivo. The downstream physiological importance of C-peptide, Zn²⁺ and albumin effects was

demonstrated by measurement of the vasodilator NO. The use of PPADs, a known inhibitor of the ATP binding site on endothelial cells, decreased endothelium-derived NO production, supporting the idea that the increase in measured NO was because of ATP release which in turn was incited by albumin delivery of Zn²⁺ and C-peptide to the flowing erythrocytes.¹⁴⁹

Due to this demonstrated importance of Zn^{2+} for C-peptide cellular and tissue effects,¹⁴⁹ the Spence group proposed an alternative explanation for reports which have shown that addition of EDTA to C-peptide formulations eliminated cellular effects. It had previously been suggested that EDTA was binding to Ca²⁺ stores which were necessary for cellular function.¹⁵² However, based on the relative binding affinities of EDTA to Ca²⁺ and Zn^{2+} , and because EDTA would be unable to enter the cells due to its charge (EDTA has a charge of -4, from four oxygen atoms with lone pairs) the Spence group hypothesized that a more plausible explanation was that EDTA was competitively binding to Zn^{2+} prior to delivery to cells in vivo. Although a C-peptide receptor has not yet been discovered, the finding by the Spence group in 2015 that C-peptide requires a carrier protein to bind to cells was important for advancing these efforts. For example, to accelerate the search, it may be possible to grow crystals containing albumin, Zn^{2+} and C-peptide in order to discover structural features of the assembly necessary for receptor-based binding.¹⁴⁹

1.10 Binding Analysis of Albumin

Although albumin can bind and transport a wide range of small size metabolites, ^{153,} ¹⁵⁴ due to its long half-life time compared to other proteins (~12-21 days) and its high concentration, albumin is exceptionally sensitive to the effects of non-enzymatic glycation.¹⁵⁰ Glycation modifications can cause conformational changes in protein structure, ¹⁵⁰ and many ligands have a modified affinity to albumin when the protein is glycated.^{155,159} Increased levels of glycated albumin are often seen in diabetes, and have important effects on cellular function.¹⁵⁰ To gain a better understanding of the binding relationship between human serum albumin (HSA), C-peptide and Zn²⁺, in 2018, the Spence group developed an ultrafiltration method (Figure 1.8) to quantitatively determine binding constants. Utilizing 3D-printing technology, a custom ultrafiltration device was designed which could hold any membrane size and be fitted to the end of a commercially available 1 mL plastic syringe. The device was used to determine binding between various albumins and C-peptide, and binding affinity between Zn²⁺ and normal or glycated human serum albumin (gHSA).¹⁶⁰



Figure 1.8: Illustration of the principle of ultrafiltration binding studies. In (a), a sample mixture of protein and ligand is loaded into a device fitted with a size-exclusion membrane. The pores of the membrane are large enough to allow passage of the ligand but small enough to prevent passage of the protein and any ligand-protein complexes. In (b), pressure is used to push a small amount of solution containing the unbound ligand through the membrane pores. The concentration of unbound ligand in the ultrafiltrate is equivalent to the concentration of unbound ligand in the retentate. Adapted from Castiaux et al., *Anal. Bioanal.* **2018**, *410*, 7565-73.

Results for normal human serum albumin/Zn²⁺ binding found using the ultrafiltration method ($K_d = 5.77 \pm 0.19 \times 10^{-7}$ M)¹⁶⁰ were statistically equal to reported results that used different methods.¹⁴⁹ Interestingly, the amount of Zn²⁺ bound to normal human serum albumin was significantly different from the glycated human serum albumin (97 ± 2% protein bound vs. 91 ± 3%, respectively).¹⁶⁰ The binding affinity of C-peptide to normal human serum albumin ($K_d = 2.4 \pm 0.3 \times 10^{-6}$ M)¹⁶⁰ was in agreement with values described in the literature using traditional methods.¹⁴⁹ The binding of C-peptide to normal human serum albumin, unlike Zn²⁺ binding, was statistically equivalent to its binding to glycated human serum albumin (77.7 ± 6.2 and 78.8 ± 7.4%, respectively).¹⁶⁰

The data imply that C-peptide replacement therapy in people with type 1 diabetes may be very dependent upon the binding characteristics of Zn²⁺ to human serum albumin.¹⁶⁰ It also means that in vivo, in conditions of chronic hyperglycemia, other circulating proteins with shorter half-lives may be more important for maintenance of factors normally controlled by albumin. Leptin, an adipocyte-derived signally factor involved in regulation of energy balance,¹⁶¹ with a half-life in human circulation of approximately 25 minutes,¹⁶² is one such candidate.

Chapter 2: Leptin's Role in Regulation of Blood Flow

2.1 Discovery of Leptin

For many decades, evidence has been increasing for the existence of a physiological system for homeostatic control of body weight.¹⁶³ In 1953, Kennedy proposed a relationship between ingested calories and energy expenditure in connection with energy storage in adipose tissue.¹⁶⁴ Kennedy foresaw a homeostatic mechanism that can monitor changes in energy stores and prompt compensatory changes in food intake and energy expenditure to hold adipose mass at a set level. This mechanism is supported by the well-established fact that adipose tissue mass remains mostly stable over long periods in many mammals. This adipostatic model of body weight regulation is consistent with observations of changes in adiposity with fasting, surgical resection or forced overfeeding.¹⁶⁵⁻¹⁶⁷

The term 'parabiosis' (Figure 2.1) refers to the artificial connection of the circulatory systems of animals through surgical resection, so that they share a physiological system.¹⁶⁸ It is a common technique used in many fields of research, including obesity, aging, diabetes, and endocrinology.¹⁶⁹ In 1959, Hervey demonstrated that parabiosis between rats made obese by lesions in the ventromedial hypothalamus and control rats lead to death by starvation for the controls. These results led Hervey to the idea that increased levels of a circulating satiety factor from the obese rats could inhibit food intake in the control rats. The obese rats could not respond to elevated levels of the satiety factor due to the hypothalamic lesion.¹⁶⁸



Figure 2.1: Image of two normal mice whose circulatory systems have been artificially connected by surgical resection (parabiosis). Reproduced from Hervey, *J. Physiol.* **1959**, *145* (2), 336-52.

The concept of a satiety factor in the circulation was supported by the finding of recessive mutations, diabetes (*db*) and obese (*ob*) (Figure 2.2) that cause hyperphagia (increased consumption of food), diminished energy expenditure and early onset obesity in the mouse.¹⁷⁰ Hauseberger¹⁷¹ and Coleman^{172, 173} demonstrated that parabiosis of *ob/ob* and wild type mice avoided weight gain in the *ob/ob* mice, however, parabiosis to *db/db* mice resulted in extreme hypophagia (reduction in feeding) in the wild-type lean mice. Together, these results demonstrated that the *ob* locus was needed to produce a circulating satiety factor while the *db* locus coded for a molecule necessary for response

to the factor.¹⁷⁴ The predictions of Coleman were confirmed decades later by cloning of the ob^{175} and db^{176} genes, the product of the ob gene termed leptin, from Greek '*leptos*' meaning 'thin', because it resulted in a clear reduction in body weight, body fat and food intake when injected into leptin-deficient or normal mice.¹⁷⁷



Figure 2.2: Image A shows a normal (left) and *ob/ob* mouse (right) at 21 days of age. Image B compares the same mice at 10 months of age. The mice are indistinguishable for the first four to six weeks of life, at which point the *ob/ob* mouse begins to gain weight rapidly. Reproduced from Ingalls et al., *J. Hered.* **1950**, *41*, 317.

An increase in leptin concentration was suspected to prevent obesity by decreasing appetite and increasing thermogenesis through actions in the brain.^{178, 179} However, as more has been discovered about leptin, its original view as an anti-obesity hormone has evolved into a more complicated one. Now it is known that leptin is involved

in many physiologic processes, from immune and neuroendocrine function, metabolism, to reproduction, growth and development.¹⁶³

2.2 Leptin and Glucose Homeostasis

Together with obesity, *db* and *ob* mice have a phenotype like type 2 diabetes, with features like hyperinsulinemia, insulin resistance and hyperglycemia. Because of this, *db* and *ob* mice are broadly used as animal models of diabetes.^{178, 180-184} Although it is possible that the modified glucose metabolism that accompanies leptin receptor or leptin deficiency is secondary to hyperphagia and obesity, many lines of evidence suggest that leptin can independently modulate glucose metabolism from food intake and body weight..¹⁸⁵ Along with transient hypoglycemia,^{184, 186} hyperinsulinemia occurs in *ob/ob* mice^{183, 184, 186, 187} before the initiation of obesity, insulin resistance and hyperphagia. In rodents having interrupted leptin receptor function, including corpulent (obese) rats, *db/db* mice and Zucker fatty (*fa/fa*) rats, early hyperglycemia is common.^{182, 188-191} Humans and rodents with a large or entire loss of adipose tissue (lipodystrophy), analogous to leptin-deficient *ob/ob* mice, experience insulin resistance, hyperinsulinemia, and hyperglycemia and are hypoleptinemic.^{192, 193}

2.2.1 Mechanisms of Leptin Action on Glucose Homeostasis

Leptin receptors are pervasively expressed throughout in central nervous system and peripheral tissues.¹⁹⁴ Various studies have been performed to determine the target

tissues that control leptin influence on glucose homeostasis.¹⁸⁵ The hypothalamus and many extra-hypothalamic sites within the brain have been recognized as important targets of leptin,¹⁹⁵⁻¹⁹⁷ and direct leptin signaling in peripheral tissues can influence glucose metabolism.¹⁸⁵

2.2.2 Leptin Effects on Type 1 Diabetes

In type 1 diabetes mouse models, mono-therapy with leptin (no use of exogenously administered insulin/other compounds) improves the pathologic results of insulin deficiency connected with diabetes.^{198, 199} A single year of treatment with leptin vastly improved lipid and glucose profiles for individuals affected by both acquired generalized lipodystrophy and type 1 diabetes. In those individuals, although therapy with insulin was not completely halted, leptin treatment enhanced insulin sensitivity enough that insulin doses were markedly reduced (30-50% compared to pre-leptin administration doses).²⁰⁰ These pre-clinical and clinical discoveries ignited interest in leptin as a type 1 diabetes therapeutic.

A clinical trial (NCT01268644) aimed at determining the efficacy of leptin therapy in patients with type 1 diabetes was launched in 2010. Metreleptin, a recombinant analog of human leptin, was administered subcutaneously (0.08 mg/kg/day females and 0.04 mg/kg/day males) to patients with type 1 diabetes (mean age 33 years) twice a day for 20 weeks. No significant changes in glycated hemoglobin levels were found, but a small reduction in body weight (2.6 kg at 12 weeks and 4.7 kg at 20 weeks) and daily insulin dose (by 12.6% at 12 weeks and 15% at 20 weeks) were observed. It was noted that

some patients are likely more responsive to leptin therapy than others, but contributing factors were not identified in the data from the pilot study.²⁰¹

2.2.3 Leptin Effects on Type 2 Diabetes

Findings from many pre-clinical investigations in mouse models of type 2 diabetes show that leptin improves lipid and glucose profiles and lessens insulin resistance.²⁰²⁻²⁰⁵ Nevertheless, results from two recent clinical trials imply that leptin therapy is only minimally proficient for improving insulin resistance in obese individuals with type 2 diabetes.^{206, 207} Because it is possible that the anti-type 2 diabetes action of leptin would be evident in patients with type 2 diabetes who are not obese and whose circulating leptin levels are low or normal, such as Asian type 2 diabetic populations with low general adiposity, more clinical trials are necessary.²⁰⁸

2.3 Leptin Receptor Isoforms

There are at least six plasma membrane receptors that bind leptin, ranging from Ob-Ra to Ob-Rf. Ob-Rb, the main isoform with the longest intracellular domain, is located mainly in the hypothalamus of the brain and activates Janus kinases (JAKs) that phosphorylate signal transducers and activators of transcription (STATs). When STATs are phosphorylated, they translocate to the nucleus where they regulate target gene transcription. The short isoforms of the leptin receptor, Ob-Ra, Ob-Rc, Ob-Rd and Ob-Rf have short intracellular domains and are unable to activate the JAK-STAT pathway, but can induce signal transduction by other mechanisms, like mitogen-activated protein kinases or phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase.²⁰⁹ Although short forms of the leptin receptor are located ubiquitously in human tissues, their function is less obvious. Ob-Ra is thought to perform transport functions, particularly in the choroid plexus.²¹⁰ Ob-Re, the soluble leptin receptor, represents the main leptin-binding activity in human blood²¹¹⁻²¹³. The physiological function of Ob-Re is thought to be related to regulation of steady-state leptin levels by binding with leptin in the circulation to prevent its degradation and clearance,^{214, 215} which could mean that high soluble leptin receptor levels that have been in the blood of lean humans serve as a reservoir of bioactive leptin.²¹⁶

2.3.1 Effect of Leptin on the Sympathetic Nervous System

The autonomic nervous system is made up of two main divisions: the sympathetic and parasympathetic nervous system, which often function in opposing ways. The motor outflow of both systems is formed by two consecutively connected sets of neurons. The first set, which originates in the spinal cord or brain stem are called preganglionic neurons, and the second set, which lies outside the central nervous system in collections of nerve cells termed autonomic ganglia, are called ganglion cells or postganglionic neurons. The parasympathetic nervous system mainly controls internal organs such as glands. Although it provides control for many tissues, the parasympathetic nervous system is not crucial for maintenance of life.²¹⁷ The sympathetic nervous system regulates a vast array

of internal functions and during times of extreme emotional or physical stress, stimulates the cardiovascular and adrenal catecholamine^j systems to adjust homeostasis.^{218,219} It is the sympathetic nervous system that is in control of the body's rapid and involuntary 'fight or flight' response.²¹⁹

The first identified effect of leptin related to its hemodynamic or blood flow properties was stimulation of the sympathetic nervous system. Leptin reduces food intake and increases energy expenditure by stimulating sympathetic outflow to brown adipose tissue to increase thermogenesis. Leptin also influences sympathetic trafficking in other tissues including the kidney, adrenals and hindlimbs.²²⁰ Studies suggest that leptin reflexively stimulates the sympathetic nervous system by activating afferent (conducting inward or toward) nerve endings in adipose tissue.²⁰⁹ Leptin injected into the epididymis (a duct behind the testes) not only stimulates efferent (conducting outward or away from) sympathetic nerves to the adipose tissue of the epididymis, but also to other tissues including brown adipose tissue, the adrenal medulla (a small organ on top of the kidney that makes chemicals including epinephrine and norepinephrine, which are involved in sending nerve signals), pancreas and liver.²²¹ Additionally, injection of leptin into perirenal (surrounding the kidney) adipose tissue enhances renal sympathetic nervous activity in a dose-dependent way. These studies suggest that leptin released in adipose tissue may

^j Catecholamines are hormones made by the adrenal glands and released by the body in response to physical or emotional stress. The main types of catecholamines are epinephrine (adrenaline), dopamine and norepinephrine.

be able to act locally on afferent fibers to stimulate the sympathetic nervous system by a paracrine (having only an effect within the vicinity of the secreting gland) mechanism.²²²

However, the majority of studies provide evidence backing the idea that the central nervous system plays a major role in the sympathoexcitatory effects of leptin.²⁰⁹ In support of this, intracerebroventricular (direct injection into the cerebrospinal fluid of the cerebral ventricles in order to bypass the blood-brain-barrier) injection of leptin increases sympathetic nervous system activity at doses which do not increase systemic leptin level, and damage to the hypothalamic arcuate nucleus eliminates the sympathoexcitatory effect of leptin.^{220, 223}

Evidence suggests that the effects of leptin on brown adipose tissue and renal sympathetic nerves are regulated differentially.^{224, 225} Stimulation of arterial baroreceptors (receptors located in the carotid sinus and aortic arch, which sense blood pressure and relay information to the brain²²⁶) by increasing blood pressure lessens the effect of leptin on renal sympathetic fibers but does not influence its effect on fibers innervating brown adipose tissue.^{224, 225} In contrast, hypothermia enhances the effect of leptin on brown adipose tissue but not on renal sympathetic nerves. The data suggest that the effect of leptin's effect on the sympathetic fibers is related to leptin's role in hemodynamics, but leptin's regulation of thermogenesis.^{224, 225}

In humans, some²²⁷⁻²²⁹ but not all^{230, 231} studies suggest that leptin regulates sympathetic nervous system activity. The differences may be explained by differences in study populations and method (i.e., indirect vs. direct) used to measure sympathetic nerve activity. Many studies have demonstrated that although central and peripheral

administration of leptin can stimulate the sympathetic nervous system, blood pressure increases only when leptin is centrally administered,^{223, 232-234} suggesting that leptin stimulates counterbalancing depressor activities outside of the central nervous system.²⁰⁹

2.3.2 Leptin and Nitric Oxide

In 1999, Frühbeck demonstrated that a bolus, or a single, large dose, of intravenously administered leptin increases plasma concentration of NO metabolites (nitrites and nitrates). Although leptin administration by itself had no direct effect on blood pressure, for rats that received the NO synthase inhibitor, N^w-nitro-L-arginine methylester (L-NAME) together with leptin, blood pressure was higher for rats administered L-NAME alone. Leptin lowered blood pressure in rats in which the sympathetic nervous system was inhibited pharmacologically.²³⁵

Bełtowski et al. demonstrated that intraperitoneal²³⁶ or intravenous²³⁷ administration of leptin raises the plasma concentration and increases urinary elimination of NO metabolites and of the NO second messenger, cyclic guanosine monophosphate, in a time as well as dose-dependent manner. These results were in agreement with in vitro studies (using rat vessels) in which leptin-induced NO-dependent vasorelaxation was observed.²³⁸⁻²⁴⁰ It has been shown that leptin enhances NO production in cultured bovine pulmonary artery endothelial cells, human aortic endothelial cells and isolated rat aortic rings.^{240, 241}

For many years, NO synthase was categorized only as a Ca²⁺-dependent enzyme, and for this reason, many stimuli able to modulate endothelial NO formation have not

been characterized on the basis of their Ca²⁺-dependence.²⁴² Vecchione et al. have reported that leptin can stimulate NO release in the absence of extracellular Ca²⁺. Acetylcholine is a common stimulus used to test endothelial NO release. In direct measurements of NO release from vascular tissue using a fluorescent probe, it was found that the absence of Ca²⁺ could prevent acetylcholine-induced fluorescence but did not influence the effect of leptin on NO production.²⁴⁰ Serine threonine kinase Akt, which influences various cellular processes including glucose metabolism and cell survival, is another important regulator of endothelial NO production^{243, 244} and activates eNOS through phosphorylation on serine.¹¹⁷⁷ It has been reported that leptin enhances Akt phosphorylation in endothelial cells and isolated vessels, which can induce eNOS phosphorylation on serine¹¹⁷⁷, which is a site specific to Akt phosphorylation of the enzyme.²⁴⁰

Not all studies support the role of NO in the blood flow controlling effects of leptin. Haynes and colleagues found that leptin has no direct effect on mesenteric, hindlimb or renal vascular flow in conscious rats, even following administration of the α_1 adrenoreceptor antagonist prazosin or NO synthase inhibitor, L-NAME. The data suggested that the absence of effect from leptin is not the result of a balance between sympathetic nervous system activity and peripheral NO mechanisms.²⁴⁵ Infusion of leptin for three hours had no observed effect on the decrease in renovascular flow brought on by stimulation of splanchnic sympathetic trunk (sympathetic innervation of the abdomen), implying that, even if leptin can stimulate NO production, the overall influence of leptin on blood flow is minimal.²⁴⁶ Administration of high levels of leptin did not modify vascular flow

measured for two to three hours simultaneously in vascular beds of several conscious animals.^{234, 247}

It is unlikely that the sympathetic nervous system and NO-dependent effects of leptin are so perfectly matched as to have no impact on blood flow properties. There are several possible explanations for the observed vasodilatory effects of leptin. One possibility is that leptin stimulates NO production mainly in large conduit arteries, which contribute minimally to overall vascular resistance.²⁰⁹ For in vivo studies, it is doubtful that the source of leptin-stimulated NO production can be definitively established. Leptin can stimulate NO synthesis in many vascular tissues including adipocytes,²⁴⁸ erythrocytes²⁴⁹ and cardiomyocytes.²⁵⁰ NO stimulating effects of leptin have been observed only at pharmacological concentrations.²⁰⁹ Studies of administration of leptin at pharmacological concentrations caused NO-dependent relaxation of isolated rat or canine coronary arterioles,²⁵¹ but there was no effect on coronary blood flow in vivo for anesthetized dogs if leptin was given in doses corresponding to the 'obese' range. Interestingly, it was observed by Sprague et al. in 1996 that rabbit and human, but not dog erythrocytes, release ATP in response to mechanical deformation.¹³⁸ If high levels of leptin can induce an ATP release (and thereby stimulate NO) in other cell types, this may offer a possible explanation for the lack of NO stimulatory effects observed in dogs when leptin was administered above pharmacological concentrations.

2.3.3 NO Independent Vasodilatory Effects of Leptin

While the majority of studies investigating the role of leptin in the vasculature support a role for NO, some studies have shown that leptin may elicit vasorelaxation independent of NO.²⁰⁹ For instance, leptin decreases blood pressure in rats in which both the sympathetic nervous system activity and NO metabolism had been pharmacologically inhibited.²³⁸ In vivo, leptin prevents blood pressure increase induced by L-NAME, which supports the hypothesis that leptin may stimulate other depressor mechanisms when NO synthase is inhibited. In human studies, leptin infusion into the coronary²⁵² or brachial artery²⁵³ lead to vasorelaxation that is not prevented by NO synthase inhibitors. However, since L-NAME is a competitive inhibitor with L-arginine for eNOS, even in the presence of L-NAME, high levels of eNOS stimulation may still lead to production of NO.

Also in support of a NO-independent vasodilatory effect of leptin, apart from NO, the vascular endothelium releases two other factors with a known role in vasodilation: prostacyclin and endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor (EDHF).²⁰⁹ While EDHF activity could be accounted for by various mechanisms, cytochrome P450-dependent arachidonate metabolites, along with isomers of epoxyeicosatrienoic acid (EET) appear to be the major contributors.²⁵⁴ A study by Lembo et al.²³⁸ suggested that EDHF contributes to the vasodilatory effect of leptin in in isolated rat mesenteric arteries, although a study by Kimura et al.²³⁹ refuted this. Pretreatment of rats receiving L-NAME with either a mixture of charybdotoxin and apamin (which inhibit intermediate and small conductance potassium channels, respectively, and are used frequently to block EDHF activity) or sulfaphenazole (an inhibitor of EET synthesis) stimulates the pressor effect

(increasing blood pressure by stimulating blood vessel constriction) of leptin, demonstrating that leptin may prompt EDHF/EET-dependent vasorelaxation in vivo when NO availability is decreased.²⁰⁹

Still other studies have offered evidence that leptin can modulate vascular tone independent of its effect on the endothelium.²⁰⁹ Frühbeck and colleagues found that while leptin alone had no effect on rat aortic rings from which endothelial tissue had been removed, leptin significantly reduced the vasoconstrictor effect of angiotensin II in this setting by inhibiting Ca²⁺ release from intracellular stores.²⁵⁵

2.3.4 Renal Effects of Leptin

Serradeili-Le Gal et al. identified specific binding sites for leptin in the rat renal medulla and demonstrated a substantial rise in diuresis, or production of urine, after intraperitoneal injection of leptin in mice.²⁵⁶ Many follow-up studies demonstrated that leptin administered locally²⁵⁷, intraperitoneally,²⁵⁸ intravenously^{237, 259} into the renal artery enhances natriuresis (excretion of sodium into the urine) without changing glomerular filtration rate, renal blood flow or K⁺ secretion, hinting that the natriuretic effect of leptin is the result of tubular Na⁺ reabsorption inhibition. Tubular Na⁺ reabsorption is primarily regulated by Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase contained in the basolateral membranes of tubular cells.²⁶⁰ Locally²⁶¹ or Systemically^{258, 262} administered leptin leads to a dose- and time-dependent fall in Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity in the renal medulla. In agreement with the effect specific to the renal medulla is the exclusive localization of leptin receptors there, most likely in the medullary collecting duct.^{256, 263} Unlike Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase, leptin has no effect on two

associated enzymes: ouabain-sensitive H⁺,K⁺-ATPase that is found on the apical membranes and has roles in K⁺ reabsorption and urine acidification and ouabain-resistant Na⁺-ATPase, found only in the proximal tubule and responsible for reabsorption of approximately 10% of filtered Na⁺.^{262, 264}

2.4 Leptin and Its Interaction with Pancreatic Hormones

It is interesting to note that leptin did not modify glycated hemoglobin levels (a marker of elevated blood glucose) in clinical trials of individuals with type 1 diabetes,²⁰¹ a group who would be expended to have low or no exogenously produced insulin, and therefore little to no C-peptide. Moreover, evidence indicates that although type 2 diabetes is typically associated with obesity, metabolic syndrome and accompanied by elevated leptin levels and leptin resistance, studies have indicated that leptin therapy may be beneficial for promoting glucose homeostasis in combination with diet and exercise to promote weight loss.²⁶⁵⁻²⁷⁰ C-peptide has been shown to have a direct effect on blood flow in animal models of diabetes as well as in small scale human trials, suggesting it has a possible direct effect in the bloodstream. However, the discovery by the Spence lab in 2015 that C-peptide and Zn²⁺ delivery to the erythrocyte and subsequent downstream effects requires the presence of the albumin,¹⁴⁹ presents a problem for utilizing C-peptide as a diabetes therapeutic, where there are increased levels of glycated albumin which can less effectively act as a carrier molecule.^{150, 160, 271} The known role of leptin in glucose homeostasis,^{185, 272} and studies reporting that leptin has a relaxing effect on blood vessels that is mediated by NO release from the endothelium²³⁹ inspired the Spence

group to investigate of a potential role for leptin in C-peptide and Zn²⁺ associated erythrocyte-derived ATP release.

2.4.1 C-peptide and leptin Effect on Erythrocyte Cellular Activity

Preliminary studies demonstrated that static ATP release from erythrocytes was not increased when the cells were incubated with leptin alone, but when the cells were incubated with 3.8 nM leptin in the presence of 20 nM of Zn^{2+} and C-peptide, there was a 30% increase in chemiluminescence intensity corresponding to a 30% increase in ATP release. Incubation of leptin with either Zn^{2+} or C-peptide alone did not significantly increase ATP release. While the exact features of the interaction were not investigated, the preliminary evidence suggested a possible mechanism of leptin-mediated glucose clearance involving the erythrocyte and modulated by C-peptide and $Zn^{2+}.^{273}$

These studies were continued and confirmed that leptin amplifies the cellular energetic effects of C-peptide when in combination with C-peptide, Zn^{2+} and albumin.²⁷⁴ ATP release from erythrocytes in the presence of leptin, C-peptide and Zn^{2+} , and combinations were measured, while also monitoring GLUT1 translocation to the erythrocyte membrane (Figure 2.3).²⁷⁵ In the presence of C-peptide and Zn^{2+} , a 30% increase in erythrocyte-derived ATP was measured, and the signal was increased by another 20% when leptin was added. Importantly, leptin's effect on ATP release was enhanced in high glucose conditions (not shown), like those that would occur in the bloodstream of a patient with diabetes. It was found that in the presence of C-peptide and Zn^{2+} , leptin increases GLUT1 translocation by 20% as compared to control samples.²⁷⁴

Combined, these data suggest that levels of leptin in the bloodstream may correlate with glucose concentrations and the ability of erythrocytes to use glucose.



Figure 2.3: Leptin effect on C-peptide and Zn²⁺-related cellular activity of erythrocytes. Depicted in (a), ATP release from erythrocytes is enhanced in the presence of C-peptide and Zn²⁺, but only in buffer containing albumin. In (b), measured GLUT1 levels in erythrocyte membranes after incubation with C-peptide, Zn²⁺, leptin and their combinations with or without albumin are shown. In all data sets, black bars indicate albumin containing buffer, while grey bars indicate albumin free. For all samples, n = 5, while significance from the control is indicated by an * (p<0.001). Reproduced from Keshavarz et al., *Mol. Pharm.* **2021**, *18* (6), 2438-47.

2.4.2 Mechanistic Studies of Leptin's Effect on Erythrocytes

In initial studies, leptin's effect on C-peptide and Zn²⁺ binding to erythrocytes and

the interaction between leptin and erythrocytes was investigated. Zn²⁺ binding, or uptake,

was examined by incubating erythrocytes with combinations of ⁶⁵Zn²⁺, C-peptide and

leptin in albumin containing or albumin free PSS. Experiments were performed in
PSS with or without albumin to separate the effects of leptin from the known involvement of albumin in C-peptide's mechanism of action. Interaction of C-peptide and leptin with erythrocytes were examined by ELISA.²⁷⁴

2.4.2.1 Zn²⁺ Binding to Erythrocytes is Increased by Leptin

Binding of 20 nM $^{65}Zn^{2+}$ in the presence of 20 nM C-peptide and varying concentrations of leptin, with or without albumin was investigated. It was found that 2.6 ± 0.3 nM (p<0.4) of $^{65}Zn^{2+}$ is bound, or taken up by erythrocytes incubated with 20 nM $^{65}Zn^{2+}$ and 20 nM C-peptide in albumin-containing PSS,²⁷⁴ which was agreement with prior work.¹⁴⁹ This was increased to approximately 3.6 ± 0.6 nM (p<0.4) in the presence of 3.8 nM leptin,²⁷⁴ while $^{65}Zn^{2+}$ bound non-specifically, with or without leptin, in the absence of albumin. When the concentration of leptin was increased in increments ranging from 0.8 to 12 nM, $^{65}Zn^{2+}$ binding was observed to increase proportionally. $^{65}Zn^{2+}$ binding to erythrocytes was demonstrated to increase when leptin was added into the system with $^{65}Zn^{2+}$, C-peptide and albumin. When leptin levels were incrementally increased in the presence of erythrocytes incubated with $^{65}Zn^{2+}$ in albumin containing PSS, binding appeared to increase in a linear way, and did not reach a plateau as would be observed in a true saturation binding curve.²⁷⁴ For this reason, more studies are required to determine where leptin binding saturates under the experimental conditions.

2.4.2.2 C-peptide and leptin Binding to Erythrocytes

C-peptide and leptin binding to erythrocytes were also studied using ELISA. For C-peptide binding experiments, erythrocytes were incubated with Zn²⁺, C-peptide, leptin, and combinations in albumin-free or albumin-containing PSS. In addition, C-peptide binding to erythrocytes was investigated at varying concentrations of leptin (from 0.4 to 10 nM, corresponding to ranges for normal and obese leptin concentrations²⁷⁶) while Zn²⁺ and C-peptide levels were held constant (20 nM). For leptin binding experiments, varying amounts of leptin were added to samples to achieve final concentrations of 0-25 nM in a solution of 7% erythrocytes in albumin containing PSS. No Zn²⁺ or C-peptide were added to the samples. All samples were incubated at 37 °C for three hours, centrifuged at 500*g* for five minutes, and then supernatant was collected and used for the ELISA analysis of C-peptide or leptin content, respectively. Analyte^{k,} concentration bound to erythrocytes was determined by subtracting the amount measured in the supernatant from the initial amount added.²⁷⁴

For erythrocytes incubated with Zn²⁺ and C-peptide and albumin in the presence or absence of leptin, it was determined that C-peptide binding was increased in comparison to erythrocytes incubated with Zn²⁺, C-peptide and albumin alone. Although erythrocytes incubated with only Zn²⁺ and C-peptide showed no C-peptide binding, when leptin was added, even in the absence of albumin the erythrocytes could bind Cpeptide.²⁷⁴

^k Analyte – (chemistry) A substance whose chemical constituents are being identified and measured.

Although construction of binding curves was attempted for C-peptide and leptin binding to erythrocytes, the results were difficult to interpret due to errors of experimental design. It was thought that the apparent saturation points of C-peptide and leptin binding were due to samples being inappropriately diluted for the ELISA plate rather than a true saturation binding curve, since further unpublished experiments revealed that increasing the dilution of samples before ELISA analysis resulted in a straight line, indicating saturation of binding had not been reached.

In this dissertation, molecular interactions of leptin with C-peptide, Zn²⁺, albumin and erythrocytes are further characterized. In this effort, various experimental techniques have been utilized, including ELISA, radiolabeling with ^{99m}Tc, ultrafiltration binding analysis and surface plasmon resonance. The interaction of leptin with erythrocytes was further probed in the presence and absence of Zn²⁺, C-peptide and albumin utilizing ELISA analysis and radiolabeling with ^{99m}Tc-labeled leptin. 3D-printed ultrafiltration devices were created and used to investigate binding of C-peptide and leptin and confirm their interaction as well as determine a binding affinity constant using surface plasmon resonance (SPR). Lastly, investigations were initiated for C-peptide binding to erythrocytes in normal and high sugar conditions and in the presence of glycated albumin. These studies supplement the existing knowledge of the role of C-peptide and leptin in regulation of blood flow and will hopefully aid in the design of novel therapeutics for addressing the microvascular complications of diabetes.

Chapter 3 – Investigation of Leptin Binding to Erythrocytes

3.1 Drug-receptor Interaction (Theory)

Receptor theory is the use of receptor models to define drug behavior.²⁷⁷ Paul Ehrlich and John Newport Langley put forth the concept of a receptor that would assist drug action at the beginning of the 20th century, and Alfred Joseph Clark was the first to measure drug-induced biological responses. Essentially all quantitative theoretical modeling of receptor role, to the current date, has focused on G protein-coupled receptors and ligand-gated ion channels.²⁷⁸

The central ideas of receptor theory, which are generally attributed to Clark, are the following:

- Drugs interact with receptors in a reversible way to produce a change in the receptor.
- The relation may be modeled mathematically and adheres to the Law of Mass Action^{1,279}
- The binding of receptor and drug decides the quantitative connection involving dose and effect.

¹ Law of Mass Action – statement that the rate of any chemical reaction is related to the product of the masses of the reacting substance, with each mass raised to a power equivalent to the coefficient in the chemical equation.

- Shared affinity of receptors and drugs governs selectivity of drug effects.
- Mutually exclusive molecules in competition for the same receptors determines agonist, partial agonist and antagonist drug activity.^{280, 281}

The occupancy theory of drug-receptor interaction defines the numerical connection between drug concentrations and the responses that occur because of the interaction of those drugs with receptors, and also defines the behavior of agonists and antagonists.²⁸²

3.2 Ligand Binding Assays

Binding studies of pharmacological receptors aim to determine dependable approximations of the affinity of ligands to a receptor of notice together with associated errors and assess the mechanism of interaction of ligands with the receptor solely and in combination. Many stages are in the development of a binding assay: initial choices, establishment of assay conditions, validation, application to new ligands and quantitative analysis of the ensuing data to determine binding parameters for the ligands.²⁸³

3.2.1 Types of Binding Assays

Using radioligand binding as an illustration, three main types of receptor binding assays are possible: kinetic, competition/modulation and saturation. In a kinetic experiment, the binding of one or more concentrations of radioligand is quantified at an

incrementing succession of time points and afterwards analyzed to approximate the association (k_{on}) and dissociation rates (k_{off}). In modulation or competition experiments, the binding of one or more unchanging concentrations of a radioligand is quantified at equilibrium in the company of an incrementing succession of non-labelled compound, and the data is evaluated to decide the binding constant of the compound for the unliganded receptor as well as the cooperativity between the radioligand and compound for binding to the receptor. In saturation experiments, the binding of an accumulative series of concentrations of a radioligand L, is assessed at equilibrium and studied to decide its binding constant (affinity constant, K_a , or dissociation constant, K_d) and concentration of specific binding sites for radioligand (R_T); experimentally established R_T is typically described as B_{max} .²⁸³

3.2.2 Non-Specific Ligand Binding

In addition to binding to receptors of notice, ligands also bind to other sites. This binding to the receptor of interest is called specific binding, while binding to other sites is referred to as non-specific binding.^{284, 285} Although the molecular details are not clearly defined, non-specific binding depends on charge or hydrophobicity of the molecule and not its exact structure. Non-specific binding can represent binding to cellular receptors, transporters or proteins that are not of interest to the researcher. Non-specific binding can also be interaction of the ligand with the sample container (or, depending on experimental set up, the membranes or filters used to separate bound from free ligand).²⁸⁴

Typically, non-specific binding is proportional to the amount of radioligand added. That is, adding twice as much radioligand will result in twice as much non-specific binding. Therefore, non-specific binding must be accounted for in receptor binding studies. Nonspecific binding can be detected by measuring radioligand binding in the presence of a saturating amount of an unlabeled ligand/drug which binds to the receptors. In principle, virtually all the receptors of interest will be occupied by the unlabeled drug, so that any radioligand binding that is measured constitutes non-specific binding. In this way, specific binding can be determined by subtracting non-specific radioligand binding from the total ligand binding at that concentration.²⁸⁴

Determination of the specific unlabeled drug to be used to determine non-specific binding is also important. If no other drug/ligand is known to bind to the receptors (or the receptor of interest has not been identified), a logical answer is to use the same compound as the radioligand, but in its unlabeled form. In the majority of cases however, researchers try to avoid using the same compound and instead determine non-specific binding with a drug that is chemically different from the radioligand, but can bind to the same receptors.²⁸⁶ Enough concentration of unlabeled drug should be added to block effectively all the specific radioligand binding, but not so much that general physical changes occur to the membrane, which could alter binding. For a well-characterized receptor, it is generally acceptable to use a concentration of unlabeled compound that is equal to approximately 100x its K_d for the receptors.²⁸⁴

3.2.3 Evaluating Ligand Binding Data – Non-linear Regression

Before the advent of non-linear regression, researchers had to transfer curved binding data into straight lines to analyze by linear regression. A common way to do this is by using a Scatchard Plot. A Scatchard plot can be a useful way to display data to show a change in B_{max} or K_{d} . However, since linear transformation of the data distorts experimental error, the slope and intercept of a linear regression line should not be used to determine the values for B_{max} and K_{d} .²⁸⁶

There is more than one way to determine the B_{max} and K_d using nonlinear regression. The first method, and the method used in this research, is to subtract non-specific from total binding and analyze only the specific binding.²⁸⁴ Or, one can simply analyze the total binding, and determine the amount of nonspecific binding from the shape of the total binding curve.^{284, 285} But perhaps the best method, depending on the capabilities of available ligand binding analysis software, is to globally analyze total and non-specific binding at one time.²⁸⁴

3.3 Evaluating Leptin Binding to Erythrocytes by Enzyme Linked Immunosorbent Assay

Immunoassays are a frequently used analytical technique to quantitatively determine a wide range of analytes in medical, clinical, environmental, and biotechnological fields. The antibody molecule that recognizes the matching antigen (analyte), offers a high specificity of analysis. Immunoassays are useful in terms of sensitivity, selectivity, speed and cost effectiveness.^{287, 288} The ELISA, depicted in Figure

3.1²⁸⁹ in particular, is exceptional to other types of immunoassays in terms of kinetics, sensitivity and selectively. These benefits originate from selective antibody-antigen reactions, employment of surplus capture antibody and enzyme-antibody conjugate and chemical-augmentation with enzyme-conjugates that enable detection of exceedingly low (0.01 pg mL⁻¹ to 100 ng mL⁻¹)²⁹⁰ analyte concentrations.²⁹¹⁻²⁹³ However, the ELISA is a multistep, labor-intensive procedure that entails long incubation periods and many incubation steps and washes.²⁹⁴



Figure 3.1: General schematic for a human leptin ELISA kit. The wells of a 96 well strip-plate are precoated with a leptin-specific antibody (capture antibody). The detection antibody is a leptin-specific biotinylated antibody. To measure human leptin, standards and samples are added to wells, then biotinylated detection antibody is added. The wells are washed with PBS, and then avidin-biotinperoxidase complex (ABC-HRP) is added. Unbound ABC-HRP is washed away with PBS, and 3,3',5,5'-tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) color developing reagent is added. As a HRP substrate, the TMB is catalyzed to produce a blue color product, which changes to yellow after adding acidic stop solution. Boster Bio. Human Leptin ELISA Kit PicoKine. https://www.bosterbio.com/human-leptinpicokine-trade-elisa-kit-ek0437-boster.html (accessed July 20, 2021). Leptin ELISA was initially used to evaluate leptin binding to erythrocytes and how it is influenced by C-peptide. That is, erythrocytes were incubated with leptin with or without C-peptide at 37 °C for a defined increment of time, centrifuged, followed by determination of leptin content remaining in the supernatant via leptin ELISA.

In the principle of the ELISA assay, the absorbance of the product (which in this case is yellow, as in Figure 3.1 and absorbing at 450 nM) is linearly proportional to the amount of analyte (in this case, human leptin) in the sample. When the absorbance of the yellow product in each well is read with a spectrophotometer, the sample readings can be benchmarked against a standard curve to determine the concentration of human leptin in the sample.²⁸⁹

However, the instrument response has a limited dynamic range, determined by many factors (i.e. signal-to-noise ratio, compound chemistry, instrument sensitivity, optical path length, specificity of optical filters, etc.).²⁹⁵ This linear range is typically known or must otherwise be determined in advance of running the experiment. Thus, one noteworthy challenge of using an ELISA kit to quantify analyte concentration is appropriately diluting samples so that the analyte concentration falls within the target range. If samples are too concentrated, one may simply be measuring saturation of the ELISA kit wells rather than saturation of analyte binding to the target. If samples are too dilute, the absorbance signal from the analyte may be indistinguishable from background.

Although the experimental procedure for leptin was optimized so that samples were appropriately diluted for data collection, difficulties remained in quantitation of analyte concentration. Specifically, the concentration of leptin measured in the supernatant was often higher than the amount of leptin initially added to samples.

Although the cause of this error was not definitively determined, it was hypothesized that it may have been the result of the leptin ELISA being an indirect method of measurement. That is, the amount of analyte bound to cells was determined by measuring analyte in the supernatant from the cells, and then subtracting this value from the known amount of leptin originally added. However, because the ELISA depends on color change for detection, it was not possible to measure leptin binding to erythrocytes directly by this method. For this reason, an alternative, direct method was used to evaluate leptin interaction with erythrocytes and C-peptide, using leptin labeled with technetium-99m (^{99m}Tc).

3.4 Radiolabeling with ^{99m}Tc for Direct Binding Analysis of 99mTc-C-peptide and leptin to Erythrocytes

The vast use of ^{99m}Tc for medical imaging applications because of its favorable cost, physical properties and availability ignited interest in the development of ^{99m}Tc protein conjugates.²⁹⁶ High specific activity ^{99m}Tc labeling can be accomplished using bifunctional coupling agents, and the most commonly used is 6-hydrazinonicotinic acid (HYNIC).²⁹⁷ Schwartz et al. were the first to report preparation of hydrazine-modified proteins and their use for synthesis of ^{99m}Tc-protein conjugates.²⁹⁶ Subsequently, the same research group reported on the use of the ^{99m}Tc-tricine precursor complex for radiolabeling HYNIC protein conjugates. The development of the ^{99m}Tc-tricine precursor further improved the efficiency of this labeling technique. Using this refined procedure, proteins are labeled on primary amino groups with the N-hydroxysuccinimide ester of

HYNIC (succinimidyl 6-hydrazinonicotinate hydrochloride).²⁹⁸ The resulting HYNIC derivative can then be labeled with ^{99m}Tc to produce ^{99m}Tc-labeled proteins in high yield.^{296, 298} Tin is used to reduce the ^{99m}TcO₄⁻, while tricine serves as the coligand reagent to create a stable chelation complex with HYNIC.²⁹⁸ Although the exact structure of Tc-99m-HYNIC-co-ligand complexes remain uncertain, liquid chromatography mass spectrometry (LC-MS) and stability studies have revealed insights (Figure 3.2).²⁹⁹



Figure 3.2: Possible structures of ^{99m}Tc-HYNIC-peptide complexes showing (a) monodentate (attached to the central atom of a coordination complex by one bond) and (b) bidendate (attached by two bonds) binding of HYNIC to technetium. Adapted from King et al., *Dalton. Trans.* **2007**, *43*, 4998-5007.

3.5 Experimental Methods

3.5.1 Preparation of Lyophilized HYNIC reagent

1.2 mg of HYNIC (given by Dr. Gary Bridger, AnorMED, Inc., Langley, British Columbia, Canada) was diluted in 1 mL of dimethylformamide (DMF; Acros Organics, Geel, Belgium). For leptin-HYNIC kits, 9.9 µL of formulated solution was used (for a 3:5 ratio of HYNIC: leptin). The solution was relocated via pipet into a 5 mL lyophilization vial (Wheaton, Millville, NJ), and the septum (Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA) was lightly positioned on top. The vials were moved to a freeze-dryer (VirTis AdVantage, Gardiner, NY) that was precooled to -80 °C. The vacuum (Leybold, Cologne, Germany) was selected for 10 seconds and then freeze was set for 45 minutes. Following, the condenser was turned on, and after reaching -90 °C, the freezer was turned off and the vacuum was turned on. The heat was put to -70 °C, the vials were left overnight, and the next morning, the heat was set to 10 °C for 1 hour. Next, an air pump (Craftsman; Stanley Black and Decker, New Britain, CT) was connected to the freeze dryer, and the air valve was opened. To assist closure of the septa on the vials, the stopper of the freeze-dryer was engaged three times. Finally, caps were screwed onto the vials, and they were kept at -20 °C until needed.

3.5.2 Preparation of Lyophilized Tin Tricine Reagent

Using a procedure adapted from the Tait research laboratory at the University of Washington,³⁰⁰ 3.6 g of tricine (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) were put in a beaker with 98 mL of 18.2 M Ω , double deionized water (DDW). The pH was adjusted to 7.1 with dropwise supplementation of 5 M NaOH while stirring. The solution was moved to a vacuum flask before degassing the solution using a sonicator (Branson, Danbury, CT) and vacuum. Next, 80 mg of SnCl₂ (Acros Organics) were added to 1.7 mL of 100% ethanol (Decon Labs, Inc., King of Prussia, PA). When the tricine was totally degassed, 100 μ L of SnCl₂ solution were added to the tricine and mixed. 1 mL portions of the solution were pipetted into 5 mL lyophilization vials (Wheaton). The freeze-drying method outlined in section 3.4.1 was used to lyophilize the tin tricine reagent, allowing preparation of a maximum of 30 vials per batch.

3.5.3 Preparation of C-peptide

Crude C-peptide (85% pure; Peptide 2.0, Chantilly, VA) was purified by reversephase high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC; Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan) utilizing an Atlantis T3 OBD Prep Column (10 mm x 150 mm; Waters, Milford, MA) for separation. HPLC parameters are shown in Table 3.1. The purified C-peptide was lyophilized overnight (Labconco Corporation, Kansas City, MO) and then characterized using mass spectrometry (Waters, MA). Lyophilized C-peptide was stored at -20 °C. To use in experiments, a small amount of the lyophilized C-peptide (~0.2-0.3 mg) was resuspended in DDW, and its concentration deduced using a C-peptide ELISA kit (ALPCO Salem, NH). Subsequently, the C-peptide was diluted and kept as 8 μ M aliquots in DDW at 4 °C, with final dilution to 800 nM in DDW immediately before use.

Table 3.1 C-peptide purification by HPLC gradient method. Solvent A: 0.1% HPLC-grade trifluoroacetic acid (TFA; EMD Millipore, Burlington, MA) in HPLC-grade water (Sigma Aldrich). Solvent B: 0.089% TFA/60% HPLC-grade acetonitrile (Sigma Aldrich) in HPLC-grade water.

Time (min)	Flow Rate (mL/min)	% Solvent A	% Solvent B
5	5	100	0
40	5	40	60
50	5	0	100
60	5	stop	stop

3.5.4 Preparation of Zn²⁺

ZnCl₂ (Columbus Chemical Industries, Inc., Columbus, WI) was used for the Zn²⁺ source. Zn²⁺ was prepared as a 1.5 mM solution, then diluted and maintained as an 80 μ M solution in DDW, with dilution to 800 nM in DDW immediately prior to use.

3.5.5 Preparation of ^{99m}Tc-leptin

Recombinant human leptin (R&D systems, Minneapolis, MN) was used as the leptin source in radiolabeling experiments. For this purpose, a 5 mg vial of lyophilized

leptin, which was stored at -20 °C upon receipt from manufacturer, was resuspended to around 5 mg/mL in 1-3 mL of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), relocated to a 10 kDa molecular weight cut-off (MWCO) dialysis cassette (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL), and exchanged in PBS overnight at 4 °C (this was done to remove TRIS present from manufacture, that having a free amine group, could compete for binding to HYNIC in the protein labeling procedure). The PBS contained in mM, 1.8 KH₂PO₄ (Sigma Aldrich), 137 NaCl (Sigma Aldrich), 2.7 KCl (Thermo Fisher) and 10 Na₂HPO₄ (Sigma Aldrich) in DDW at pH 7.4. The concentration of leptin after dialysis, typically between 200-400 μM, was quantitated using a Human Leptin ELISA Kit (Picokine, Boster Biological Technology, Pleasanton, CA). The leptin was kept in aliguots of 200 μL at -20 °C.

^{99m}Tc radiolabeling was accomplished by conjugation with HYNIC. HYNIC was coupled to leptin by incubating for one hour in the dark, one of the 200 μL exchanged leptin aliquots in PBS with 37.5 μmol of lyophilized HYNIC, from a kit that was prepared beforehand as described in section 3.4.1, in 600 μL of Na₂PO₄ buffer (0.15 M, pH 7.8). After, the mixture was dialyzed overnight in a 10 kDa MWCO cassette (Thermo Scientific) at 4 °C in PBS to separate unconjugated, free HYNIC.

After dialysis, around 50 mCi of pertechnetate (^{99m}TcO₄⁻; Cardinal Health, Swartz Creek, MI) in 0.3-0.5 mL of saline were chelated to the leptin-HYNIC conjugate. By a previously described method, tricine was utilized as the transchelator.²⁹⁸ To start, all of the pertechnetate was added to a lyophilized tin tricine reagent 'kit' containing 0.2 mmol of tricine and 0.567 µmol of SnCl₂·2H₂O (previously prepared as described in section 3.4.2) and incubated for 15 min to reduce ^{99m}Tc. Next, 100-250 µL of the tricine-^{99m}Tc chelation complex were added to the leptin-HYNIC conjugate, which had exchanged in

PBS overnight. The mixture was allowed to incubate for 30 minutes before purification with a 10 mL, 6 kDa MWCO polyacrylamide desalting column (Thermo Scientific).

Radiochemical purity of the fractions containing radiolabeled leptin was checked by thin-layer chromatography (TLC)³⁰¹ using Tec-Control Chromatography Strips (Biodex, Shirley, NY). ^{99m}Tc-leptin (2-5 µL) was dotted onto the origin line of two separate chromatography strips and eluted with PBS or methyl ethyl ketone (MEK; Acros Organics). Subsequently, the strips were cut in half, placed into exclusive microcentrifuge tubes (VWR, Radnor, PA) and counted in a 2480 WIZARD² automatic gamma counter (Perkin Elmer, Inc., Waltham, MA). The idea of the TLC assay was that radiolabeled leptin would not move, or move only marginally, on the strips while using PBS for elution, in this way separating the labeled leptin from free ^{99m}Tc (either as ^{99m}Tc-tricine complex or pertechnetate). Using MEK for elution, only pertechnetate should move along the strips. The percentage of unconjugated ^{99m}Tc could be determined for the fraction(s) by dividing the counts at the top of the strip by the total counts. After purity of the fraction(s) was confirmed by TLC, the Lowry assay for protein concentration was carried out against known concentrations of unlabeled leptin standards (from stored 200 µL aliguots in PBS). This step allowed forthcoming association of protein concentration with gamma emission from the labeled leptin.

3.5.6 Isolation and Purification of Erythrocytes

All methods for obtaining whole blood were approved by the Human Investigation Committee Branch of the Institutional Review Board of Michigan State University. Whole

blood was acquired by venipuncture from healthy, consenting human donors and drawn into vacutainer heparinized (Fisher Scientific) or citrated tubes (Franklin Lakes, NJ). Following, the blood was centrifuged at 500*g* for 10 minutes. After removal of the buffy coat and plasma, the left-over erythrocytes were rinsed by resuspending in physiological saline solution (PSS) or an albumin free version of this solution (AF-PSS). The PSS contained, in mM, 2.0 CaCl₂ (Thermo Fisher), 140.5 NaCl, 4.7 KCl, 12 MgSO₄ (Thermo Fisher), 21.0 tris[hydroxymethyl]aminomethane (Invitrogen, Waltham, MA), 5.5 dextrose and 0.5% bovine serum albumin (BSA, Sigma Aldrich) in deionized and distilled water (DDW, 18.2MΩ) at pH 7.4 (BSA not included for AF-PSS). After at least three washings of the erythrocytes with the correct form of PSS, the final hematocrit of the erythrocytes (normally around 70%) was evaluated using a StatSpin MP microhematocrit centrifuge (Beckman Coulter, Brea, CA) and StatSpin CritSpin digital hematocrit reader (Beckman Coulter).

3.5.7 Standard and Sample Preparation for Radiolabeling Experiments

Saturation binding experiments were performed to determine the amount of specific binding of ^{99m}Tc-leptin to erythrocytes. ^{99m}Tc-leptin standards were prepared in AF-PSS using the purified ^{99m}Tc-leptin stock described above (as ^{99m}Tc-leptin concentration remaining on erythrocytes after several wash steps was dramatically reduced, following initial experiments standards were adjusted from 0-1000 nM to a more appropriate range of 0-200 nM). All samples (for total and non-specific binding analysis) were prepared by first adding either adding 25 µL of 800 nM C-peptide (which resulted in

a concentration of 20 nM in 1 mL final sample volume, or 20 pmol per sample) or 25 µL of DDW (to later determine ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding without C-peptide) to 1.7 mL microcentrifuge tubes. Next, for total binding samples, AF-PSS was added to 1.7 mL tubes followed by addition of the relevant volume of ^{99m}Tc-leptin in AF-PSS (between 0-500 µL) to reach the intended final concentration of leptin in the sample solution (0-1000 nM). Samples for analysis of non-specific ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding were prepared in a similar manner to those for total binding, only that a surplus of unlabeled leptin or BSA was added to the samples prior to incubation. For samples using unlabeled leptin as the ligand to determine non-specific binding, unlabeled recombinant human leptin (R&D systems), which had been dialyzed in PBS and concentration verified using leptin ELISA, (Boster Bio) was added to AF-PSS before (so that each 1 mL sample contained 10 µM, or 10 nmol of unlabeled leptin) prior to addition of erythrocytes washed in AF-PSS. For samples using BSA as the ligand to determine non-specific binding, PSS (containing 75 µM BSA) was used as the sample buffer instead of AF-PSS. Erythrocytes were also washed in PSS. The result was that each sample contained around 60 µM in 1 mL volume, or 60 nmol of BSA. Finally, for all samples, erythrocytes that had been washed in the designated sample buffer were added in a volume to attain a 7% solution in 1 mL total volume.

Standards and samples were incubated at 37 °C for two hours with intermittent inverting. After, samples were washed and centrifuged at 750*g* for one minute, with following removal of the supernatant from the erythrocytes and replacement with AF-PSS. After five of these wash steps, gamma radiation emission from the radiolabel was

evaluated using a gamma counter. The amount of label bound to each erythrocyte was analyzed using a standard curve generated with ^{99m}Tc-leptin standards.

For samples used to examine total leptin binding *only*, at lower, physiologic concentrations, the experimental setup was as described above except that no samples were prepared with excess ligand to block non-specific binding. Also, although the data is not shown, for samples containing lower concentrations of ^{99m}Tc-leptin (0-5 nM), gamma radiation emission was evaluated and recorded after each wash step to ensure that the signal recorded at the final (fifth) wash step was not below the detection limit of the instrument.

3.6 Results

The first experiments performed to examine ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding to erythrocytes were used to construct a saturation binding curve in the absence of C-peptide. To construct the binding curve shown in Figure 3.3 (a), various concentrations of ^{99m}Tc-leptin were incubated with erythrocytes, both alone (shaded circles), and in the presence of an excess, or saturating amount of unlabeled leptin (open circles). By analyzing ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding in the presence of excess unlabeled leptin, the amount of non-specific binding was experimentally measured, and specific binding was determined as the difference between total and non-specific binding (Figure 3.3 (b)).



Figure 3.3: ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding to erythrocytes in the absence of C-peptide. In (a), experimentally determined total ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding (closed circles) and non-specific ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding (open circles) are displayed [^{99m}Tc-leptin] = 0-1000 nM, 7% erythrocytes. n = 3, error = sd. In (b) specifically bound ^{99m}Tc-leptin was determined and analyzed using non-linear regression software (SigmaPlot 13.0), assuming a one-site binding model. ($K_d = (1.69 \pm 0.24) \times 10^{-7}$ M, B_{max} = (1.05 ±0.04) x 10⁻⁷ M (goodness-of-fit (R²) = 0.9896).

After saturation binding experiments were performed in the absence of C-peptide, the next step was to conduct the same experiments with the addition of 20 nM C-peptide to samples (Figure 3.4).



Figure 3.4: ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding to erythrocytes in the presence of C-peptide. In (a), experimentally determined total ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding (closed circles) and non-specific ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding (open circles) are displayed. [^{99m}Tc-leptin] = 0-1000 nM, [C-peptide] = 20 nM, 7% erythrocytes. n = 3, error = sd. In (b) specifically bound ^{99m}Tc-leptin was determined and analyzed using non-linear regression software (SigmaPlot 13.0), assuming a one-site binding model. ($K_d = (1.86 \pm 0.29) \times 10^{-7}$ M, B_{max} = (1.08 ±0.05) x 10⁻⁷ M (goodness-of-fit (R²) = 0.9884).

In Figure 3.5, comparison of specific binding of ^{99m}Tc-leptin in the presence or absence of C-peptide, as determined using leptin as the unlabeled ligand, is shown.



Figure 3.5: Specific binding of ^{99m}Tc-leptin to erythrocytes in the absence (closed circles) or presence (open circles) of 20 nM C-peptide, using unlabeled leptin to determine non-specific binding. [^{99m}Tc-leptin] = 0-1000 nM, [C-peptide] =0 or 20 nM, 7% erythrocytes. n = 3, error = sd.

After specific binding of leptin in a saturating concentration of unlabeled leptin in the presence or absence of C-peptide was evaluated, the effect of different concentrations of C-peptide in the sample buffer on total ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding to erythrocytes was examined, as displayed in Figure 3.6. Concurrent radiolabeling work by another Spence group member indicated that saturation of C-peptide binding to the erythrocyte may occur near 100 nM, as opposed to 20 nM, as had previously been determined in the Spence group. Therefore, the effect of additions of much higher levels of C-peptide was investigated by adding concentrations of unlabeled C-peptide between 0-1000 nM.



Figure 3.6: Total ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding to erythrocytes in the presence of increasing amounts of C-peptide. [^{99m}Tc-leptin] = 100 nM, [C-peptide] = 0-1000 nM, 7% erythrocytes, n = 3, error = sd.

Next, in Figure 3.7, the effect of C-peptide on ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding at physiologically relevant concentrations of C-peptide and leptin is shown.



Figure 3.7: Analysis of the effect of C-peptide on total ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding to erythrocytes at physiologically relevant levels. Physiological concentrations of leptin (0-5 nM) were added to erythrocyte samples containing either 0 nM (white), 0.6 nM (light grey) or 20 nM (dark grey) C-peptide. After several wash steps, ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding to erythrocytes was radiometrically determined. 7% erythrocytes, n = 3, error = sd.

Although Zn²⁺ is not involved in binding of the C-peptide/carrier protein complex to the erythrocyte, because Zn²⁺is necessary for C-peptide-related erythrocyte derived ATP and downstream NO release, the effect of Zn²⁺ on ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding, in the presence of C-peptide was examined, as shown in Figure 3.8. A literature search revealed an average physiological serum leptin level of approximately 0.5 nM, with upper values approaching 5 nM, so labeled leptin concentrations were prepared in these regions.²⁷⁶ Because previous experiments in the Spence lab have revealed a saturating concentration of C-peptide to erythrocytes of approximately 20 nM, but average serum C-peptide levels are near ~0.6 nM,³⁰² both of these concentrations were evaluated. For Zn^{2+} concentrations, an amount was added that was equimolar to the C-peptide saturating concentration, as well as a value near the average physiological serum level, of approximately 10 μ M.³⁰³



Figure 3.8: Analysis of the effect of Zn²⁺ in the presence of C-peptide on ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding to erythrocytes at physiologically relevant levels. Physiological concentrations of leptin (ranging from 0-5 nM) were added to erythrocyte samples containing 20 nM C-peptide and either 0 nM (white), 20 nM (light grey) or 10 μ M (dark grey) Zn²⁺. After several wash steps, ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding to erythrocytes was radiometrically determined. 7% erythrocytes, *n* = 3, error = sd.

In the following experiments, shown in Figure 3.9, to increase the number of replicates, ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding to erythrocytes for single, physiologically relevant concentrations of ^{99m}Tc-C-peptide and leptin were evaluated, focusing on the average

serum leptin level of approximately 0.5 nM with a saturating concentration of C-peptide of 20 nM. Without C-peptide, after several wash steps, 0.13 ± 0.04 nM ^{99m}Tc-leptin bound to the erythrocytes, with C-peptide, a minor increase was observed of 0.14 ± 0.06 nM.



Figure 3.9: Comparison of total ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding to erythrocytes without (plain bar) or with C-peptide (light grey bar). A single concentration of ^{99m}Tc-leptin (0.5 nM, representing the average serum leptin level under normal physiological conditions) was chosen to the effect of a saturating concentration of C-peptide (20 nM) on leptin binding to erythrocytes.7% erythrocytes, n = 3 (3 biological replicates, 11 technical replicates), error = sd.

Next experiments evaluated binding constants for specific ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding to erythrocytes in the absence or presence of C-peptide, using BSA as the agent to determine non-specific binding (as opposed to unlabeled leptin). First, as shown in Figure 3.10, specific binding of leptin to erythrocytes was evaluated in the absence of C-peptide.



Figure 3.10: ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding to erythrocytes in the absence of C-peptide. In (a), experimentally determined total ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding (closed circles) and non-specific ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding (open circles) are displayed. [^{99m}Tc-leptin] = 0-1000 nM, 7% erythrocytes. n = 3, error = sd. In (b) specifically bound ^{99m}Tc-leptin was determined and analyzed using non-linear regression software (SigmaPlot 13.0), assuming a one-site binding model. ($K_d = (1.51 \pm 0.28) \times 10^{-7}$ M, $B_{max} = (1.05 \pm 0.06) \times 10^{-7}$ M (goodness-of-fit (R^2) = 0.9840).

Next, as shown in Figure 3.11, specific binding of ^{99m}Tc-leptin, again using BSA to determine non-specific binding, was evaluated in the presence of C-peptide.

200 ^{99m}Tc-leptin Bound (nM) 150 100 50 Ā ₫ Q 0 0 200 400 600 800 1000 ^{99m}Tc-leptin Added (nM) (b) 160 140 ^{39m}Tc-leptin Bound (nM) 120 100 1.4 Scatchard 1.2 80 Bound/Free 1.0 0.8 60 0.6 0.4 40 0.2 0.0 20 40 60 80 100 120 20 0 Bound (nM) 0 0 200 400 1000 600 800 ^{99m}Tc-leptin Added (nM)

Figure 3.11: ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding to erythrocytes in the presence of C-peptide. In (a), experimentally determined total ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding (closed circles) and non-specific ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding (open circles) are displayed. [99mTc-leptin] = 0-1000 nM, [C-peptide] = 20 nM, 7% erythrocytes. n = 3, error = sd. In (b) specifically bound ^{99m}Tc-leptin was determined and analyzed using non-linear regression software (SigmaPlot 13.0), assuming a one-site binding model. ($K_d = (2.01 \pm 0.23) \times 10^{-7}$ M, B_{max} = (1.46 ±0.06) x 10⁻⁷ M (goodness-of-fit (R²) = 0.9940).

(a)

Finally, a comparison between specific ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding, as determined by using BSA as the ligand to determine non-specific binding, in the presence or absence of C-peptide, is shown in Figure 3.12.



Figure 3.12: Specific binding of ^{99m}Tc-leptin to erythrocytes in the absence (closed circles) or presence (open circles) of 20 nM C-peptide, using unlabeled albumin to determine non-specific binding. [^{99m}Tc-leptin] = 0-1000 nM, [C-peptide] =0 or 20 nM, 7% erythrocytes. n = 3, error = sd.

3.7 Discussion

Leptin has long been known to be implicated in energy balance in vivo,^{170, 173, 175} particularly in terms of the control of appetite and obesity.^{177, 178} Also, leptin has been implicated as having a role in blood flow properties.^{235, 238, 253} Related reports imply that this adipocyte-derived cytokine hormone interacts with components of the bloodstream. In agreement, previous work utilizing a fluorescence isothiocyanate (FITC)-labeled form of leptin reported binding to erythrocytes in a specific and saturable way.³⁰⁴ Here, it is reported that leptin delivers a pancreatic hormone to the erythrocyte, a delivery that may be hindered or negatively affected by the FITC label (Figure 3.13)³⁰⁵⁻³⁰⁸ itself, so a ^{99m}Tc label was used. Of note, the binding data that was obtained using the ^{99m}Tc-labeled leptin was comparable to results in the literature using the FITC label,³⁰⁴ verifying that leptin has a specific and saturable binding site on the erythrocyte membrane. Importantly, the results provide evidence that the FITC label did not interfere with leptin binding to the erythrocyte in a previous report.³⁰⁴



Figure 3.13: Isomers of fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC), a derivative of fluorescein used in many applications such as flow cytometry. FITC is reactive toward nucleophiles, amine, and sulfhydryl groups on proteins.

Here, several aspects of ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding to erythrocytes were examined to discern any influence from C-peptide and investigate the possibility of a receptor binding complex. Saturation binding experiments were performed, in which a B_{max} and K_d for leptin binding to erythrocytes were determined in the presence and absence of C-peptide, using two different ligands to determine non-specific binding: leptin and BSA. Leptin was chosen because the receptor of interest on the erythrocyte is not definitively known, and BSA was chosen because it is a common agent used for blocking, and it is know from prior work¹⁴⁹ that it has an important relationship to C-peptide.

While there was not a statistically significant difference in K_{d} , it is noteworthy that in both instances, whether blocking with leptin or BSA, there was an increase in the amount of leptin binding to erythrocytes in the presence of C-peptide, as indicated by a higher B_{max} value. This may be indicative of a separate binding complex for a leptin/C-peptide complex vs. leptin alone. Moreover, it is notable that there is a much more striking difference in leptin binding in the presence or absence of C-peptide when non-specific binding was determined using BSA. The reason for this is not known and warrants investigation in future studies.

Because the increase in binding in the presence of C-peptide that was observed when using leptin as the ligand to determine non-specific binding was very minor, it was necessary to determine if a statistically significant difference in leptin binding was simply being overlooked due to the high levels of leptin needed to achieve saturation. To evaluate this idea, samples were prepared with concentrations of ^{99m}Tc-leptin, C-peptide and Zn²⁺ at closer to their respective physiological values (because these experiments examined total binding, the choice of blocking ligand was not relevant).

While a statistically significant difference in binding at physiologically relevant levels was not observed, it is interesting to note that for Figure 3.7, for each concentration analyzed for each biological replicate, there was a subtle increase in binding in the presence of C-peptide. In agreement with prior work from the Spence group, this trend was not observed in figure 3.8, which analyzed the effect of Zn²⁺. For these reasons, the experiment was repeated, dialing in on a single concentration of C-peptide and leptin (Figure 3.9) in order simplify the experimental procedure (thus minimizing the potential for error) and shorten time to results. The original intent in collecting data for Figure 3.9, was to increase the number of biological replicates examined. However, this was not feasible due to time constraints and availability of donors. Therefore, it was decided to instead increase the number of technical replicates (typical experiments where several concentrations were prepared only used one technical replicate each, however, by focusing on a single concentration, this number was increased to 11). Although a statistically significant difference in binding was still not observed, perhaps a change in experimental design in future experiments to increase the number of biological replicates per study would aid in proper analysis.

Clark's occupancy theory (1934) describes the relationship between dose and response as a linear fashion, assuming that the maximal response to the drug is equivalent to the maximal tissue response.²⁸¹ While this theory is most suitable to describe the behavior of full agonists, there have been many divergent evolutionary steps in the development of occupancy theory, which have changed the concept to account for differences between the model and the observed results of experiments. In 1956, Stephenson proposed that other possibilities than the one assumed by Clark for the

relationship between the proportion of receptors occupied and the response should be considered.³⁰⁹ Stephenson broadened the application of receptor theory to include the following hypotheses:

- The largest effect can be produced by an agonist while occupying only a small share of the receptors.
- Response Is not necessarily linearly proportional to the occupied number of receptors.
- Different drugs may have different abilities to start a response and for this reason occupy different portions of the receptors while creating equal responses (i.e., drug efficacy).³⁰⁹

Stephenson's hypotheses may be relevant to the nature of Zn²⁺/C-peptide/leptin binding to an erythrocyte receptor and the associated cellular response. Namely, a large change in binding or binding affinity may not be necessary to produce the observed biological effects (i.e., erythrocyte-derived ATP release and GLUT1 translocation). Thus, it may be that a minor change in binding affinity, when amplified through a downstream pathway, can lead to a substantial, observable biological effect. Moreover, if a leptin/Cpeptide complex can bind a different receptor than leptin alone, binding affinity would not be directly comparable. Also, receptor binding can be associated with promotion, inhibition, or simply no change in biological activity.

While presenting data on analysis ^{99m}Tc-leptin binding to erythrocytes in the presence of C-peptide, a question that was often posed was whether the interaction of

leptin with C-peptide had been examined. This strongly guided next step experiments, where binding interactions between C-peptide and leptin were analyzed using two different experimental techniques, namely, ultrafiltration and surface plasmon resonance, which will be discussed in the next chapter.

Chapter 4: Binding Analysis of C-peptide and Leptin

4.1 Introduction

Many analytical techniques have been developed for measuring the binding affinity of a ligand to a protein, such as ITC, SPR,^{310, 311} mass spectrometry,³¹² equilibrium dialysis,³¹¹ ultrafiltration,³¹³ ultracentrifugation³¹⁴ and ultrafast affinity extraction chromatography.^{315, 316} Each has benefits and drawbacks, and the user must decide which is most practical and appropriate for their needs.

Early Spence group published data examining the interaction between C-peptide, Zn²⁺ and albumin utilized ITC.¹⁴⁹ However, the ongoing use of this technique for experiments was not feasible due to lack of access to an ITC instrument on campus that was readily accessible and in commission. Purchasing an ITC instrument was not a realistic option due to their expense. Furthermore, the necessity of experiments to be performed under near physiological conditions (temperature, concentration range, competitive binding, etc.) would be difficult to replicate for ITC analysis.³¹⁷ For these reasons, the Spence lab moved away from using ITC for these types of experiments and instead utilized equilibrium dialysis, which is a traditional binding analysis technique that could be performed within the Spence lab and did not require outside equipment. Furthermore, use of 3D-printing equipment in the Spence lab allowed for customization of devices to perform measurements.³¹⁸

Equilibrium dialysis is an uncomplicated technique that can be used to analyze binding affinity between a protein and ligand. It enables for reproducible, accurate, and
cost-effective analysis of binding constants, and can be carried out when a ligand and protein of relevance (analyte) have a great enough difference in molecular weight (a minimum of 5-fold difference).³¹⁹⁻³²¹



Figure 4.1: Illustration of the principle of equilibrium dialysis. Part (a) depicts a protein and ligand that do not bind. The ligand is free to cross the membrane, and at equilibrium, the concentration of ligand in the assay chamber is exactly half of what was placed in the initial sample chamber. Part (b) depicts and protein and ligand that bind to form a complex. In this situation, bound ligand is unable to diffuse across the membrane and will remain in the sample chamber. Free ligand concentration will still be equal on either side of the membrane upon reaching equilibrium. The final concentration of ligand concentration in the assay chamber will be equal to the total amount of ligand added minus the total amount of ligand bound divided by two. Adapted from https://www.harvardapparatus.com/overview-equilibrium-dialysis.

As shown in Figure 4.1, in an equilibrium dialysis experiment, a ligand and protein are placed in a solution within in a sample compartment on one side of a permeable membrane containing just buffer solution on the other side. The membrane has pores big enough to allow the ligand to diffuse through, but small enough to hold the protein and any created ligand-protein complex in the sample compartment. After many hours of incubation on a shaker, the amount of free ligand is equal on either side of the membrane.³²² At this point, the concentration of ligand-protein complex may be determined using these equations:

Equation 4.1:	[Bound Ligand] =	<u>Total Ligand (Moles) – Free Ligand (Moles)</u> Volume in Sample Compartment
Equation 4.2:	% Protein Bound =	Bound Ligand (Moles) * 100 Total Ligand (Moles)
Equation 4.3:	K _a =	[Bound Ligand] [Free Ligand] ([Total Receptor] – [Bound Ligand]

If sought, this information can be used to determine a single-point affinity constant, create a Hill plot, Scatchard plot or saturation binding curve to assess the characteristics of the binding interaction.³²² Despite its simplicity, a drawback of equilibrium dialysis is the necessity of long incubation time for free ligand to reach equilibrium concentration on both sides of the membrane, may take anywhere from 6-24 hours.³²³ If the system is not allowed to establish equilibrium, as a consequence, concentration of the free ligand will not reach equilibrium concentrations in the sample and buffer compartment, with the result of deceivingly low estimates of free ligand and K_d (falsely implying a strong binding affinity).³²⁴

Due to these limitations, the Spence group ultimately developed an ultrafiltration system to perform binding affinity measurements. Ultrafiltration takes advantage of pressure to push solution and low molecular weight compounds across a size-exclusion

membrane while holding high molecular weight compounds. The technique necessitates a small volume of sample to be separated from the main solution for analysis, because if the volume is kept low (less than 10% of total sample volume), the equilibrium binding of the system is not affected because there is only a small change to the protein concentration. If this condition holds true, the concentration of ligand in the ultrafiltrate is equal to the concentration of free ligand in the greater part of the sample.^{313, 325, 326} Although ultrafiltration devices are commercially available, in order to increase cost effectiveness and allow greater control over factors such as freedom from contaminants and choice of membrane size, the Spence group design a 3D printed ultrafiltration device that could be fabricated in-house. As was discussed in chapter 1, the initially developed ultrafiltration method, which relied on a commercially available syringe to pump sample into an attached 3D-printed ultrafiltration device, was used to quantitatively determine binding constants for albumin, C-peptide and Zn^{2+,160} This ultrafiltration method, which relied on a syringe attached to a custom 3D-printed syringe filter, was later refined into a centrifuge-compatible device which could fit into a standard 1.7 mL tube (see Figure 4.2). Refinement of the device increased throughput allowing greater flexibility in experimental design because up to 24 devices could be centrifuged simultaneously. The updated device was used to compare in vivo binding affinity between albumin and Zn²⁺ for control and plasma samples from people with diabetes collected in-house.327



Figure 4.2: Depiction of 3D-printed ultrafiltration device used to perform binding affinity measurements. Adapted from Jacobs et al., *Metallomics* **2020**, *12* (7), 1036-43.

With this device, first, the equilibrium dissociation constant was evaluated for Zn^{2+} and a commercially acquired normal HSA with a glycation level of 11.5% ($K_d = 2.1 \pm 0.5 \times 10^{-7}$ M). Then, a glycated portion of the normal HSA was enriched (glycated HSA, 65.5%) and separated with boronate-affinity chromatography. The separated albumin was determined to have a 2.3-fold decrease in Zn^{2+} binding affinity ($K_d = 4.8 \pm 0.8 \times 10^{-7}$ M) as compared to the normal HSA sample. The glycation level of HSA in control plasma (13.0% ± 0.8, n = 3 donors) and plasma from individuals with diabetes (26.9% ± 6.6, n = 5 donors) was evaluated by mass spectrometry. HSA from plasma obtained in-house from an individual with type 1 diabetes was determined to have a glycation amount of 24.1% and $K_d = 3.3 \pm 0.5 \times 10^{-7}$ M for Zn²⁺, and a 1.5-fold decrease in binding affinity compared to normal HSA.³²⁷ Together, the data suggest that increased levels of glycated HSA, resulting from covalent attachment of sugar (can be glucose, fructose, or other derivatives) to the protein by a slow, non-enzymatic process, reduce binding to Zn²⁺ and may have implications in diabetic complications and the use of C-peptide replacement as a therapy for type 1 diabetes.³²⁷

4.1.1 Adapting Ultrafiltration Dialysis to Investigate C-peptide and leptin Interaction

Due to the prior success of ultrafiltration dialysis in the Spence lab in performing fast and accurate binding measurements, an ultrafiltration method was used in initial attempts to analyze binding interactions between C-peptide and leptin. However, there were several challenges in attempting to evaluate C-peptide and leptin interaction by this technique.

In initial experiments, there were issues with non-specific binding to the device preventing measurement of C-peptide. Due to a high amount of non-specific binding, measurement of C-peptide through commercially purchased ultrafiltration devices was not successful, and for this reason, 3D-printed devices were created. An additional finding was that even with devices created in-house, measurement of C-peptide in ultrafiltrate was not possible without the addition of a sample component to help reduce non-specific binding. For this reason, BSA was added to the samples. However, this further complicated the experiment, since it was known from prior Spence group work that

albumin can bind C-peptide.¹⁴⁹ Then, once BSA was added to the system, there was a question of how much should be added to optimize measurement of C-peptide while minimizing interference from C-peptide interaction with albumin.

There was also a question of what concentrations of C-peptide and leptin were optimal for experiments. Since 20 nM is the reported saturating concentration of C-peptide to erythrocytes,¹⁴⁹ this concentration was initially chosen for C-peptide. The optimal level of leptin to add to evaluate its interaction with C-peptide was not known. Since previous experiments which analyzed C-peptide and leptin interaction with erythrocytes by ELISA method had focused on physiological concentrations,²⁷⁴ leptin levels were initially added between of 0, 0.5 and 5 nM, corresponding to control, normal/average, and 'obese' serum leptin concentrations.²⁷⁶ However, a statistically significant difference in free C-peptide was not measured in the ultrafiltrate under these conditions.

A literature search revealed a guide to designing simple and informative binding assays, indicating that a fixed concentration of one of the reactants that is lower than the K_d (specifying that approximately 10x lower than the K_d would suffice) with enough of the other reactant so that virtually all is free under the experimental conditions should be reasonable.³²⁴ Basing concentrations of C-peptide and leptin on their K_d was not possible as the K_d was not known and was the value being sought. However, it was known by 2015 analysis using ITC that HSA and C-peptide interact with a K_a of $1.75 \pm 0.64 \times 10^{-5}$ M⁻¹ (and therefore a K_d of $1.75 \pm 0.64 \times 10^{-5}$ M), with a binding stoichiometry of 0.53 ± 0.03 , indicating two molecules of C-peptide bound per HSA molecule.¹⁴⁹ Based on this information, leptin levels were increased to 50 and 500 nM in subsequent experiments,

to ensure that all available C-peptide could interact with leptin. However, again, a statistically significant difference in free C-peptide was not observed.

It was considered that membrane pore size in the ultrafiltration devices might be a factor. Initial experiments used devices with 12-14 kDa membranes as this device had already been characterized in prior work.³¹⁷ In an equilibrium dialysis/ultrafiltration system, some of the higher molecular weight ligand (molecule to be retained) will always pass through the membrane, and the amount being dependent on the membrane pore size. Typically, in the definition of a molecular weight cut off value, this amount is less than 10%.³²⁸ Using a larger pore size, while allowing more passage of ligand, can be beneficial for ultrafiltration because it decreases the centrifugation time and speed needed to separate ultrafiltrate from the sample. Using a smaller pore size, while optimal for preventing passage of ligand through the membrane pores and therefore interfering with the measurement of unbound analyte, can increase effects of the larger ligand (leptin) trapping the analyte (C-peptide) of interest, and requires that the device be centrifuged at increased speeds and times.³²⁹ The potential drawbacks of using a device with a smaller pore size were experienced in this research when attempting to switch from performing experiments with well characterized 12-14 kDa membranes³¹⁷ to 3.5 kDa membranes. First, it was found that the 3.5 kDa ultrafiltration devices often failed at the centrifugation speeds and times necessary for enough ultrafiltrate to pass through the device to perform the ELISA analysis. In addition, as mentioned above, using a smaller membrane size required further optimization of experimental conditions. Specifically, the devices had to be loaded with at least 50 nM C-peptide to attain enough C-peptide in the ultrafiltrate for its detection by C-peptide ELISA. A 7 kDa MWCO membrane size was

commercially available and would perhaps be a better size choice to use, since 7 kDa is an intermediate value in between the molecular weights of C-peptide and leptin. However, shipping delays from several manufacturers during the COVID-19 pandemic prevented obtainment of the 7 kDa membrane size for the duration of these experiments.

Another consideration for the ultrafiltration experiments was a whether a period of sample incubation was necessary, and if so, how long of a time and what temperatures would be optimal? Typically, equilibrium binding is reached more rapidly at higher temperatures. It was not known if C-peptide and leptin specific binding, if it existed, would be relatively instantaneous or require a certain amount of time to occur (as a reminder, the half-life of leptin is approximately 25 minutes, while the half-life of C-peptide in vivo is around 30 minutes). In attempting to answer this question, it was found that it was difficult to test longer incubation times and higher incubation temperatures using the ultrafiltration method, unless the sample was cooled down to 4 °C after the incubation period. Increasing the temperature, even to room temperature, increased failure of devices (devices would frequently break during the centrifugation process). In an adaptation from the method of Hage and coworkers, 315, 330 and taking into consideration the half-lives of the two proteins in vivo, an incubation time and temperature of 37 °C for 30 minutes was used in order to ensure the sample had enough time to reach equilibrium prior to the centrifugation step. However, it was found that incorporating this step required that samples be cooled to 4 °C prior to loading into the devices.

Then, after a successful ultrafiltration experiment, C-peptide concentration in the ultrafiltrate had to be determined. The method employed for this was the C-peptide ELISA, due its previous success in the Spence group.^{147, 149, 317} But, using the C-peptide

ELISA assay to perform the measurement raised additional questions. Specifically, it seemed leptin itself may be interfering with measurement of C-peptide by ELISA.

Perhaps most importantly, the final consideration that led to the search for another method of analysis of C-peptide and leptin binding, was the requirement for size difference to separate a ligand and analyte by an equilibrium dialysis/ultrafiltration method. Recall that separating a ligand and analyte by an equilibrium dialysis method requires a difference in molecule weight of at least 5x difference.³¹⁹⁻³²¹ There is approximately a 5x difference in molecule weight between leptin (16 kDa) and C-peptide (~3 kDa), placing them just at the cut off for difference in molecule weight, which could perhaps explain the challenges of this experiment.

For the above-mentioned reasons, despite the simplicity of the ultrafiltration method and the availability of materials in-house, C-peptide and leptin interaction was ultimately investigated using another method. Due to its frequent application in the study of molecular interaction/drug binding and the discovery of available instrumentation (and expertise) in a neighboring drug developing and repurposing core, surface plasmon resonance (SPR) was a logical choice.

4.1.2 Surface Plasmon Resonance - Background

The first optical chemical sensors were designed for measurement of CO₂ and O₂ concentration and focused on measurement of changes in absorption.³³¹ Subsequently, a wide assortment of optical methods have been adjusted for use in biosensors and chemical sensors incorporating spectroscopy (luminescence, phosphorescence,

fluorescence, Raman), spectroscopy of guided modes in optical waveguide structures (grating coupler, resonant mirror), interferometry (model interferometry in optical wavelength structures, white light interferometry), ellipsometry, and SPR.³³² In these methods, a chosen quantity is analyzed by quantifying refractive index, absorbance and fluorescence properties of a chemo-optical transducing medium or analyte molecules.³³³

Surface plasmons (SPs) (Figure 4.3) are waves that disseminate along the surface of a conductor (normally a metal).³³⁴ Basically, they are light waves confined to the surface because of their interaction with free electrons of the conductor (firmly speaking, surface plasmons should be denoted as surface plasmon polaritons to indicate this hybrid character).³³⁵ In this interaction, the free electrons counter by cooperatively oscillating in resonance with the light wave. This resonant interaction between the surface charge oscillation and the electromagnetic field of the light comprises the surface plasmon and determines its distinctive properties.³³⁴



Figure 4.3: Schematic illustration of an intensity dispersion of the magnetic field and field components of a surface plasmon polariton at a metal-dielectric interface. The surface plasmons have a combined surface charge and electromagnetic character. SPs are transverse magnetic (H is in the y direction), with the generation of surface charge requiring an electric field normal (perpendicular) to the surface. The combined nature also leads to the field component perpendicular to the surface being increased near the surface while decaying exponentially with distance away. Reproduced from Barnes et al., *Nature* **2003**, *424*, 824-30.

Irregular diffraction on gratings because of excitation of surface plasma waves was initially detailed by Wood at the start of the twentieth century.³³⁶ In the late sixties, Otto³³⁷ and Kretschmann³³⁸ confirmed optical excitation of surface plasmons by reduced total reflection. An SPR optical sensor commonly is comprised of an electronic system allowing data processing and sustaining the optoelectronic components of the sensor, a transducing medium that connects the (bio)chemical and optical domains and an optical

system.³³² The transducing medium^m relates variations in the analyte of interest to changes in the refractiveⁿ index which can be analyzed by optically searching the SPR.^{332, 339} The optical section of the SPR sensor contains a source of optical radiation and an optical structure in which SPW are excited and cross-examined. While probing the SPR, an electronic signal is produced and overseen by the electronic system. While resolution, sensitivity and sensor stability are decided by properties of both the transducing medium and optical system, response time and selectivity of the sensor are primarily decided by properties of the transducing medium.³³²

Since the propagation of SPWs is always greater than that of the optical wave in the dielectric (Figure 4.4), the SPW cannot be enhanced directly by an incident optical wave at a two-dimensional metal-dielectric boundary. Because of this, the momentum of the incident optical wave needs to be heightened to equal that of the SPW. This is usually accomplished using attenuated total reflection in prism couplers or optical waveguides, or diffraction at the surface of diffraction gratings. To excite surface plasmon polaritons in a resonant way, electron bombardment or incident light can be used (normally visible or infrared).³⁴⁰ When light is used to excite surface plasmon waves, there are two common configurations: Kretschmann and Otto. In the Otto configuration, light irradiates the wall

^m In SPR biosensors, the transducing medium is typically created as a layer or matrix of biomolecules that can bind the analyte molecules.

ⁿ Refractive index is a measure of the bending of a ray of light while transitioning from one medium into another. It is equal to the velocity of light *c* of a given wavelength in empty space divided by its velocity *v* in a component, or n = c/v.

of a glass block, is wholly internally reflected and a thin metal film is placed close enough to the prism wall so that an evanescent wave can intermingle with the plasma waves on the surface to excite the plasmons. In the Kretschmann configuration (most common), the metal film is evaporated onto the glass block, and light analogously illuminates the glass block so that an evanescent wave infiltrates the metal film, exciting plasmons at the outer portion of the film.³⁴¹



Figure 4.4: Scheme for surface plasmon polaritons (SSPs) a) shows the infiltration distance of SSPs into the metal and dielectric. The field in the perpendicular direction is termed evanescent, due to the attached, non-radiative nature of SPs that blocks power from disseminating away from the surface. In the dielectric field above the metal (usually air or glass), the decay length of the field, δ_d , is on the order of approximately half the wavelength of light implicated, while the decay length into the metal, δ_m , is determined by the skin depth. b) shows the dispersion curve for a SP mode, showing the momentum mismatch issue that must be surmounted to couple SP modes and light, with the SP mode always beyond the light line, having larger momentum ($\hbar K_{SP}$) than a free space photon ($\hbar K_0$) of the same frequency ω . Reproduced from Barnes et al., *Nature* **2003**, *424*, 824-30.

The current work used a FortéBio Pioneer SPR system with a sensor (designed in the Kretschmann configuration), disposable SPR sensor chip, and optical reflection guide. The guide, permanently fixed in the system, is made up of a glass prism with optical surfaces allowing for light from an emitting diode (LED) to undergo SPR and be returned onto a photodiode array on the same plane. In the detector, the single channel optical system is replicated in triplicate in order to form three sensing channels.³⁴²

4.1.3 Surface Plasmon Resonance Biosensor Chip Design

In a standard SPR biosensor assay, as shown in Figure 4.5 (a) below, a ligand (leptin) is covalently immobilized on the biosensor surface and the analyte (C-peptide) travels over the surface through a microfluidic flow cell.^{275, 343} SPR detectors track the change in refractive index of the solvent layer close to the surface enticed by association and dissociation of the analyte-ligand complex formed and generate real-time response data as a sensorgram as shown in Figure 4.5 (b).³⁴³ In the association phase of the interaction, the analyte binds to the immobilized ligand, which generates a rise in response. Over time, as equilibrium between the bound and free analyte is attained, the response intensity levels off. During the dissociation phase, the instrument switches back to running buffer, which makes it feasible to attain information about the stability of the complex.³⁴⁴

An important feature of the SPR biosensor is the interface between the sensor surface and immobilized ligand.³⁴³ The current work utilized a SADH sensor chip, a glass chip coated with a semi-transparent gold film, with a surface chemistry of streptavidin

immobilized in a three-dimensional carboxymethyl dextran hydrogel for attachment to the affinity ligand,³⁴² allowing for selective, irreversible capture of biotin-containing ligands (i.e., biotinylated leptin) while minimizing non-specific binding. The chip, with moderate to high capacity, it ideal for analysis of intermediate to large molecule kinetics.³⁴⁵ In addition, due to high stability of the dextran layer on the biosensor chip, several hundred binding cycles may be run over an immobilized ligand if desired.^{343, 345}



Figure 4.5: SPR biosensor assay to evaluate leptin interaction with C-peptide. In (a) the ligand (leptin) is adhered on the SADH biosensor chip surface. The analyte (C-peptide) travels through a microfluidic flow cell and SPR is utilized to track the modification of refractive index as analyte collects on the sensor surface. (b) Portrayal of the usual features of an SPR sensorgram. Before introducing the analyte, the baseline response must be constant. A rise in response during the association phase indicates complex formation in real-time. When an equal number of analyte molecules associate with and dissociate from the surface simultaneously, equilibrium is attained. If wanted, the surface may be washed to attain the decay rate of the complex during the dissociation phase. After regeneration, the binding response should revert to baseline. Adapted from Rich & Myszka, *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* **2000**, *11*, 54-61.

Compared with other technologies available for monitoring intermolecular interactions, SPR biosensors offer several distinct advantages (Table 4.1), including no labeling requirement, real-time measurement, ability to perform the measurement without disturbing equilibrium, monitoring stability of the immobilized ligand, use in qualitative formats (i.e. drug screening), and in determination of binding affinity and kinetic rate constants, ability to monitor simultaneous interactions at multiple surfaces, automated instrumentation, low use of material for analyses (generally less than ~1 µg of protein ligand to make a single surface) and experiments can be performed using buffers containing organic solvents.³⁴⁴ SPR biosensors are well adapted to pharmaceutical discovery. particularly for characterization of target macromolecules and biopharmaceuticals. SPR biosensors can directly monitor a molecule's binding activity, which associates with its function.³⁴³

While SPR offers several advantages, like any method of analysis of ligand binding, there are also potential shortcomings (Table 4.1).³⁴⁶ One potential limitation of SPR is that the ligand may not maintain its native configuration when immobilized to the sensor chip surface. Another possibility is that its orientation on the chip may sterically hinder analyte binding. One way to circumvent this issue is to use an 'upside down' orientation, by functionalizing the analyte of interest to the biosensor chip. However, immobilization strategies that use antibodies, biotin, or other molecular 'tags' prevent this issue by uniformly orienting the ligand, thereby avoiding heterogeneity of binding due to different orientations of ligand immobilized to the sensor surface. Another potential limitation that occurs when a ligand is physically fixed onto a surface is that it is physically separated from the analyte in the bulk solution. For this reason, it is important to verify

that transfer of the analyte to ligand at the sensor surface is not restricted, or else the analyte concentration near the surface will be different from the bulk concentration (i.e., mass transport limitation). Non-specific binding events at the sensor surface also must be carefully regulated by experimental design.³⁴⁶

Table 4.1: Advantages and disadvantages for using SPR to monitor molecular interactions. Adapted from Helmerhorst et al., *Clin. Biochem. Rev.* **2021**, 33 (4) 161-73.

Advantages	Disadvantages	
Label-free	Expense of chips and instrumentation	
Real-time and continuous measurement	Non-specific binding to surfaces	
Sensor chips can be regenerated	Immobilization effects	
Small sample amount and volumes	Steric hindrance with binding events	
Highly sensitive	Mass transport limitations	
Generic methods for diverse molecules	Misinterpretation of data common	
Quick testing	Requires precise control experiments	
Calibration-free concentration analysis		
Measure 'active' concentrations		
Specific to the binding event		

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Preparation of C-peptide

For ultrafiltration experiments, C-peptide was made as described in 3.4.3. For SPR experiments, C-peptide was made as described in 3.4.3, except that the top stock concentration (which in this instance was 38.5μ M) was used for SPR along with dilutions of 8 μ M-8 nM in DDW.

4.2.2 Preparation of Leptin for Ultrafiltration Experiments

Leptin for ultrafiltration experiments was prepared from a lyophilized leptin stock (R&D systems, Minneapolis, MN) per manufacturer instructions by resuspended to 1 mg/1 mL in TRIS-NaCI (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO), pH 8.0, assayed by leptin ELISA (Boster Biological Technology, Pleasanton, CA) to confirm concentration, and stored at 4 °C prior to use.

4.2.3 Preparation of Leptin For SPR

Due to the need to remove TRIS present in the lyophilized leptin stock which would interfere with biotin labeling, leptin used for SPR experiments was prepared and stored the same way as leptin used for radiolabeling (described in section 3.4.5).

4.2.4 Binding Analysis with Commercial Ultrafiltration Devices

An initial experimental was designed to load ultrafiltration devices with a prepared solution of C-peptide and leptin in buffer, centrifuge to separate a small amount of ultrafiltrate, and analyze C-peptide content of the ultrafiltrate by C-peptide ELISA assay. Initial attempts to analyze the C-peptide interaction with leptin utilized Amicon Ultra-0.5 Centrifugal Filter Devices with 10 kilodalton (kD) molecular weight cut off (MWCO) membranes (MilliporeSigma, Burlington, MA).³⁴⁷ To adapt the commercially available centrifugal filters for performing ultrafiltration measurement, an optimal centrifuge speed and time had to be determined (recall that the volume of ultrafiltrate must be kept low to maintain equilibrium). To perform this optimization step, an ultrafiltration device was filled with 500 µL of DDW and tested a variety of centrifugation times and speeds (Table 4.2). Based on these data, an appropriate centrifugation speed and time was determined.

Table 4.2 Optimization of centrifugation time and speed for commercial ultrafiltration devices. A series of centrifugation speeds and times were tested and ultrafiltrate was measured to determine optimal conditions for initial experiments. n = 3, volumes are approximate.

Centrifugation Speed (g)	Time (min)	Ultrafiltrate (µL)
8,000	4	250
5,000	1	30-40
4,000	2	50-75
4,000	1	20-35
3,000	2	35-55
2,000	3	35-50
2,000	2	20-35
2,000	1	15-20
1,000	5	25-35

After constructing the table, for the initial experiments a centrifugation time of five minutes at 1,000*g* was used. An initial set of samples was prepared containing 20 nM C-peptide in PSS, added 200 µL of sample above the filters, and centrifuged. But, when the first experiments with C-peptide and leptin were attempted, it was found that much less filtrate passed through the unused membranes than what was measured in initial testing. It is thought that glycerol coating on the membrane may wash off after multiple centrifugation steps and thus change the volume of ultrafiltrate passing through the device. Proper optimization of the device would require several commercially purchased devices, additional time and use of shared equipment. For these reasons, through a

series of trial and error, a new centrifugation time and speed was decided upon, of 4,000g for 2 min, to consistently obtain a filtrate volume of approximately 25-35 µL for an unrinsed membrane.

After determining an optimal centrifuge speed and time, initial samples were prepared with 20 nM C-peptide in PSS buffer, as a basic test to determine the amount of C-peptide bound to leptin. Samples were prepared, aliquoted the appropriate amount into the devices, centrifuged and then collected the ultrafiltrate for analysis of C-peptide concentration by ELISA. However, despite numerous attempts, C-peptide could not be detected in the ultrafiltrate when using the commercially purchased devices. Initially, as it was thought that C-peptide may be sticking to the glycerol coating on the membrane, the membranes were prerinsed with DDW and even 0.1 M NaOH, in procedure indicated by the Amicon Centrifugal Filter User Manual³⁴⁷ to eliminate this issue. However, this had no effect on experimental outcome. Changing the buffer from PSS to a higher salt buffer like PBS or tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane sodium chloride (TRIS-NaCl), which is another method indicated to reduce non-specific binding by reducing charge interactions between the analyte and membrane/device surface,³⁴⁸ was also not effective. It was considered that the method of Lee et al., of treating the membranes with Tween 20 or Tween 80,³⁴⁹ may be adapted. This is a method that may be able to reduce non-specific binding due to hydrophobic interactions between the analyte and sensor surface.³⁴⁸ However, in the meantime, while materials were being acquired, a successful experiment was performed with 3D-printed 12-14 kDa membrane MWCO ultrafiltration devices, so future experiments used devices that were created in-house.

4.2.5 Creation of 12 and 3.5 kDa MWCO Ultrafiltration Devices

Spectra/Por® flat sheet dialysis membranes (12-14 and 3.5 kDa MWCO, regenerated cellulose, Spectrum Laboratories, Inc. Rancho Dominguez, CA) were used as acquired. The membrane sheets were positioned between two sheets of wax paper and cut with a metal hole punch to produce circles with a diameter of 6 mm.

The 3D-printed ultrafiltration device had earlier been designed using CAD software (Autodesk Inventor Professional, San Rafael, CA) and sent to a J750 Multi-Material PolyJet 3D-printer (Stratasys, Eden Prairie, MN) as a series of .STL files.³²⁷ The device was printed in support-free mode by a previously described method,¹⁶⁰ which stops the printer from laying a waxy substrate that is used to preserve structural integrity of particular devices. The printer was set to print without laying support material by opening the Stratasys Parameters Manager page on the computer connected to the printer. These parameters were changed from their fixed denominations to zero millimeters: Carpet_height, Carpet_protectorZ and ImproveSupport_thickOfPedestal. Forgoing placement of support material enabled direct placement of the membrane into the device, generating a seamless seal without the need for adhesives or glue. Membranes were placed into the device by a previously described Print-Pause-Print procedure.³¹⁸

To make the centrifuge-enabled ultrafiltration device, three .stl files were used. The bottom layer, a hard plastic support (veroclear), the next two layers, a tacky Tango+ material that is intended to hold a polycarbonate membrane, the third and fourth layers designed to hold the cellulose dialysis membrane, and the fifth layer, a cylinder to make the membrane 'cup' to retain the liquid sample. The ensuing device is a small cup with a

permeable bottom that fits into a standard 1.7 mL microcentrifuge tube, as shown in Figure 4.2. As previously detailed, the printer was set to 'support-free' mode and the first layer was printed to finish. Then, the printer settings were changed to tell the printer to lower the build tray to a distance equal to the height of the object formerly printed. The second layer was sent to the printer as a new device, which tells the printer to lay material (in this case, a 0.1 mM layer of Tango+) on top of the prior object. Once the second layer was finished, a polycarbonate membrane with 0.4 µm pores was meticulously placed on top of the layer, and once more the build tray was lowered, and the next layer (0.1 mM Tango+) was printed. Following, the dialysis membrane of the desired pore size was put in, and the method of lowering the print tray and printing a layer of Tango+ was repeated. The final part of the device, which holds a liquid sample, was then printed to produce the final construct. Preferred centrifuge time and speeds were determined in previous work.³¹⁷

4.2.6 Optimization of Experiment Conditions with 3D-printed Ultrafiltration Devices

For all ultrafiltration experiments, C-peptide standards were prepared, at the same time as samples, in PSS from an 800 nM stock in DDW, in concentrations of 0, 4.8, 10.2, 14.8, 20 and 24.8 nM, along with 2 x 20 nM controls. Standards were incubated at the same temperature and duration of time as the corresponding sample set.

12-14 kD ultrafiltration devices had been previously optimized³¹⁷ for a volume of 200 μ L and a centrifugation time and speed of 90 minutes at 15000*g*, which allowed for collection of approximately 10-13 μ L of ultrafiltrate per sample. All reported results for 12-

14 kDa MWCO membranes contained 75 μ M BSA (PSS buffer) to prevent non-specific binding of C-peptide to the device. Samples were incubated for a period of 30 minutes at 37 °C, followed by a brief period of refrigeration to cool the sample before transferring to the device. In the samples, 25 μ L of 800 nM C-peptide in DDW was added to achieve a final concentration of 20 nM, and leptin was diluted from a concentrated stock in PBS, into PSS buffer, to achieve final concentrations in samples of 0, 0.5, 5, 50 and 500 nM.

For 3.5 kDa devices, an experiment was first performed, based on the available optimization data for the 12-14 kDa MWCO devices,³¹⁷ to evaluate the suitability of two hours at 20000*g* for centrifugation speed and time (Table 4.3). First, the mass of several 1.7 mL microcentrifuge tubes was recorded. Then, the tubes were fit with custom 3D-printed 3.5 kDa ultrafiltration devices. Following, 200 µL of DDW was added to each device. After centrifugation, devices were removed, and the microcentrifuge tubes were massed again to determine the average amount of ultrafiltrate passing through the membrane pores. Once centrifugation speed and time were experimentally verified to produce an average ultrafiltrate volume of less than 10% of the total sample volume (approximately 7%), ultrafiltration experiments were performed with C-peptide and leptin. Experiments with 3.5 kDa devices, that were able to successfully measure C-peptide, used a C-peptide concentration of 50 nM and leptin concentrations of 0, 50 and 500 nM. Samples contained 75 µM BSA and were incubated at 37 °C for 30 minutes prior to centrifugation and subsequent ELISA analysis.

1.7 mL Tube	Initial mass (g)	Final mass (g)	Ultrafiltrate (µL)
1	1.0449	1.0573	12.4
2	1.0481	1.0613	13.2
3	1.0422	1.0579	15.7

Table 4.3: Optimization of centrifuge speed and time for 3.5 kDa devices.

4.2.7 C-peptide ELISA for Ultrafiltration Experiments

C-peptide ELISA (ALPCO, Boston, MA) analysis followed all successful ultrafiltration experiments. All successful ELISA assays used a standard dilution of 1:50, and a sample dilution of 1:3 in DDW prior to loading the samples onto a 96 well plate for assay. Assay was performed per manufacturer instructions.

4.2.8 Biotinylation of Leptin for SPR Experiments

Before use in SPR experiments, leptin was biotinylated for functionalization to the avidin biosensor chip. Like the procedure utilized for leptin labeling with HYNIC described in 3.4.2, leptin that was labeled with biotin for SPR experiments (recombinant human leptin, R&D systems) was made by resuspending 5 mg of lyophilized leptin in 1 mL of PBS overnight and evaluating its concentration using a human leptin ELISA kit (Boster Biological Technology). Biotinylation was carried out with a Thermo ScientificTM EZ-link NHS-PEG₄-biotinylation kit. First, a 200 µL aliquot of the dialyzed and assayed leptin was diluted to 1 mL in BupHTM PBS (Thermo Scientific). The BupHTM PBS, a modified

Dulbecco's PBS, contained, in mM, 8.0 sodium phosphate, 2.0 sodium phosphate, 0.14 sodium chloride, and 10.0 potassium chloride. By kit instructions, the number of millimoles of NHS-PEG₄-Biogtin to add to the reaction to obtain a 20-fold molar excess were determined. A 20 mM solution of NHS-PEG₄-Biotin was made following kit instructions, and 62.6 µL of the biotin solution were added to the leptin solution. While the leptin was let to incubate with the biotin for 60 minutes at room temperature, a Thermo Scientific Zeba Spin Desalting Column was readied per kit instructions. After 60 minutes of incubation, the leptin/biotin solution was put on the column, the solution was permitted to soak into the column resin, and then the column was centrifuged at 1000*g* for two minutes. The flow through, or eluate, was gathered as the purified leptin sample. To evaluate the amount of biotin incorporation in the purified leptin sample, a 4'hydroxyazobenzene-2-carboxylic acid (HABA) assay was carried out and to analyze the final concentration of leptin in the purified sample, a bicinchoninic acid (BCA) assay was performed.²⁷⁵

4.2.8.1 Procedure for HABA assay

To evaluate the level of biotin integration, a solution with biotinylated leptin was added to a mixture of HABA and avidin. Because of the higher affinity for avidin, biotin displaces HABA from its interaction with avidin, and the absorbance at 500 nm decreases correspondingly.³⁵⁰ In the assay method, an unknown quantity of biotin present in a solution is approximated in a single cuvette (or microplate well) by quantifying the absorbance of the HABA-avidin solution prior to and after addition of the biotin-containing

sample.³⁵¹ The change in absorbance is correlated with the amount of biotin in the sample.³⁵¹

To perform the assay, the 180 µL of HABA/avidin was pipetted into a microplate well,³⁵¹ and absorbance was measured at 500 nm and recorded as A₅₀₀HABA/avidin. To the well, 20 µL of biotinylated leptin (collected from column flow-through) was added and mixed using the pipet. Absorbance of this solution as measured at 500 nm until the value remained constant for 15 seconds (at least 3 reads), and the value was recorded as A₅₀₀HABA/avidin sample. Moles of biotin incorporated per mole of leptin were then calculated as outlined in the Thermo Scientific[™] EZ-link NHS-PEG₄-biotinylation kit procedure.³⁵¹

4.2.8.2 Procedure for BCA assay

A BCA assay, which combines the property of Cu²⁺ reduction to Cu¹⁺ by protein in alkaline medium (biuret reaction) with the very sensitive colorimetric detection of the cuprous cation (Cu¹⁺) by BCA,^{352, 353} was used to estimate biotinylated leptin concentration in the column flow through. A modified procedure of the PierceTM BCA protein assay kit³⁵⁴ was carried out by first preparing BSA standards in PBS by diluting 100 µL of the 1 g/1 mL kit BCA standard with 700 µL PBS to make a 125 µg/mL solution. The 125 µg/1 mL standard was used to create a 62.5 µg/mL standard, and that standard was used to make 31.25 µg/1 mL. These standards and a blank were loaded into the bottom of a clear bottom plate in a volume of 25 µL each, along with 3 x 25 µL aliquots of unknown biotinylated leptin sample, which was diluted to bring the estimated

concentration close to approximately 100 μ g/1 mL. Working reagent was prepared by mixing 2.45 mL of kit reagent A, an aqueous solution of 1% BCA-Na₂, 2% Na₂CO₃ * H₂O, 0.16% tartrate, 0.4% NaOH and 0.95% NaHCO₃, with 50 μ L of kit reagent B, which was 4% CuSO₄ * 5H₂O in deionized water.³⁵³

4.2.9 SPR analysis

SPR experiments were carried out with a FortéBio Pioneer SPR System at the MSU Drug Discovery and Repurposing Core with the help of Dr. Joseph Nichols. A biotinylated leptin sample, with an estimated leptin concentration of 55 µg/mL, was integrated onto a FortéBio SADH Biosensor chip. C-peptide was run over the chip (in PBS running buffer) in amounts of 8 nM, 100 nM, 300 nM, 1 µM, 8 µM, and 38.5 µM in DDW. Binding affinity data (resonance units vs. time) was gathered and evaluated using Qdat software in the Pioneer SPR system.²⁷⁵

4.3 Results

Figure 4.6 shows the results for analysis of C-peptide and leptin binding by the ultrafiltration method using 12-14 kDa devices to measure free C-peptide. In these initial experiments, C-peptide concentration in the ultrafiltrate and in the retentate were determined by ELISA for comparison. In the ultrafiltrate, for 0 nM leptin, 0.64 \pm 0.11 nM C-peptide was measured, by comparison, when C-peptide in the retentate was measured, for samples with no leptin, C-peptide concentration was 14.5 \pm 1.51 nM, and with 0.5 nM

leptin, decreased to 14.3 ± 0.79 nM, and for 5 nM, C-peptide measured in the retentate was only 11.2 ± 4.47 nM, meaning that for the samples with no leptin, approximately 4.84 nM of the initially added C-peptide was accounted for, for samples with 0.5 nM leptin, this number increased to 5.24 nM, and for samples with 5 nM leptin, to 8.35 nM.



Figure 4.6: Ultrafiltration binding analysis of 20 nM C-peptide and 0, 0.5 or 5 nM leptin using 12-14 kDa MWCO 3D-printed devices. In (a), C-peptide measured in ultrafiltrate is displayed while (b) shows the C-peptide measured in retentate. n = 3-4, error = sd.

In the next set of experiments, shown in Figure 4.7, a method was devised to analyze the effect of leptin on the measurement of C-peptide by the ELISA method. For these four sets of C-peptide standards were prepared: one standard set was pre-diluted to the required concentration range for the ELISA assay. The other three sets were prepared in concentrations of 0-24.8 nM. To each of these three sets, 10 nM leptin in PSS was added in the appropriate volume to reach a final concentration of 0, 0.5 or 5 nM, respectively, in 1 mL samples. After their preparation in PSS buffer, samples were immediately diluted 1:50 in DDW to reach the required C-peptide concentration for the assay. The assay was performed, and the C-peptide content of the three standard sets was determined relative to the pre-diluted C-peptide standard curve.



Figure 4.7: C-peptide and leptin standard curves. White = 0 nM leptin, light grey = 0.5 nM leptin, dark grey = 5 nM leptin. n = 3, error = sd. Significance from control indicated by * (p<0.05) (overall).

In Figure 4.8, to maximize the ability of leptin to interact with and complex to C-peptide, ultrafiltration experiments were performed with 20 nM C-peptide, and either 0, 50 or 500 nM leptin.³²⁴ C-peptide interaction with leptin in the presence of higher concentrations of leptin, namely 50 and 500 nM, were evaluated. For these experiments, when no leptin was added, a C-peptide concentration of 1.37 ± 0.05 nM was measured in the ultrafiltrate. When 50 nM leptin was added, this value decreased to 1.10 ± 0.24 nM. When 500 nM leptin was added, C-peptide measured in the ultrafiltrate was 1.19 ± 0.13 nM.



Figure 4.8: Ultrafiltration binding analysis of C-peptide and 50 or 500 nM leptin using 12-14 kDa MWCO 3D-printed devices. n = 3. error = sd.

Because it was suspected that leptin crossing the pores of the 12-14 kDa membrane may be interfering with measurement of C-peptide and the true equilibrium binding value, next the ultrafiltration experiment, shown in Figure 4.9, was attempted using 3D-printed devices with 3.5 kDa MWCO cut off membranes. Experiments were performed with 20 nM C-peptide and 0, 50 or 500 nM leptin. For samples with no leptin, 0.82 ± 0.07 nM C-peptide was measured in the ultrafiltrate, when 0.5 nM leptin was added, 0.83 nM C-peptide was measured. For 500 nM leptin, C-peptide measured in the ultrafiltrate decreased to 0.56 ± 0.18 nM.



Figure 4.9: Ultrafiltration binding analysis of C-peptide and 50 or 500 nM leptin using 3.5 kDa MWCO 3D-printed devices. n = 2-4. error = sd.

Next, C-peptide and leptin interaction was analyzed by the method of SPR In this procedure leptin was immobilized onto a biosensor chip which was placed into the instrument. Then, several concentrations of C-peptide in DDW (ranging from 8 nM to 38.5 μ M) were prepared and loaded into the instrument. The system was programmed to allow the C-peptide to flow over the leptin biosensor chip in PBS running buffer over the course of several hours. Changes in the refractive index from sensor chip surface as buffer flowed over, and bound leptin interacted with C-peptide, were recorded by the instrument as response units vs. time as shown in Figure 4.10. The assembled data produced binding curves, which were then analyzed using Qdat software in the Pioneer system, to confirm specific binding of C-peptide and leptin with a K_d of approximately 2.4 x 10⁻⁶ M.²⁷⁵



Figure 4.10: SPR was carried out to confirm leptin binding to C-peptide. The inset displays resolved binding curves for C-peptide concentrations of 8 nM, 100 nM, 300 nM, 1 μ M, 8 μ M and 38.5 μ M in DDW. Binding affinity data (resonance units vs. time) was collected and evaluated using the Qdat software in the pioneer SPR system. The resultant $K_d = 2.4 \times 10^{-6}$ M. Adapted from Keshavarz et al., *Mol. Pharm.* **2021**, *18* (6), 2438-47.

4.4 Discussion

Although the precise reason(s) for the difficulty in attaining values for binding constants for C-peptide and leptin by the ultrafiltration method are not known, it is thought to be primarily due to the similarity in size between C-peptide and leptin. Another observation that may have been a factor in the ultrafiltration method's inability to analyze binding between C-peptide and leptin is that leptin may interfere with the detection of C-
peptide by ELISA assay. As shown in Figure 4.7, when samples containing C-peptide and leptin were assayed for C-peptide concentration without undergoing ultrafiltration, a comparison of average values vs. control samples (with 20 nM C-peptide and no leptin) revealed that there is a statistically significant difference in C-peptide measured when at least 5 nM of leptin is present in the system. Although higher levels of leptin were not evaluated, it is suspected that at greater leptin levels, there is likely a greater change in measurement of C-peptide by ELISA. This could produce significant interference, particularly with ultrafiltration experiments that use larger membrane sizes (i.e., 12-14 kDa) with higher levels of leptin (50-500 nM).

As indicated by the manufacturer, the C-peptide ELISA kit itself is formulated with different types of antibodies that have high affinity and specificity against distinctly different epitopes^{o, 4} of C-peptide, which allows reaction between various C-peptide antibodies and native C-peptide to occur in the microplate wells without competition or steric hindrance.³⁵⁵ However, any substance that can alter the measurable concentration of analyte or alter antibody binding can potentially cause interference in an immunoassay. While the occurrence of interference is typically low in assays that contain blocking agents that neutralize or inhibit the interference, it is often higher in new, untested immunoassays. In the latter case, the analysis may require use of a different assay, or supplemental measurements, before and after treatment with more blocking reagent.³⁵⁶ In terms of the use of C-peptide ELISA for analyte measurement in ultrafiltrate, potential for interference is greatly minimized since samples were prepared in PSS buffer instead

[°] Epitope (biochemistry) - the part of an antigen molecule to which an antibody attaches itself.

of human blood serum. In addition, since the C-peptide ELISA method has been in use since the mid-1970s, it should be considered a well characterized immunoassay. However, the recent discovery of leptin (1994) means that its interaction with a variety of biomolecules has not been tested, so the potential for interference from leptin is unknown. Although it is known that many peptides circulate bound to serum proteins that modify ligand bioactivity and bioavailability, to date, investigations of leptin binding activity in human serum have mainly focused on the interaction of leptin with its soluble receptor.²¹¹⁻

SPR experiments provided novel data, in confirming leptin's ability to specifically bind C-peptide, with a K_d of 2.4 x 10⁻⁶ M.²⁷⁵ While not a perfect comparison, in 2015, using ITC, the Spence group confirmed specific binding between HSA and C-peptide with a K_a of 1.75 ± 0.64 x 10⁵ M⁻¹ (1/ $K_a = K_d = 1.75 \pm 0.64 \times 10^{-5}$ M).¹⁴⁹ Thus the K_d of C-peptide and leptin by this comparison would represent a higher binding affinity interaction. Caro and coworkers, by radioimmunoassay, have identified a mean serum leptin concentration of approximately 0.47 ± 0.58 nM in healthy non-obese humans, while it is 1.96 ± 1.51 nM in healthy obese humans.²⁷⁶ In perspective, the average concentration of HSA, the most abundant circulating plasma protein, in healthy humans, is approximately 751.88 μ M, while in diabetic humans, it is 601.50 μ M.³⁵⁷ Thus, in terms of physiological relevance, a higher binding affinity for C-peptide and leptin than for HSA and C-peptide would support the Spence group observation that addition of leptin to erythrocyte samples containing albumin, Zn²⁺ and C-peptide enhances C-peptide binding and GLUT1 translocation compared to erythrocyte samples containing albumin, Zn²⁺ and C-peptide alone.²⁷⁵

The SPR data, together with the ^{99m}Tc-leptin labeling data shown in chapter 3, add an important contribution to leptin as an arbitrator of energy balance in vivo, especially because leptin has the potential to alleviate phenomena that occur in the bloodstream of an individual with diabetes.²⁷⁵ For example, in states of chronic hyperglycemia, where more albumin is glycated and cannot as efficiently carry molecules,^{150, 160, 271} leptin, with its fairly short half-life of ~25 minutes¹⁶² in relation to albumin with a half-life of ~12-21 days would not be as affected by non-enzymatic glycation, which is a drawn-out process occurring over the progression of several hours to days.²⁷¹ For this reason, leptin delivery of C-peptide to the erythrocyte may be part of a mechanism that the body employs in an effort to control dysregulated glucose homeostasis, and in this way, improve microvascular blood flow.²⁷⁵

The binding of a leptin/C-peptide complex which involves Zn^{2+} is physiologically relevant in terms of the established role of the erythrocyte in control of vascular tone and overall blood flow.²⁷⁵ Interestingly, in agreement with work from Spence group, there are reports in the literature of beneficial effects of leptin addition to people with type 2 diabetes (who still have circulating leptin),²⁰⁸ while in contrast, there is scarce evidence of improvement in blood flow to people with type 1 diabetes, a group that would be expected to have little to no circulating C-peptide due to destruction of pancreatic β -cells.²⁷⁵ While previous research from the Spence group research has examined C-peptide interaction with erythrocytes in the presence of leptin at physiological concentrations under normal glycemic conditions,²⁷⁴ C-peptide binding to the erythrocyte has not been examined in the presence of leptin under hyperglycemic conditions. These data are important to substantiate the hypothesis that leptin may be able to serve as a carrier molecule for

C-peptide when albumin cannot. Therefore, in the next chapter, progress on investigating C-peptide interaction with erythrocytes in the presence of leptin under hyperglycemic conditions as well as future directions for research will be discussed. Chapter 5: Current Studies, Conclusions and Future Directions

5.1 Investigation of C-peptide Binding to Erythrocytes in the Presence of Leptin in Hyperglycemic Conditions

Despite the absence of an identified receptor, it is established that C-peptide specifically binds to human renal tubular cells, fibroblasts and venous endothelial cells.¹²⁸ In 2015, the Spence group reported analogous binding characteristics of C-peptide to human erythrocytes,¹⁴⁹ however, albumin was a required component in the solvent (buffer) system for any measurable C-peptide binding to cells. The report provided evidence that albumin is needed for erythrocyte uptake of C-peptide and Zn^{2+} . The uptake of C-peptide and Zn^{2+} led to enhancement in erythrocytes are subjected to flow-induced sheer stress. The ability of C-peptide and Zn^{2+} to have effects in combination with molecules secreted from other tissues was also investigated at this time. Specifically, it was demonstrated that leptin further enhances ATP release from erythrocytes by an additional 30% when administered with C-peptide and $Zn^{2+}.^{273}$

The Spence group continued these investigations for a potential role of leptin, involving C-peptide and Zn²⁺, in the amplification of glucose trafficking in the blood stream confirming that leptin increases erythrocyte-derived ATP release when delivered in combination with C-peptide and Zn²⁺, and furthermore providing evidence that the combination of C-peptide/Zn²⁺/leptin induces GLUT1 translocation on the erythrocyte cell membrane.²⁷⁴ As discussed in section 2.4.2 of this dissertation, the Spence group also

began initial investigations into the binding interactions of Zn²⁺, C-peptide and leptin with the erythrocyte cell membrane.²⁷⁵

For studies of ${}^{65}Zn^{2+}$ binding by erythrocytes, for samples incubated with ${}^{65}Zn^{2+}$ and C-peptide in PSS buffer, there was a ${}^{65}Zn^{2+}$ binding of 1.68 ± 0.3 nM, p<0.04, compared to a ${}^{65}Zn^{2+}$ binding of 3.6 ± 0.6 nM, p<0.001 for samples incubated with ${}^{65}Zn^{2+}$ and C-peptide in PSS buffer with 3.8 nM leptin.²⁷⁴ The effect of leptin on C-peptide binding was also examined. For erythrocytes incubated with 20 nM C-peptide and 20 nM Zn²⁺ in PSS, C-peptide binding of 1.7 ± 0.1 nM was observed.³⁵⁸ When leptin was added in the amount of 3.8 nM, C-peptide binding increased to 3.1 ± 0.1 nM.²⁷⁴

Here, these studies are continued by investigating C-peptide binding to the erythrocyte under conditions reminiscent to that which would occur in the bloodstream of a patient with diabetes. Namely, C-peptide binding to the erythrocyte is measured in the presence of leptin and Zn^{2+} in normoglycemic conditions, in comparison to hyperglycemic conditions reminiscent to those which occur in diabetes mellitus, and furthermore, in the presence of an increased ratio of glycated albumin.

5.2 Methods

5.2.1 Preparation of C-peptide

Crude C-peptide (Peptide 2.0 Inc., Chantilly, VA) for erythrocyte binding studies was prepared as described in section 3.5.3.

5.2.2 Preparation of Zn²⁺

 Zn^{2+} was prepared as described in section 3.5.4.

5.2.3 Preparation of Leptin

Lyophilized recombinant human leptin (R&D systems, Minneapolis, MN) was prepared and stored per manufacturer instructions, as described in section 4.2.2.

5.2.4 Preparation of Glycated Bovine Serum Albumin

Glycated bovine serum albumin (gBSA) was purchased as a lyophilized powder (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) and stored at -20 °C prior to use. For use in experiments, a small amount of the glycated BSA (~5 mg) was massed in a 1.7 mL tube. Then, 1 mL of AF-PSS was added. A small aliquot of this stock was diluted 1:100 for determination of concentration by BCA assay, as described in section 4.2.8.2. Following, the stock was diluted with AF-PSS to a final concentration of 5,000 nM.

5.2.5 Blood Collection and Erythrocyte Isolation

Blood collection and isolation of erythrocytes was performed as described in section 3.5.6. Erythrocytes for all C-peptide binding experiments were washed in PSS (containing 75 µM BSA).

5.2.6 Standard and Sample Preparation for Binding Experiments in Normal and High Glucose PSS

C-peptide standards were prepared as described in section 4.2.6. Samples were prepared by first adding 25 μ L of 800 nM Zn²⁺ in DDW followed by 25 μ L of 800 nM C-peptide in DDW to 1.7 mL microcentrifuge tubes. These tubes were allowed to sit for at least three minutes to allow the Zn²⁺ and C-peptide to mix before addition of other sample components. Simultaneously, leptin was diluted in the appropriate buffer (normal (5.5 mM) or high glucose (15 mM) PSS) to a final concentration of 10 nM. Then, leptin was added to the appropriate sample tube(s) in enough volume to prepare samples of 0, 0.5 and 5 nM leptin. The appropriate form of PSS was added next, followed by erythrocytes so that the final sample volume was 1 mL with 7% erythrocytes. Samples were inverted to mix and then allowed to incubate at 37 °C, with inverting every 30 minutes for a total of two hours. Following, samples were centrifuged for 500*g* for five minutes, and the supernatant was stored at 4 °C prior to C-peptide ELISA analysis (ALPCO, Boston, MA).

5.2.7 Standard and Sample Preparation for Binding Experiments with gBSA

Standards were prepared as in section 4.2.6, except that instead of using regular PSS for the buffer, a PSS buffer was prepared that was 5,000 nM in BSA by massing ~25 mg of regular BSA (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) in a 5 mL centrifuge tube and resuspending with 5 mL of AF-PSS. BCA assay was performed as described in section

4.2.8.2 to determine the exact concentration, and then the stock was diluted to 5,000 nM using AF-PSS.

Samples were prepared similarly to what is described in section 5.2.6 except that instead of using PSS, samples were prepared using the 5,000 nM BSA/gBSA stocks, so that samples were either all BSA or 50:50 BSA/gBSA. It was not possible to wash the erythrocytes in AF-PSS, as it was found that this caused cell lysis and interfered with measurement of C-peptide. Because using regular PSS for cell isolation and wash steps, which contained 75 µM BSA increased final BSA concentration in the samples by approximately 5,000 nM (or 5 nmol per 1 mL sample), it was not possible to prepare samples containing exclusively gBSA. For this reason, only samples with 10,000 nM BSA or 5,000 nM BSA/5000 nM gBSA were analyzed. Table 5.1 below shows an example of sample preparation for binding experiments which examined the effect of gBSA.

Table 5.1 Sample preparation for analysis of C-peptide binding to erythrocytes in the presence of leptin and gBSA. All listed values are volume in microliters (μ L). 800 nM Zn²⁺, 800 nM C-peptide (Cp), 10 nM leptin (Lp), 5,000 nM BSA in AF-PSS (BSA), 5,000 nM gBSA in AF-PSS (gBSA), and erythrocytes (RBCs) were prepared as described in methods section.

*Final volume of erythrocytes and buffer were determined after wash steps and unique for each experiment.

Sample	Zn ²⁺	Ср	Lp	Lp	BSA*	gBSA*	RBCs*
			(BSA)	(gBSA)			
1	25	25	0	0	850	0	100
2	25	25	0	0	425	425	100
3	25	25	50	0	850	0	100
4	25	25	25	25	425	425	100
5	25	25	500	0	850	0	100
6	25	25	250	250	425	425	100

5.2.8 C-peptide ELISA

Standards and samples were diluted 1:50 in DDW for C-peptide ELISA. C-peptide ELISA was performed per manufacturer instructions.

5.3 Results

In initial experiments, it was first attempted to establish a baseline value for C-peptide binding to erythrocytes in the presence of leptin in albumin containing buffer (PSS). The results of these studies are shown in Figure 5.1. Incubation of 20 nM

Zn²⁺/C-peptide with no leptin in normoglycemic conditions (in PSS buffer with 5.5 mM glucose) resulted in a C-peptide binding of 1.44 ± 1.99 . When 0.5 nM leptin was added, a C-peptide binding of 1.80 ± 1.11 nM was observed. With the addition of 5 nM leptin, a C-peptide binding of 2.96 ± 1.29 was observed.



Figure 5.1: C-peptide binding to erythrocytes in the presence of leptin in normoglycemic conditions. Zn^{2+}/C -peptide = 20 nM, 7% erythrocytes, glucose = 5.5 mM, n = 4-5, error = sd.

For Figure 5.2, which examined the effect of hyperglycemic conditions (in PSS buffer with 15 mM glucose), when no leptin was added, a C-peptide binding of 1.20 ± 0.27 was determined. Adding 0.5 nM leptin resulted in a binding of 2.09 ± 0.47 . Addition of 5 nM leptin resulted in 3.30 ± 0.90 nM of C-peptide binding. While there was no statistical difference between the results obtained for Figure 5.1, for Figure 5.2, in which erythrocytes were incubated in high glucose conditions with 20 nM C-peptide, a statistical difference (p<0.05) was observed between the samples with no leptin and the samples that had 0.5 or 5 nM leptin, respectively.



Figure 5.2: C-peptide binding to erythrocytes in the presence of leptin in hyperglycemic conditions. Zn^{2+}/C -peptide = 20 nM, 7% erythrocytes, glucose = 15 mM, n = 4, error = sd. Significance from control indicated by * (p<0.05).

Figure 5.3 shows the results of initial studies examining the effect of glycated albumin on C-peptide binding to erythrocytes in the presence of leptin.



Figure 5.3: C-peptide binding to erythrocytes in the presence of leptin under normoglycemic conditions with glycated albumin. Zn^{2+}/C -peptide = 20 nM, 7% erythrocytes, glucose = 5.5 mM, n = 1. Solid bars = 10,000 nM BSA, striped bars = 5,000 nM BSA/5,000 nM gBSA, colors correspond to leptin concentration (white= 0 nM, light grey= 0.5 nM, and dark grey= 5 nM).

5.4 Discussion

Due to high variability of results for C-peptide binding experiments, more studies/biological replicates will be necessary for proper analysis. While no conclusions can be definitively made based on the current data, it is hypothesized that incubating erythrocytes with C-peptide in hyperglycemic conditions, with normal control erythrocytes and normal albumin, may, perhaps counterintuitively, result in an increase in cellular binding (or uptake) of C-peptide, especially in the presence of leptin. Since these studies have focused on normal, healthy cells which have not been chronically exposed to hyperglycemic conditions (and therefore have not accumulated oxidative stress/cell rigidity associated with diabetes), the consequence could be that cellular utilization/metabolism of glucose would initially increase, to lower blood glucose levels. If C-peptide/albumin/leptin are key players in glucose metabolism of the erythrocyte, it follows that C-peptide binding and C-peptide-associated cellular activity (ATP release, GLUT1 translocation and perhaps downstream NO release) should increase under these circumstances. Further studies are needed to investigate this hypothesis, and comparison between normal and diabetic erythrocytes will be essential.

To investigate the ability of leptin to carry C-peptide in the presence of gBSA (Figure 5.3), which can less effectively act as a carrier molecule compared to BSA,^{150, 160, 271, 327} experiments were performed with buffer containing a known amount of gBSA. Initial experiments failed due to the cells being washed in AF-PSS, which increased cell lysis and prevented accurate measurement of C-peptide. Therefore, a successful experiment was only performed once. It is hard to make any speculations based on the results of a

single experiment. While it appears there may be a trend of increased C-peptide binding to erythrocytes in the presence of leptin, the effect of gBSA cannot be established. It is hypothesized that reducing the amount of BSA in the samples would result in increased non-specific binding of C-peptide to the microcentrifuge tubes. Therefore, the apparent increase in binding of C-peptide in the presence of AF-PSS containing 5,000 nM BSA (4 nM, in comparison to typical results¹⁴⁹ for binding of C-peptide to erythrocytes in regular PSS buffer (containing 75 µM BSA) of approximately 2 nM, or 2 pmol) may simply be a consequence of experimental design. As a reminder, the C-peptide ELISA measurement of C-peptide binding to erythrocytes is an indirect method measurement based on the measured amount of C-peptide remaining in the supernatant after incubation subtracted from the initial amount added. Therefore, if control samples indicated that exactly 20 nM C-peptide was added to the samples and approximately 16 nM C-peptide was measured in the supernatant of the sample with 10,000 nM BSA and no leptin (white unshaded bar, far left), it could mean that 4 nM C-peptide bound to the erythrocytes. However, what is more likely is that a decrease in BSA in samples would lead to an increase in non-specific binding, so that 2 nM (4 nM minus 2 nM), or more, of the unaccounted 4 nM of C-peptide, may be bound to the microcentrifuge tube or non-specifically to the cell surface, instead of specifically bound to cell receptor(s) of interest.

It may be useful in future research to modify the method of analysis of C-peptide binding to erythrocytes. This was attempted in the current research, by labeling C-peptide with ^{99m}Tc. While C-peptide can be successfully labeled by attachment of HYNIC to its N-terminus, purification of the labeled compound and determination of its concentration was problematic. More specifically, due to the small size of the peptide, separation of the

labeled compound from free ^{99m}Tc could not be achieved consistently. Separation was attempted using size-exclusion column chromatography as well as high performance liquid chromatography.³⁵⁹ Because of the half-life of ^{99m}Tc (~six hours), a fast and efficient separation method is important for successful use of this label. Another issue that was encountered was determination of concentration of the labeled compound. Because Cpeptide does not contain aromatic amino acids (tryptophan, phenylalanine, and tyrosine), Lowry assay could not be used to determine its concentration. BCA assay is dependent on the presence of cysteine, tyrosine, or tryptophan residues, which C-peptide does not contain. Finally, Bradford assay could not be used because C-peptide lacks arginine and lysine amino acids. While C-peptide ELISA could be used, there were additional safety requirements as the whole ELISA would then be considered radioactive. Moreover, using ELISA assay to determine protein concentration adds additional time to the experiment. If a fast and efficient purification method of C-peptide from free ^{99m}Tc can be realized, perhaps this method can be useful in future studies. Alternatively, C-peptide could be labeled with a radioisotope with a longer half-life, such as ¹⁴C, which has a half-life of $5,730 \pm 40$ years.³⁶⁰ However, trace metal contaminants in the commercially purchased peptide would still be a concern, so additional purification would be required (and verification of purity), which would raise concerns for equipment contamination.

In terms of advancing the current studies, experiments with normal/high glucose and gBSA should be continued. Experiments could also investigate the combined effect of hyperglycemic and gBSA on leptin interaction with the erythrocyte in the presence of C-peptide. Most importantly, investigations of C-peptide binding to diabetic erythrocytes in the presence of leptin should be pursued.

5.5 Overall Conclusions and Future Directions

This dissertation has assessed leptin interaction with erythrocytes using different techniques, including leptin ELISA, as well as via measurements with a newly created ^{99m}Tc-leptin conjugate. These interactions were successfully analyzed directly using ^{99m}Tc-leptin in a variety of conditions, including high and low concentrations of C-peptide and leptin, as well as in the absence or presence of Zn²⁺, C-peptide, and albumin. Analysis of C-peptide and leptin interaction was attempted using ultrafiltration dialysis and successfully evaluated using SPR. Finally, this dissertation launched investigation of how C-peptide and leptin interact with erythrocytes in hyperglycemic conditions. However, despite the progress that has been made, there are many questions that remain unanswered and areas of interest that remain unexplored that will be useful for advancing our knowledge of the role of C-peptide and leptin in microvascular blood flow dynamics in future research. Some of the key areas will be discussed next.

5.5.1 Identification of C-peptide and Leptin Receptor(s) on the Erythrocyte

The current studies have investigated leptin from the standpoint of its association with C-peptide³⁶¹ and a potential collaborative role with Zn^{2+} and C-peptide in promoting microvascular blood flow. From this standpoint, there are several related studies that could be performed to confirm this activity and identify a candidate receptor. For instance, studies of erythrocyte deformability and endothelial NO release associated with a Zn^{2+}/C -peptide/leptin combination will be useful for providing additional evidence in

support of a role for Zn²⁺/C-peptide/leptin in regulation of microvascular blood flow, which would provide additional evidence supporting the existence of a target receptor on the erythrocyte.

Indeed, erythrocytes possess several receptors of unknown function.³⁶² Although specific binding of leptin to erythrocytes has been established in separate reports,^{275, 304} a leptin receptor (or receptors) on the erythrocyte has not been definitively identified. Koliakos and colleagues confirmed specific binding of FITC-leptin to the erythrocyte.³⁰⁴ In these studies, a role for leptin in activation of the Na⁺ -H⁺ exchanger (NHE 1), which is involved in functions including regulation of intracellular pH and cell volume,³⁶³ was investigated. Although leptin was shown to increase NHE 1 activity, and specific binding of FITC-leptin was demonstrated independently using Scatchard analysis,³⁶¹ a cellular receptor for leptin was not determined. It was hypothesized that the receptor in question must be a short form of the leptin receptor (OB-Rs), since the long form of the leptin receptor is located primarily in the hypothalamus.^{364, 365}

In terms of how a leptin related C-peptide receptor on the erythrocyte might be identified, one possibility is to start with what is currently known regarding the signal transduction mechanism of C-peptide. Specifically, C-peptide has been demonstrated to initiate intracellular signaling cascades that are typically associated with activation of a G-protein-coupled receptor (GPCR), including activation of protein kinase C and mobilization of calcium.³⁶⁶ The effects of C-peptide have been shown to be sensitive to pertussis toxin^{366, 367} which catalyzes adenosine diphosphate-ribosylation of the α_i subunits of the heterotrimeric G-protein, thereby preventing G-proteins from interacting with GPCRs on the cell membrane.³⁶⁸ A place to start may be to perform investigation of

the known C-peptide and leptin associated erythrocyte activities, including as ATP release and GLUT1 translocation, and perhaps erythrocyte deformability and endothelial NO release if they are confirmed, in the presence of pertussis toxin. If the Zn²⁺/C-peptide/leptin effects are reduced or eliminated by pertussis toxic, it would provide evidence that the mechanism has similar associations. If this is the case, a receptor knockdown strategy may be useful to narrow down the list of possible candidate GPCRs.⁸⁰

Although capture of receptor complexes in complete integrity and in sufficient quantity and purity for characterization remains a key challenge in receptor research,³⁶⁹ it may be possible in future research to utilize a receptor pull down strategy to isolate a leptin/C-peptide receptor. Recently developed methods to identify proteomic^{p,4} components of receptor complexes in cells may be useful in characterization of a C-peptide/leptin receptor on erythrocytes. Many methods have been developed to elucidate the proteomic portion of receptor complexes on in cells,^{370, 371} and a frequently used approach involves use of 1- or 2-dimensional gel electrophoresis for separating an isolated receptor component, following with mass spectrometry analysis to identify protein interactions may be accomplished using Western blotting and colocalization of native receptor and known binding protein within cells.³⁷³ Advantages offered by mass spectrometric analysis including high-throughput capabilities, easy automation and rapid

P Proteomics – The study of proteomes (the entirety of proteins that may be expressed by an organism, tissue, or cell) and their functions.

protein identification make the technique well-adapted for proteomic evaluations of complex protein mixtures including those of native receptor complex in cells.³⁷²

5.5.2 Investigation of Leptin and Zn²⁺ Interaction

Studies which have shown that obese individuals have low zinc and high leptin levels hint that there is a relationship between zinc and nutrition, and as a consequence, between zinc and leptin.³⁷⁴ Nascimento Marreiro et al. investigated the effect of zinc supplementation on serum insulin levels and insulin resistance in obese women. Over the course of the 4-week study, it was found that circulating insulin levels decreased significantly in the zinc supplemented group compared to a control group. Leptin levels did not change, although it was noted that more studies would be needed, including studies on individuals with documented insulin resistance and supplementation with different dosages of zinc for different durations of time.³⁷⁵ Other studies have suggested that zinc may regulate serum leptin production in humans.^{376, 377}

Although this dissertation emphasized analysis of the interaction between Cpeptide and leptin due to the known relationship of C-peptide with Zn²⁺ and albumin that was investigated in 2015,¹⁴⁹ it will be important in future investigations to analyze the binding relationship between leptin and Zn²⁺. While previous studies have analyzed Zn²⁺ interaction with the erythrocyte in the presence of leptin,²⁷⁵ binding analysis between the ligands themselves will be important in future studies. Although equilibrium dialysis was not successful for the analysis of C-peptide and leptin interaction due to their size similarity, it should be readily adaptable for a simple and cost-efficient analysis of leptin

and Zn²⁺ interaction. Creation and optimization of a 3D-printed ultrafiltration device fitted with 7 kDa molecular weight cutoff membrane could be utilized to study this binding relationship, and equilibrium binding constants could be determined using ⁶⁵Zn²⁺ as the analyte and recombinant human leptin as the ligand.

5.5.3 Other Considerations for Development of a Zn²⁺/C-peptide/Leptin Diabetes Therapeutic

It is important to note, as previously discussed in this dissertation, that while there are reports of beneficial effects of leptin addition to individuals with type 2 diabetes,²⁰⁸ there is very little evidence of improvement in blood flow upon addition of leptin to individuals with type 1 diabetes. A lack of endogenous C-peptide in the circulation of people with type 1 diabetes may explain this difference and offer a potential solution for this group. However, association with Zn^{2+} , as well as a carrier molecule appear to be a requirement for C-peptide biological activity.^{149, 275} This raises concerns to how beneficial administration of C-peptide alone would be for improving microvascular blood flow in type 1 diabetes, a group that would be expected to have less functional albumin, due to increased non-enzymatic glycation in the presence of chronically elevated blood glucose. Indeed, this may explain the lack of successful clinical trials for administration of C-peptide therapeutic. Leptin, which is not subject to non-enzymatic glycation due to its short half-life, could be useful in formulation of a Zn²⁺ and C-peptide therapeutic in this circumstance.

There are also factors to consider for development of a peptide hormone-based therapeutic that would be beneficial for improving microvascular blood flow in type 2 diabetes. Metabolic syndrome, which increase the risk for type 2 diabetes as well as cardiovascular disease, is a major public health issue worldwide.³⁷⁸ There are a constellation of abnormalities associated with metabolic syndrome, including glucose intolerance, insulin resistance, central obesity, dyslipidemia and hypertension.³⁷⁸ Although results of preclinical studies have shown that leptin can improve insulin resistance, glucose and lipid imbalances in mouse models of type 2 diabetes, 202-205 results of at least two recent clinical trials have indicated that leptin is either not effective or only minimally effective in improving diabetes and insulin resistance in obese people affected by type 2 diabetes.^{206, 207} The potential of leptin administration to restore metabolic imbalance appears to be greatest in those who are leptin deficient.²⁰⁸ However, in metabolic syndrome, leptin levels are paradoxically elevated, and individuals are resistant to the effects of leptin. Furthermore, it has also been reported erythrocytes from a type 2 diabetic rat model display an apparent resistance to Zn²⁺ -activated C-peptide.¹⁴⁷

Although the cause of resistance to C-peptide, insulin and leptin effects are not definitively known, different theories have been proposed^{32, 147, 379} and it is likely to be multifactorial. While pharmaceuticals have been developed to help alleviate this resistance and associated metabolic abnormalities, pharmaceuticals have many potential side effects and risks and must be carefully considered for benefits and drawbacks. However, it is important to note, that in the case of metabolic syndrome, perhaps the most important therapeutic intervention may simply be diet and lifestyle interventions.^{378, 380}

5.5.4 The Role Adipocyte-Derived Cytokine Hormones in Blood Flow

It has recently been discovered that adipose tissue, in addition to leptin, secretes a variety of other cytokines, collectively termed adipokines, that are of metabolic importance. Adiponectin, for instance, appears to antagonize the effects of leptin, with studies showing that adiponectin has anti-inflammatory properties and may negatively regulate atherogenesis.³⁶¹ Resistin, a member of a recently discovered family of cysteinerich secretory proteins termed 'resistin-like molecules' (RELM) or 'found in the inflammatory zone' (FIZZ), was first identified in a screen of potential targets for the thiazolidinedione (TZD) class of insulin sensitizers in 3T3-L1 adipocytes.³⁸¹ Resistin appears to be necessary for regulation of adipogenesis, glucose homeostasis and possibly inflammation.³⁸² Adipokines network in an intricate manner to regulate endothelial function and further studies will increase our understanding of this process. Development of therapeutics involving adipokines, such as leptin, is an attractive idea with implications for treatment of atherosclerosis and diabetes.³⁶¹

5.5.5 Interaction of C-peptide and Leptin with Other Proteins of Interest

Recent (unpublished) Spence lab research has investigated potential interaction of casein, transferrin, and collagen with C-peptide. Casein is an inclusive name for a family of milk proteins consisting of four peptides which differ in amino acid, phosphorus and carbohydrate content but are similar in amphiphilic character. In most conditions, casein molecules congregate into spherical micelles. Due to its unique properties and

abundant availability in bovine milk (~2.75% of content) casein has applications in science, pharmaceutical and food industries. Due to its ability tendency form micelles, casein has potential to serve as a carrier for delivery biologically active agents in pharmaceutical applications.³⁸³ Much like bovine serum albumin, casein is a commonly used blocking agent in biological assays. Research (unpublished) research in the Spence group has demonstrated by C-peptide ELISA analysis (following incubation of 20 nM C-peptide and 7% (normal, healthy control) erythrocytes in AF-PSS with phycological levels of casein for two hours at 37 °C) that C-peptide has no detectable binding to erythrocytes in the presence casein (but no albumin or leptin), for this reason, it may be useful to substitute casein as a blocking agent (in place of BSA) in future leptin/C-peptide/Zn²⁺ studies to investigate now these components interact and how biological activities are affected in the absence of albumin.

Transferrin is a metal-binding β-globulin found in vertebrate blood plasma and other fluids outside the cell. It is believed to modulate iron changes between sites of absorption, storage and use, with the most important center storage and utilization being the bone marrow.³⁸⁴ Free iron can enhance the production of free radicals which leads to oxidative damage like lipid peroxidation. Transferrin plays an important role in antioxidant defense by converting iron into a redox inactive form. Abnormalities in transferrin function due to changes in concentration and increased glycation seen in diabetic states may be related to chronic complications.³⁸⁵ By C-peptide ELISA analysis in recent Spence group studies, similar to the studies with casein, no detectable interaction of C-peptide with erythrocytes was observed in the presence of transferrin.

Another protein of interest is collagen. Collagen is the most abundant protein found in animals.³⁸⁶ Much like casein, collagen has also been widely used for medical applications. Due to its safety and biocompatibility because of its biological characteristics like weak antigenicity and biodegradability, collagen is useful as a drug delivery system in many settings.³⁸⁷ Nonenzymatic glycation of collagen which leads to crosslinking of the protein has been implicated in diabetic complications.³⁸⁸⁻³⁹⁰ Recent Spence group research on analysis of (20 nM) C-peptide binding to (7%) healthy control erythrocytes in the presence of physiological levels of collagen, by C-peptide ELISA analysis, has revealed a minimal C-peptide uptake/binding to the erythrocytes of 0.21 \pm 0.14 pmoles (in comparison to a C-peptide uptake/binding of 0.74 \pm 0.11 picomoles when the erythrocytes were incubated with leptin under similar conditions).

5.5.6 Glycated Hemoglobin and Diabetic Complications

Glycated hemoglobin, in a similar manner to glycated albumin, is formed by the non-enzymatic linkage of glucose or other reducing sugars to the amino-terminal valine of the β -chain of hemoglobin.¹² Data from the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (2008) assessed the effect of A1C variability on the risk of nephropathy and retinopathy in individuals with type 1 diabetes, to find that long term fluctuations in blood glucose control contribute to development of these microvascular complications.¹⁴ Therefore, it may be desirable in future research to conduct studies evaluating the relationship between glycated hemoglobin level and leptin binding. For instance, a study may be performed in which known amounts of glycated hemoglobin are introduced into

erythrocyte samples and incubated with an incrementing series of ^{99m}Tc-leptin with or without 20 nM C-peptide to determine leptin binding as a function of HbA1c. Similar studies could be performed to evaluate the effect on C-peptide binding using C-peptide ELISA or a future optimized C-peptide labeling method. Similarly, it will be desirable to examine C-peptide biological activity on erythrocytes, in combination with Zn²⁺, as a function of A1C level. Understanding the relationship between C-peptide to other circulating molecules their interaction with erythrocytes in the pathophysiological environment of diabetes will be important in future studies aimed at addressing microvascular complications.

APPENDIX



"Any intelligent fool can make things bigger and more complex. It takes a lot of genius

and a lot of courage to move in the opposite direction."

- Albert Einstein

"No human is limited."

– Eliud Kipchoge

REFERENCES

REFERENCES

1. American Diabetes Association. Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Care* **2014**, *37*, S81-90.

2. World Health Organization. Global Report on Diabetes. 2016.

3. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National Diabetes Statistics Report. 2020.

4. Oxford Languages. Oxford Languages and Google. https://languages.oup.com/google-dictionary-en (accessed Aug 10, 2021).

5. DKA (ketoacidosis) and ketones. American Diabetes Association. https://www.diabetes.org/diabetes/complications/dka-ketoacidosis-ketones. (accessed Oct 16, 2020).

6. Mayo Clinic. Diseases & Conditions. Diabetes. Symptoms & Causes https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/diabetes/symptoms-causes/syc-20371444 (accessed May 18, 2021).

7. Report of the expert committee on the diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Care* **1997**, *20*, 1183-97.

8. American Diabetes Association. A1C. https://www.diabetes.org/a1c (accessed Aug 5.

9. International Expert Committee. International Expert Committee Report on the Role of the A1C Assay in the Diagnosis of Diabetes. *Diabetes Care* **2009**, *3*2, 1327-34.

10. Donnelly, R.; Emslie-Smith, A. M.; Gardner, I. D.; Morris, A. D., Vascular complications of diabetes. *Br. Med. J.* **2000**, *320* (7241), 1062-6.

11. Fowler, M. D., Microvascular and macrovascular complications of diabetes. *Clin. Diabetes* **2008**, *26* (2), 77-82.

12. Chandalia, H. B.; Krishnaswamy, P. R., Glycated hemoglobin. *Curr Sci* **2002**, 1522-32.

13. University of California, Los Angeles College. Chemistry and Biochemistry. Illustrated Glossary of Organic Chemistry. https://www.chem.ucla.edu/~harding/IGOC/R/reducing_sugar.html (accessed Aug 5, 2021). 14. Kilpatrick, E. S.; Rigby, A. S.; Atkin, S. L., A1C variability and the risk of microvascular complications in type 1 diabetes: data from the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial. *Diabetes Care* **2008**, *31* (11), 2198-2202.

15. Retinopathy. Definition of Retinopathy by Merriam-Webster. https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/retinopathy (accessed Nov 25, 2020).

16. Kanski, J. J., *Acquired macular disorders and related conditions*. Elsevier London, 2007; Vol. 648.

17. Nicholl, D. J.; Appleton, J. P., Clinical neurology: why this still matters in the 21st century. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* **2015**, *86* (2), 229-33.

18. U.S. Department of Health & Human Services. National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. Health Topics. Atherosclerosis. https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health-topics/atherosclerosis (accessed Nov 25, 2020).

19. Medical Dictionary. Hyperlipidemia. https://medicaldictionary.thefreedictionary.com/hyperlipidemia (accessed Nov 25, 2020).

20. McVeigh, G. E.; Brennan, G. M.; Johnston, G. D.; McDermott, B. J.; McGrath, L. T.; Henry, W. R.; Andrews, J. W.; Hayes, J. R., Impaired endothelium-dependent and independent vasodilation in patients with type-2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus. *Diabetologia* **1992**, *35*, 771-6.

21. Williams, S. B.; Cusco, J. A.; Roddy, M. A.; Johnstone, M. T.; Creager, M. A., Impaired nitric oxide-mediated vasodilation in patients with non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.* **1996**, *27* (3), 567-74.

22. Ebers, P., The Papyrus Ebers, the greatest Egyptian medical document. Levin & Munksgaard: Copenhagen; Oxford University Press: London: 1937.

23. Algaonker, S. S., *Diabetes Mellitus as Seen in Ancient Ayurvedic Medicine*. Indian Press: Bombay (India), 1972.

24. Araetus, C., On Causes and Symptoms of Chronic Diseases. London Sydenham Society: London, (UK), 1856; p 138.

25. Ahmed, A. M., History of diabetes mellitus. Saudi Med. J. 2002, 23 (4), 373-8.

26. McGrew, R. E., In *Encyclopedia of Medical History, 1st Ed.*, McMillam Press: London, (United Kingdom), 1985; pp 74-297.

27. Dobson, M., Experiments and observations on urine in diabetes. *Medical Observations and Enquiries* **1776,** *5*, 298-316.

28. Von Mering, J.; Minkowski, O., Diabetes mellitus nach, pancreasextirpation. *Archiva de Experiementa de Pathologica Physiologica* **1889**, *26*, 371-8.

29. Pratt, J. H., A reappraisal of researches leading to the discovery of insulin. *J. Hist. Med.* **1954**, 281-9.

30.JohnsHopkins.PancreasFunction.https://pathology.jhu.edu/pancreas/basics/function#:~:text=The%20exocrine%20cells%20(acinar%20cells,in%20the%20digestion%20of%20food. (accessed July 14, 2021).

31. Simoni, R. D.; Hill, R. L.; Vaughan, M., The discovery of insulin: the work of Frederick Banting and Charles Best. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2002**, 277 (26), e15.

32. Wilcox, G., Insulin and insulin resistance. *Clin. Biochem. Rev.* **2005**, *26* (2), 19.

33. Abel, J. J., Crystalline insulin. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 1926, 12, 132-6.

34. Blundell, T. L.; Cutfield, J. F.; Dodson, E. J.; Dodson, G. G.; Hodgkin, D. C.; Mercola, D. A., *The crystal structure of rhombohedral 2 zinc insulin*. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press: 1972; Vol. 36.

35. Blundell, T. L.; Cutfield, J. F.; Cutfield, S. M.; Dodson, E. J.; Dodson, G. G.; Hodgkin, D. C.; Mercola, D. A., Three-dimensional atomic structure of insulin and its relationship to activity. *Diabetes* **1972**, *21*, 492-505.

36. Blundell, T. L.; Cutfield, J. F.; Cutfield, S. M.; Dodson, E. J.; Dodson, G. G.; Hodgkin, D. C.; Mercola, D. A.; Vijayan, M., Atomic positions in rhombohedral 2-zinc insulin crystals. *Nature* **1971**, *231* (5304), 506-11.

37. Baker, E. N.; Blundell, T. L.; Cutfield, J. F.; Dodson, E. J.; Dodson, G. G.; hodgkin, D. M. C.; Hubbard, R. E.; Isaacs, N. W.; Reynolds, C. D.; Sakabe, K.; Sakabe, N., The structure of 2Zn pig insulin crystals at 1.5 Å resolution. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B* **1988**, *319* (1195), 369-456.

38. Pittman, I.; Philipson, L.; Steiner, D. Insulin biosynthesis, secretion, structure, and structure-activity relationships. http://diabetesmanager.pbworks.com/w/page/17680216/Insulin%20Biosynthesis,%20Se cretion,%20Structure,%20and%20Structure-Activity%20Relationships.

39. Smith, G. D.; Pangborn, W. A.; Blessing, R. H., The structure of T6 human insulin at 1.0 Å resolution. *Acta Crystallogr. D* **2003**, *59* (3), 474-82.

40. De Meyts, P., Insulin and its receptor: structure, function and evolution. *Bioessays* **2004**, *26* (12), 1351-62.

41. Breydo, L.; Uversky, V. N., Chapter 1 - Molecular Mechanisms of Protein Misfolding. 2014.

42. Egea, P. F.; Stroud, R. M.; Walter, P., Targeting proteins to membranes: structure of the signal recognition particle. *Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol.* **2005**, *15* (2), 213-20.

43. Chan, S. J.; Keim, P.; Steiner, D. F., Cell-free synthesis of rat preproinsulins: characterization and partial amino acid sequence determination. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1976**, *73* (6), 1964-8.

44. Lomedico, P. T.; Chan, S. J.; Steiner, D. F.; Saunders, G. F., Immunological and chemical characterization of bovine preproinsulin. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1977**, *252* (22), 7971-8.

45. Patzelt, C.; Labrecque, A. D.; Duguid, J. R.; Carroll, R. J.; Keim, P. S.; Heinrikson, R. L.; Steiner, D. F., Detection and kinetic behavior of preproinsulin in pancreatic islets. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1978**, *75* (3), 1260-4.

46. Huang, X. F.; Arvan, P., Intracellular transport of proinsulin in pancreatic β-cells: structural maturation probed by disulfide accessibility. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1995**, *270* (35), 20417-23.

47. Munro, S.; Pelham, H. R. B., A C-terminal signal prevents secretion of luminal ER proteins. *Cell* **1987**, *48* (5), 899-907.

48. Steiner, D. F.; Kemmler, W.; Tager, H. S.; Peterson, J. D., Proteolytic processing in the biosynthesis of insulin and other proteins. *Fed. Proc.* **1974**, *33* (10), 2105-15.

49. Nishi, M.; Sanke, T.; Nagamatsu, S.; Bell, G. I.; Steiner, D. F., Islet amyloid polypeptide. A new beta cell secretory product related to islet amyloid deposits. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1990**, *265* (8), 4173-6.

50. Banting, F. G.; Campbell, W. R.; Fletcher, A. A., Further clinical experience with insulin (pancreatic extracts) in the treatment of diabetes mellitus. *Br. Med. J.* **1923**, *1* (3236), 8.

51. Bryant, N. J.; Govers, R.; James, D. E., Regulated transport of the glucose transporter GLUT4. *Nat. Rev.* **2002**, *3*, 267-77.

52. Wood, I. S.; Trayhurn, P., Glucose transporters (GLUT and SGLT): expanded families of sugar transport proteins. *Br. J. Nutr.* **2003**, *89* (1), 3-9.

53. Duckworth, W. C.; Bennett, R. G.; Hamel, F. G., Insulin degradation: progress and potential. *Endocr. Rev.* **1998**, *19* (5), 608-24.

54. Steiner, D. F.; Cunningham, D.; Spigelman, L.; Aten, B., Insulin biosynthesis: evidence for a precursor. *Science* **1967**, *157* (3789), 697-700.

55. Klostermeyer, H.; Humbel, R. E., The chemistry and biochemistry of insulin. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **1966**, *5* (9), 807-22.

56. Smith, L. F., Species variation in the amino acid sequence of insulin. *Am. J. Med.* **1966**, *40* (5), 662-6.

57. Steiner, D. F., Division of Biochemistry: Evidence for a precursor in the biosynthesis of insulin. *Trans. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* **1967**, *30* (1 Series II), 60-8.

58. Givol, D.; De Lorenzo, F.; Goldberg, R. F.; Afinsen, C. B., Disulfide interchange and the three-dimensional structure of proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1965**, *53* (3), 676.

59. Steiner, D. F.; Oyer, P. E., The biosynthesis of insulin and a probable precursor of insulin by a human islet cell adenoma. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1967,** *57* (2), 473.

60. Clark, J. L.; Steiner, D. F., Insulin biosynthesis in the rat: demonstration of two proinsulins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1969**, *62* (1), 278-85.

61. Grant, P. T.; Reid, K. B. M., Biosynthesis of an insulin precursor by islet tissue of cod (Gadus callarias). *Biochem. J.* **1968**, *110* (2), 281-8.

62. Tung, A. K.; Yip, C. C., The biosynthesis of insulin and 'proinsulin' in foetal bovine pancreas. *Diabetologia* **1968**, *4* (1), 68-70.

63. Chance, R. E.; Ellis, R. M.; Bromer, W. W., Porcine proinsulin: characterization and amino acid sequence. *Science* **1968**, *161* (3837), 165-7.

64. Steiner, D. F.; Clark, J. L.; Nolan, C.; Rubenstein, A. H.; Margoliash, E.; Aten, B.; Oyer, P. E., Proinsulin and the biosynthesis of insulin *Recent Progr. Horm. Res.* **1969**, *25*, 207.

65. Steiner, D. F.; Hallund, O.; Rubenstein, A.; Cho, S.; Bayliss, C., Isolation and properties of proinsulin, intermediate forms, and other minor components from crystalline bovine insulin. *Diabetes* **1968**, *17* (12), 725-36.

66. Clark, J. L.; Cho, S.; Rubenstein, A. H.; Steiner, D. F., Isolation of a proinsulin connecting peptide fragment (C-peptide) from bovine and human pancreas. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **1969**, *35* (4), 456-61.

67. Rubenstein, A. H.; Clark, J. L.; Melani, F.; Steiner, D. F., Secretion of proinsulin C-peptide by pancreatic β cells and its circulation in blood. *Nature* **1969**, *224* (5220), 697-9.

68. Steiner, D. F., On the role of the proinsulin C-peptide. *Diabetes* **1978**, *27*, 145-8.

69. Wahren, J.; Ekberg, K.; Johansson, J.; Henriksson, M.; Pramanik, A.; Johansson, B.-L.; Rigler, R.; Jörnvall, H., Role of C-peptide in human physiology. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* **2000**, *278* (5), E759-68.

70. Hagen, C.; Faber, O.; Binder, C.; Alberti, K., Lack of metabolic effect of C-peptide in normal subjects and juvenile diabetic-patients. *Acta Endocrinologica* **1977**, *85* (29).

71. Hoogwerf, B. J.; Bantle, J. P.; Gaenslen, H. E.; Greenberg, B. Z.; Senske, B. J.; Francis, R.; Goetz, F. C., Infusion of synthetic human C-peptide does not affect plasma glucose, serum insulin, or plasma glucagon in healthy subjects. *Metabolism* **1986**, *35* (2), 122-5.

72. Dryburgh, J. R.; Hampton, S. M.; Marks, V., Endocrine pancreatic control of the release of gastric inhibitory polypeptide. *Diabetologia* **1980**, *19* (4), 397-401.

73. Toyota, T.; Abe, K.; Kudo, M., Inhibitory action of rat insulin and synthetic rat C-peptide on insulin secretion in the perfused rat pancreas. *Acta Diabetol. Lat.* **1977**, *14* (5-6), 250.

74. Toyota, T.; Abe, K.; Kudo, M.; Kimura, K.; Goto, Y., Inhibitory effects of synthetic rat C-peptide 1 on insulin secretion in the isolated perfused rat pancreas. *Tohoku J. Exp. Med.* **1975**, *117*, 79-83.

75. Wójcikowski, C.; Fussgänger, R.; Pfeiffer, E., Inhibition of insulin and glucagon secretion of the isolated rat pancreas by synthetic human and rat C-peptide. In *C-peptide*, Beyer, J.; Krause, U.; Naegele, W., Eds. Schnetzor-Verlag: Konstanz, 1977; pp 75-88.

76. Wójcikowski, C. Z.; Maier, V.; Dominiak, K.; Fussgänger, R.; Pfeiffer, E. F., Effects of synthetic rat C-peptide in normal and diabetic rats. *Diabetologia* **1983**, *25* (3), 288-90.

77. Leighton, E.; Sainsbury, C. A.; Jones, G. C., A practical review of C-peptide testing in diabetes. *Diabetes Ther.* **2017**, *8* (3), 475-87.

78. Bonser, A. M.; Garcia-Webb, P.; Harrison, L. C., C-peptide measurement: methods and clinical utility. *Crit. Rev. Clin. Lab. Sci.* **1984**, *19* (4), 297-352.

79. Venugopal, S. K.; Mowery, M. L.; Jiala, I., *C Peptide*. StatPearls Publishing: Treasure Island (FL), 2020.

80. Yosten, G. L.; Maric-Bilkan, C.; Luppi, P.; Wahren, J., Physiological effects and therapeutic potential of proinsulin C-peptide. *Am. J. Phsiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* **2014**.

81. Pirart, J., Diabetes mellitus and its degenerative complications, a prospective study of 4400 patients observed between 1947 and 1973. *Diabetes Care* **1978**, *1*, 168-88 and 252-63.

82. Clements, R. S., Diabetic neuropathy - new concepts of its etiology. *Diabetes* **1979**, *28* (6), 604-11.

83. Sjöberg, S.; Gunnarsson, R.; Östman, J., Residual C-peptide production in type I diabetes mellitus: a comparison of different methods of assessment and influence on glucose control. *Acta Med. Scand.* **1983**, *214* (3), 231-7.

84. Rogers, S.; Silink, M., Residual insulin secretion in insulin dependent diabetes mellitus. *Arch. Dis. Child.* **1985**, *60* (3), 200-3.

85. Sjöberg, S.; Gunnarsson, R.; Gjötterberg, M.; Lefvert, A. K.; Persson, A.; Östman, J., Residual insulin production, glycaemic control and prevalence of microvascular lesions and polyneuropathy in long-term Type 1 (insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus. *Diabetologia* **1987**, *30* (4), 208-13.

86. Pinger, C. W.; Entwistle, K. E.; Bell, T. M.; Liu, Y.; Spence, D. M., C-peptide replacement therapy in type 1 diabetes: are we in the trough of disillusionment? *Mol. BioSyst.* **2017**, *13* (8), 1432-7.

87. Tager, H. S.; Steiner, D. F., Primary structures of the proinsulin connecting peptides of the rat and the horse. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1972**, *247* (24), 7936-40.

88. Ohtomo, Y.; Aperia, A.; Sahlgren, B.; Johansson, B.-L.; Wahren, J., C-peptide stimulates rat renal tubular Na+ K+ATPase activity in synergism with neuropeptide Y. *Diabetologia* **1996**, *39* (2), 199-205.

89. Ohtomo, Y.; Bergman, T.; Johansson, B.-L.; Jörnvall, H.; Wahren, J., Differential effects of proinsulin C-peptide fragments on Na+, K+ATPase activity of renal tubule segments. *Diabetologia* **1998**, *41* (3), 287-91.

90. Ido, Y.; Vindigni, A.; Chang, K.; Stramm, L.; Chance, R.; Heath, W. F.; DiMarchi, R. D.; Di Cera, E.; Williamson, J. R., Prevention of vascular and neural dysfunction in diabetic rats by C-peptide. *Science* **1997**, *277* (5325), 563-6.

91. Sugimoto, K.; Zhang, W.-X.; Xu, G.; Wahren, J.; Sima, A., Expression of insulin and IGF-I receptors' mRNAs in peripheral nerve of type 1 diabetic BB/W-rat: effects of C-peptide *Diabetologia* **1999**, *4*2, A291.

92. Wahren, J.; Owada, S.; Johansson, B.-L.; Berggren, P.-O.; Bertorello, A., C-peptide stimulates β -cell Na+K+ATPase activity: a negative feedback mechanism on insulin secretion? . *Diabetologia* **1996**, *39*, A71.

93. Djemli, A.; Gallice, P.; Coste, T.; Jannot, M.; Dufayet, D.; Raccah, D.; Vague, P., Ex vivo and in vitro effects of insulin and C-peptide on Na/K ATPase activity in red blood cell membranes of type 1 diabetic patients *Diabetologia* **1999**, *42*, A154.

94. Kunt, T.; Schneider, S.; Pfützner, A.; Goitum, K.; Engelbach, M.; Schauf, B.; Beyer, J.; Forst, T., The effect of human proinsulin C-peptide on erythrocyte deformability in patients with type I diabetes mellitus. *Diabetologia* **1999**, *42* (4), 465-71.

95. Jensen, M. E.; Messina, E. J., C-peptide induces a concentration-dependent dilation of skeletal muscle arterioles only in presence of insulin. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ.* **1999**, *276* (4), H1223-8.
96. Wahren, J.; Ekberg, K.; Jörnvall, H., C-peptide is a bioactive peptide. *Diabetologia* **2007**, *50* (3), 503-9.

97. Lindström, K.; Johansson, C.; Johnsson, E.; Haraldsson, B., Acute effects of C-peptide on the microvasculature of isolated perfused skeletal muscles and kidneys in rat. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* **1996**, *156* (1), 19-25.

98. Johansson, B.-L.; Pernow, J.; Wahren, J., Muscle vasodilation by C-peptide is NO-mediated. *Diabetologia* **1999**, *42*, A324.

99. Kunt, T.; Forst, T.; Closs, E.; Wallerath, U.; Förstermann, R.; Lehmann, R.; Pfützner, A.; Harzer, O.; Engelback, M.; Beyer, J., Activation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) by C-peptide. *Diabetologia* **1998**, *41*, A176.

100. Li, L.; Oshida, Y.; Kusunoki, M.; Yamanouchi, K.; Johansson, B.-L.; Wahren, J.; Sato, Y., Rat C-peptide I and II stimulate glucose utilization in STZ-induced diabetic rats. *Diabetologia* **1999**, *42* (8), 958-64.

101. Johansson, B.-L.; Kernell, A.; Sjöberg, S.; Wahren, J., Influence of combined C-peptide and insulin administration on renal function and metabolic control in diabetes type 1. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* **1993**, *77* (4), 976-81.

102. Johansson, B.-L.; Linde, B.; Wahren, J., Effects of C-peptide on blood flow, capillary diffusion capacity and glucose utilization in the exercising forearm of type 1 (insulin-dependent) diabetic patients. *Diabetologia* **1992**, *35* (12), 1151-8.

103. Sjöquist, M.; Huang, W.; Johansson, B.-L., Effects of C-peptide on renal function at the early stage of experimental diabetes. *Kidney Int.* **1998**, *54* (3), 758-64.

104. Johansson, B.-L.; Borg, K.; Fernqvist-Forbes, E.; Kernell, A.; Odergren, T.; Wahren, J., Beneficial effects of C-peptide on incipient nephropathy and neuropathy in patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetic Med.* **2000**, *17* (3), 181-9.

105. Johansson, B.-L.; Borg, K.; Fernqvist-Forbes, E.; Odergren, T.; Remahl, S.; Wahren, J., C-peptide improves autonomic nerve function in IDDM patients *Diabetologia* **1996**, *39* (6), 687-95.

106. Finotti, P.; Palatini, P., Reduction of erythrocyte (Na+-K+) ATPase activity in type 1 (insulin-dependent) diabetic subjects and its activation by homologous plasma. *Diabetologia* **1986**, *29* (9), 623-8.

107. Bareford, D.; Jennings, P. E.; Stone, P. C.; Baar, S.; Barnett, A. H.; Stuart, J., Effects of hyperglycaemia and sorbitol accumulation on erythrocyte deformability in diabetes mellitus *J. Clin. Pathol.* **1986**, *39* (7), 722-7.

108. Chimori, K.; Miyazaki, S.; Kosaka, J.; Sakanaka, A.; Yasuda, K.; Miura, K., Increased sodium influx into erythrocytes in diabetes mellitus and hypertension. *Clin. Exp. Hypertens. A* **1986**, *8* (2), 185-99.

109. Cohen, N. S.; Ekholm, J. E.; Luthra, M. G.; Hanahan, D. J., Biochemical characterization of density-separated human erythrocytes. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta. Biomembr.* **1976**, *419* (2), 229-42.

110. McMillan, D. E.; Utterback, N. G.; Puma, J. L., Reduced erythrocyte deformability in diabetes. *Diabetes* **1978**, *27* (9), 895-901.

111. Ernst, E.; Matrai, A., Altered red and white blood cell rheology in type II diabetes. *Diabetes* **1986**, *35* (12), 1412-5.

112. Baba, Y.; Kai, M.; Kamada, T.; Setoyama, S.; Otsuji, S., Higher levels of erythrocyte membrane microviscosity in diabetes. *Diabetes* **1979**, *28* (12), 1138-40.

113. Schmid-Schönbein, H.; Volger, E., Red-cell aggregation and red-cell deformability in diabetes. *Diabetes* **1976**, *25* (2), 897-902.

114. King, G. L.; Brownlee, M., The cellular and molecular mechanisms of diabetic complications. *Endocrin. Metab. Clin.* **1996**, *25* (2), 255-70.

115. Bailey, A. J.; Robins, S. P.; Tanner, M. J. A., Reducible components in the proteins of human erythrocyte membrane. *Biochem. Biophys. Acta* **1976**, *434* (1), 51-7.

116. Rabini, R. A.; Petruzzi, E.; Staffolani, R.; Tesei, M.; Furnelli, P.; Pazzagli, M.; Mazzanti, L., Diabetes mellitus and subjects' ageing: a study on the ATP content and ATP-related enzyme activities in human erythrocytes. *Eur. J. Clin. Invest.* **1997**, *27* (4), 327-32.

117. Persson, S. U.; Wohlfart, G.; Larsson, H.; Gustafson, A., Correlations between fatty acid composition of the erythrocyte membrane and blood rheology data. *Scand. J. Clin. Lab. Invest.* **1996**, *56* (2), 183-90.

118. Forst, T.; Kunt, T.; Pohlmann, T.; Goitom, K.; Engelbach, M.; Beyer, J.; Pfützner, A., Biological activity of C-peptide on the skin microcirculation in patients with insulindependent diabetes mellitus. *J. Clin. Invest.* **1998**, *101* (10), 2036-41.

119. Forst, T.; De La Tour, D. D.; Kunt, T.; Pfützner, A.; Goitom, K.; Pohlmann, T.; Schneider, S.; Johansson, B.-L.; Wahren, J.; Löbig, M., Effects of proinsulin C-peptide on nitric oxide, microvascular blood flow and erythrocyte Na+, K+ ATPase activity in diabetes mellitus type I. *Clin. Sci.* **2000**, *98* (3), 283-90.

120. Flatt, P. R.; Swanston-Flatt, S. K.; Hampton, S. M.; Bailey, C. J.; Marks, V., Specific binding of the C-peptide of proinsulin to cultured B-cells from a transplantable rat islet cell tumor. *Biosci. Rep.* **1986**, *6* (2), 193-9.

121. Zierath, J. R.; Handberg, A.; Tally, M.; Wallberg-Henriksson, H., C-peptide stimulates glucose transport in isolated human skeletal muscle independent of insulin receptor and tyrosine kinase activation. *Diabetologia* **1996** *39* (3), 306-13.

122. International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry, Enantiomers. In *Compendium* of Chemical Terminology, 2nd ed. (the "Gold Book") Online corrected version (2006-), 1997.

123. Doucet, A. L.; Katz, A.; Morel, F. R., Determination of Na-K-ATPase activity in single segments of the mammalian nephron. *Am. J. Phsiol. Renal Physiol.* **1979**, 237 (2), F105-13.

124. Aperia, A.; Holtbäck, U.; Syrén, M. L.; Svensson, L. B.; Fryckstedt, J.; Greengard, P., Activation/deactivation of renal Na+, K+-ATPase: a final common pathway for regulation of natriuresis. *FASEB J.* **1994**, *8* (6), 436-9.

125. Wahren, J.; Bertorello, A.; Johansson, B.-L.; Halban, P.; Jörnvall, H., Fragments of rat C-peptide stimulate β-cell Na+K+ATPase activity *Eur. J. Endocrinol.* **1997**, *136*, 16.

126. Eigen, M.; Rigler, R., Sorting single molecules: application to diagnostics and evolutionary biotechnology. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1994**, *91* (13), 5740-7.

127. Maiti, S.; Haupts, U.; Webb, W. W., Fluorescence correlation spectroscopy: diagnostics for sparse molecules. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1997**, *94* (22), 11753-7.

128. Rigler, R.; Pramanik, A.; Jonasson, P.; Kratz, G.; Jansson, O. T.; Nygren, P.-Å.; Ståhl, S.; Ekberg, K.; Johansson, B.-L.; Uhlén, S.; Uhlén, M.; Jörnvall, H.; Wahren, J., Specific binding of proinsulin C-peptide to human cell membranes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1999**, *96* (23), 13318-23.

129. Jehle, P. M.; Fussgaenger, R. D.; Angelus, N. K.; Jungwirth, R. J.; Salle, B.; Lutz, M. P., Proinsulin stimulates growth of small intestinal crypt-like cells acting via specific receptors. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* **1999**, *276* (2), C262-8.

130. Jehle, P. M.; Lutz, M. P.; Fussgaenger, R. D., High affinity binding sites for proinsulin in human IM-9 lymphoblasts. *Diabetologia* **1996**, *39* (4), 421-32.

131. Hamm, H. E., The many faces of G protein signaling. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1998**, 273 (2), 669-72.

132. Hagen, C.; Faber, O. K.; Binder, C.; Alberti, K. G., Lack of metabolic effect of C-peptide in normal subjects and juvenile diabetic-patients. *Acta Endocrinol.* **1977**, *85*, 29.

133. Jansson, L., Effects of C-peptide on splanchnic blood flow in anaesthetised rats. *Med. Sci. Res.* **1995**, *23*, 157.

134. Wu, W.; Oshida, Y.; Yang, W. P.; Li, L.; Ohsawa, I.; Sato, J.; Iwao, S.; Johansson, B.-L.; Wahren, J.; Sato, Y., Effect of peptide administration on whole body glucose utilization in STZ-induced diabetic rats. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* **1996**, *157* (2), 253-8.

135. Johansson, B.-L.; Pernow, J., C-peptide potentiates the vasoconstrictor effect of neuropeptide Y in insulin-dependent diabetic patients. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* **1999**, *165* (1), 39-44.

136. Johansson, B.-L.; Sjöberg, S.; Wahren, J., The influence of human C-peptide on renal function and glucose utilization in type 1 (insulin-dependent) diabetic patients. *Diabetologia* **1992**, *35* (2), 121-8.

137. Wallerath, T.; Kunt, T.; Forst, T.; Closs, E. I.; Lehmann, R.; Flohr, T.; Gabriel, M.; Schäfer, D.; Göpfert, A.; Pfützner, A.; Beyer, J., Stimulation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase by proinsulin C-peptide. *Nitric Oxide* **2003**, *9* (2), 95-102.

138. Sprague, R. S.; Ellsworth, M. L.; Stephenson, A. L.; Lanigro, A. J., ATP: the red blood cell link to NO and local control of the pulmonary circulation. *Am. J. Physiol.* **1996**, *271* (6), H2717-22.

139. Sprague, R. S.; Stephenson, A. H.; Dimmitt, R. A.; Weintraub, N. L.; Branch, C. A.; McMurdo, L.; Lonigro, A. J.; Weintraub, N. A., Effect of L-NAME on pressure-flow relationships in isolated rabbit lungs: role of red blood cells. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ.* **1995**, *269* (6), H1941-8.

140. Sprague, R. S.; Ellsworth, M. L.; Stephenson, A. H.; Kleinhenz, M. E.; Lonigro, A. J., Deformation-induced ATP release from human erythrocytes requires CFTR activity. *Am. J. Physiol.* **1998**, *275* (5), H1726-32.

141. Sprague, R. S.; Olearczyk, J. J.; Spence, D. M.; Stephenson, A. H.; Sprung, R. W.; Lonigro, A. J., Extracellular ATP signaling in the rabbit lung: erythrocytes as determinants of vascular resistance. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* **2003**, 285 (2), H693-700.

142. Meyer, J. A.; Froelich, J. M.; Reid, G. E.; Karunarathne, W. K.; Spence, D. M., Metal-activated C-peptide facilitates glucose clearance and the release of a nitric oxide stimulus via the GLUT1 transporter. *Diabetologia* **2008**, *51* (1), 175-82.

143. Sprague, R. S.; Stephenson, A. H.; Bowles, E. A.; Stumpf, M. S.; Lonigro, A. J., Reduced expression of Gi in erythrocytes of humans with type 2 diabetes is associated with impairment of both cAMP generation and ATP release. *Diabetes* **2006**, *55* (12), 3588-93.

144. Chimienti, F.; Favier, A.; Seve, M., ZnT-8, a pancreatic beta-cell-specific zinc transporter. *Biometals* **2005**, *18* (4), 313-7.

145. Hutton, J. C., The internal pH and membrane potential of the insulin-secretory granule. *Biochem. J.* **1982**, *204* (1), 171-8.

146. Orci, L.; Halban, P.; Perrelet, A.; Amherdt, M.; Ravazzola, M.; Anderson, R. G., pH-independent and-dependent cleavage of proinsulin in the same secretory vesicle. *J. Cell. Biol.* **1994**, *126* (5), 1149-56.

147. Meyer, J. A.; Subasinghe, W.; Sima, A. A. F.; Keltner, Z.; Reid, G. E.; Daleke, D.; Spence, D. M., Zinc-activated C-peptide resistance to the type 2 diabetic erythrocyte is associated with hyperglycemia-induced phosphatidylserine externalization and reversed by metformin. *Mol. Biosyst.* **2009**, *5*, 1157-62.

148. Shafqat, J.; Melles, E.; Sigmundsson, K.; Johansson, B.-L.; Ekberg, K.; Alvelius, G.; Henriksson, M.; Johansson, J.; Wahren, J.; Jörnvall, H., Proinsulin C-peptide elicits disaggregation of insulin resulting in enhanced physiological insulin effects. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* **2006**, *63* (15), 1805.

149. Liu, Y.; Chen, C.; Summers, S.; Medawala, W.; Spence, D. M., C-peptide and zinc delivery to erythrocytes requires the presence of albumin: implications in diabetes explored with a 3D-printed fluidic device. *Integr. Biol.* **2015**, *7*, 534-43.

150. Rondeau, P.; Bourdon, E., The glycation of albumin: structural and functional impacts. *Biochimie* **2011**, *93* (4), 645-58.

151. Henriksson, M.; Nordling, E.; Melles, E.; Shafqat, J.; Ståhlberg, M.; Ekberg, K.; Persson, B.; Bergman, T.; Wahren, J.; Johansson, J.; Jörnvall, H., Separate functional features of proinsulin C-peptide. *Cell. Mol. Life. Sci.* **2005**, *62* (15), 1772-8.

152. Hach, T.; Forst, T.; Kunt, T.; Ekberg, K.; Pfützner, A.; Wahren, J., C-peptide and its C-terminal fragments improve erythrocyte deformability in type 1 diabetes patients. *Exp. Diabetes Res.* **2008**, *2008*, 1-6.

153. Waldmann, T. A., *Albumin structure, function and uses*. Pergamon Press: New York, 1977.

154. Wood, M., Plasma drug binding: implications for anesthesiologists. *Anesth. Analg.* **1986**, *65* (7), 786-804.

155. Shaklai, N.; Garlick, R. L.; Bunn, H. F., Nonenzymatic glycosylation of human serum albumin alters its conformation and function. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1984**, *259* (6), 3812-7.

156. Karp, W. B.; Kinsley, M.; Subramanyam, S. B.; Robertson, A. F., Binding properties of glycosylated albumin and acetaldehyde albumin. *Alcohol Clin. Exp. Res.* **1985**, *9* (5), 429-32.

157. Okabe, N.; Hashizume, N., Drug binding properties of glycosylated human serum albumin as measured by fluorescence and circular dichroism. *Biol. Pharm. Bull.* **1994,** *17* (1), 16-21.

158. Wörner, W.; Pfleiderer, S.; Kratzer, W.; Rietbrock, N., Non-enzymatic glycation of human serum albumin: influence on the binding kinetics of the benzodiazepine binding sites. *J. Clin. Chem. Clin. Biochem.* **1990**, *28* (8), 527-31.

159. Koizumi, K.; Ikeda, C.; Ito, M.; Suzuki, J.; Kinoshita, T.; Yasukawa, K.; Hanai, T., Influence of glycosylatoin on the drug binding of human serum albumin. *Biomed. Chromatogr.* **1998**, *12* (4), 203-10.

160. Castiaux, A. D.; Pinger, C. W.; Spence, D. M., Ultrafiltration binding analyses of glycated albumin with a 3D-printed syringe attachment. *Anal. Bioanal.* **2018**, *410*, 7565-73.

161. Houseknecht, K. L.; Baile, C. A.; Matteri, R. L.; Spurlock, M. E., The biology of leptin: a review. *J. Anim. Sci.* **1998**, *76*, 1405-20.

162. Klein, S.; Coppack, S. W.; Mohamed-Ali, V.; Landt, M., Adipose tissue leptin production and plasma leptin kinetics in humans. *Diabetes* **1996**, *45*, 984-7.

163. Ahima, R. S.; Flier, J. S., Leptin. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 2000, 62, 413-37.

164. Kennedy, G. C., The role of depot fat in the hypothalamic control of food intake in the rat. *Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* **1953**, *140* (901), 578-96.

165. Faust, I. M.; Johnson, P. R.; Hirsch, J., Adipose tissue regeneration following lipectomy. *Science* **1977**, *197* (4301), 391-3.

166. Harris, R. B.; Kasser, T. R.; Martin, R. J., Dynamics of recovery of body composition after overfeeding, food restriction of starvation of mature female rats. *J. Nutr.* **1986**, *116* (12), 2536-46.

167. Harris, R. B., Role of set-point theory in regulation of body weight. *FASEB J.* **1990**, *4* (15), 3310-8.

168. Hervey, G. R., The effects of lesions in the hypothalamus in parabiotic rats. *J. Physiol.* **1959**, *145* (2), 336-52.

169. Eggel, A.; Wyss-Coray, T., A revival of parabiosis in biomedical research. *Swiss Med. Wkly* **2014**, *144* (0506).

170. Ingalls, A. M.; Dickie, M. M.; Snell, G. D., Obese, a new mutation in the house mouse. *J. Hered.* **1950**, *41*, 317.

171. Hausberger, F. X., Parabiosis and transplantation experiments in hereditary obese mice. *Anat. Rec.* **1959**, *130*, 313.

172. Coleman, D. L.; Hummel, K. P., Effects of parabiosis of normal with genetically diabetic mice. *Am. J. Physiol.* **1969**, *217* (5), 1298-304.

173. Coleman, D. L., Effects of parabiosis of obese with diabetes and normal mice. *Diabetologia* **1973**, *9*, 294-8.

174. Coleman, D. L., Obese and diabetes: two mutant genes causing diabetes-obesity syndromes in mice. *Diabetologia* **1978**, *14*, 141-8.

175. Zhang, Y.; Proenca, R.; Maffei, M.; Barone, M.; Leopold, L.; Friedman, J. M., Positional cloning of the mouse obese gene and its human homologue. *Nature* **1994**, *372*, 425-32.

176. Tartaglia, L. A.; Dembski, M.; Weng, X.; Deng, N.; Culpepper, J.; Devos, R.; Richards, J. G.; Campfield, A.; Clark, F. T.; Deeds, J.; Craig, M.; Sanker, S.; Moriarty, A.; Moore, K. J.; Smutko, J. S.; Mays, G. G.; Woolf, E. A.; Monroe, C. A.; Tepper, R. I., Identification and expression cloning of a leptin receptor, OB-R. *Cell* **1995**, *83*, 1263-71.

177. Halaas, J. L.; Gajiwala, K. S.; Maffei, M.; Cohen, S. L.; Chait, B. T.; Rabinowitz, D.; Lallone, R. L.; Burley, S. K.; Friedman, J. M., Weight-reducing effects of the plasma protein encoded by the obese gene. *Science* **1995**, *269*, 543-6.

178. Pelleymounter, M. A.; Cullen, M. J.; Baker, M. B.; Hecht, R.; Winters, D.; Boone, T.; Collins, F., Effects of the obese gene product on body weight regulation in ob/ob mice. *Science* **1995**, *269*, 540-3.

179. Campfield, L. A.; Smith, F. J.; Guisez, Y.; Devos, R.; Burn, P., Recombinant mouse OB protein: evidence for a peripheral signal linking adiposity and central neural networks. *Science* **1995**, *269*, 546-9.

180. Hummel, K. P.; Dickie, M. M.; Coleman, D. L., Diabetes, a new mutation in the mouse. *Science* **1966**, *153*, 1127-8.

181. Genuth, S. M.; Przybylski, R. J.; Rosenberg, D. M., Insulin resistance in genetically obese, hyperglycemic mice. *Endocrinology* **1971**, *88* (5), 1230-8.

182. Coleman, D. L.; Hummel, K. P., Hyperinsulinemia in pre-weaning diabetes (db) mice. *Diabetologia* **1974**, *10* (1), 607-10.

183. Grundleger, M. L.; Godbole, V. Y.; Thenen, S. W., Age-dependent development of insulin resistance of soleus muscle in genetically obese (ob/ob) mice. *Am. J. Phsiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* **1980**, *239* (5), E363-71.

184. Dubuc, P. U., The development of obesity, hyperinsulinemia and hyperglycemia in ob/ob mice. *Metabolism* **1976**, *25* (12), 1567-74.

185. Denroche, H. C.; Huynh, F. K.; Kieffer, T. J., The role of leptin in glucose homeostasis. *J. Diabetes Investig.* **2012**, *3* (2), 115-29.

186. Dubuc, P. U.; Willis, P. L., Postweaning development of diabetes in ob/ob mice. *Metabolism* **1979**, *28* (6), 633-40.

187. Genuth, S. M., Hyperinsulinism in mice with genetically determined obesity. *Endocrinology* **1969**, *84* (2), 386-91.

188. Rohner-Jeanrenaud, F.; Hochstrasser, A. C.; Jeanrenaud, B., Hyperinsulinemia of preobese and obese fa/fa rats is partly vagus nerve mediated. *Am. J. Phsiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* **1983**, *244* (4), E317-22.

189. Russell, J. C.; Ahuja, S. K.; Manickavel, V.; Rajotte, R. V.; Amy, R. M., Insulin resistance and impaired glucose tolerance in the atherosclerosis-prone LA/N corpulent rat. *Arteriosclerosis* **1987**, *7* (6), 620-6.

190. Schwarzer, K. N.; Doring, H.; Schmidt, I. N., Different physiological traits underlying increased body fat of fatty (fa/fa) and heterozygous (+/fa) rats. *Am. J. Phsiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* **1997**, *272* (1), E100-6.

191. Zarjevski, N.; Doyle, P.; Jeanrenaud, B., Muscle insulin resistance may not be a primary etiological factor in the genetically obese fa/fa rat. *Endocrinology* **1992**, *130* (3), 1564-70.

192. Oral, E. A.; Simha, V.; Ruiz, E.; Andewelt, A.; Premkumar, A.; Snell, P.; Wagner, A. J.; DePaoli, A. M.; Reitman, M. L.; Taylor, S. I.; Gorden, P., Leptin-replacement therapy for lipodystrophy. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2002**, *346* (8), 570-8.

193. Shimomura, I.; Hammer, R. E.; Ikemoto, S.; Brown, M. S.; Goldstein, J. L., Leptin reverses insulin resistance and diabetes mellitus in mice with congenital lipodystrophy. *Nature* **1999**, *401* (6748), 73-6.

194. Ghilardi, N.; Ziegler, S.; Wiestner, A.; Stoffel, R.; Heim, M. H., Defective STAT signaling by the leptin receptor in diabetic mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1996**, *93*, 6231-5.

195. Morton, G. J.; Schwartz, M. W., Leptin and the central nervous system control of glucose metabolism. *Physiol. Rev.* **2011**, *91* (2), 389-411.

196. Marino, J. S.; Xu, Y.; Hill, J. W., Central insulin and leptin-mediated autonomic control of glucose homeostasis. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.* **2011**, *22* (7), 275-85.

197. Gautron, L.; Elmquist, J. K., Sixteen years and counting: an update on leptin in energy balance. *J. Clin. Invest.* **2011**, *121* (6), 2087-93.

198. Fujikawa, T.; Chuang, J. C.; Sakata, I.; Ramadori, G.; Coppari, R., Leptin therapy improves insulin-deficient type 1 diabetes by CNS-dependent mechanisms in mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2010**, *107*, 17391-6.

199. Yu, X.; Park, B. H.; Wang, M. Y.; Wang, Z. V.; Unger, R. H., Making insulindeficient type 1 diabetic rodents thrive without insulin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2008**, *105* (37), 14070-15. 200. Park, J. Y.; Chong, A. Y.; Cochran, E. K.; Kleiner, D. E.; Haller, M. J.; Schatz, D. A.; Gorden, P., Type 1 diabetes associated with acquired generalized lipodystrophy and insulin resistance: the effect of long-term leptin therapy. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* **2008**, 93 (1), 26-31.

201. Vasandani, C.; Clark, G. O.; Adams-Huet, B.; Quittner, C.; Garg, A., Efficacy and safety of metreleptin therapy in patients with type 1 diabetes: a pilot study. *Diabetes Care* **2017**, *40* (5), 694-7.

202. Berglund, E. D.; Vianna, C. R.; Donato, J.; Kim, M. H.; Chuang, J. C.; Lee, C. E.; Lauzon, D. A.; Lin, P.; Brule, L. J.; Scott, M. M.; Coppari, R., Direct leptin action on POMC neurons regulates glucose homeostasis and hepatic insulin sensitivity in mice. *J. Clin. Invest.* **2012**, *122* (3), 1000-9.

203. Cummings, B. P.; Bettaleb, A.; Graham, J. L.; Stanhope, K. L.; Dill, R.; Morton, G. J.; Haj, F. G.; Havel, P. J., Subcutaneous administration of leptin normalizes fasting plasma glucose in obese type 2 diabetic UCD-T2DM rats. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2011**, *108* (35), 14670-5.

204. Morton, G. J.; Gelling, R. W.; Niswender, K. D.; Morrison, C. D.; Rhodes, C. J.; schwartz, M. W., Leptin regulates insulin sensitivity via phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase signaling in mediobasal hypothalamic neurons. *Cell Metab.* **2005**, *2* (6), 411-20.

205. Coppari, R.; Ichinose, M.; Lee, C. E.; Pullen, A. E.; Kenny, C. D.; McGovern, R. A.; Tang, V.; Liu, S. M.; Ludwig, T.; Chua Jr., S. C.; Lowell, B. B., The hypothalamic arcuate nucleus: a key site for mediating leptin's effects on glucose homeostasis and locomoter activity. *Cell Metab.* **2005**, *1* (1), 63-72.

206. Mittendorfer, B.; Horowitz, J. F.; DePaoli, A. M.; McCarnish, M. A.; Patterson, B. W.; Klein, S., Recombinant human leptin treatment does not improve insulin action in obese subjects with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* **2011**, *60* (5), 1474-7.

207. Moon, H.-S.; Matarese, G.; Brennan, A. M.; Chamberland, J. P.; Liu, X.; Florenza, C. G.; Mylvaganam, G. H.; Abanni, L.; Carbone, F.; Williams, C. J.; De Paoli, A. M., Efficacy of metreleptin in obese patients with type 2 diabetes: cellular and molecular pathways underlying leptin tolerance *Diabetes* **2011**, *60* (6), 1647-56.

208. Coppari, R.; Bjørbæk, C., Leptin revisited: its mechanism of action and potential for treating dibetes. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* **2012**, *11* (9), 692-708.

209. Bełtowski, J., Role of leptin in blood pressure regulation and arterial hypertension. *J. Hypertens.* **2006**, *24* (5), 789-801.

210. Hileman, S. M.; Pierroz, D. D.; Masuzaki, H.; Bjørbaek, C.; El-Haschimi, K.; Banks, W. A.; Flier, J. S., Characterization of short isoforms of the leptin receptor in rat cerebral microvessels and of brain uptake of leptin in mouse models of obesity. *Endocrinology* **2002**, *143* (3), 775-83.

211. Lammert, A.; Kiess, W.; Bottner, A.; Glasow, A.; Kratzsch, J., Soluble leptin receptor represents the main leptin binding activity in human blood. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **2001**, *283* (4), 982-8.

212. Sinha, M. K.; Opentanova, I.; Ohannesian, J. P.; Kolaczynski, J. W.; Heiman, M. L.; Hale, J.; Becker, G. W.; Bowsher, R. R.; Stephens, T. W.; Caro, J. F., Evidence of free and bound leptin in human circulation. Studies in lean and obese subjects and during short-term fasting. *J. Clin. Invest.* **1996**, *98* (6), 1277-82.

213. Houseknecht, K. L.; Mantzoros, C. S.; Kuliawat, R.; Hadro, E.; Flier, J. S., Evidence for leptin binding to proteins in serum of rodents and humans: modulation with obesity. *Diabetes* **1996**, *45*.

214. Yang, W.; Dall, M.; Beronjia, K.; Lin, J.; Semilla, A. P.; Chakrabarti, R.; Hogan, P. F., American Diabetes Association. Economic costs of diabetes in the US in 2017. *Diabetes Care* **2018**, *41* (5), 917-28.

215. Zastrow, O.; Seidel, B.; Kiess, W.; Thiery, J.; Keller, E.; Böttner, A.; Kratzch, J., The soluble leptin receptor is crucial for leptin action: evidence from clinical and experimental data. *Int. J. Obes.* **2003**, *27* (12), 1472-8.

216. Laimer, M.; Ebenbichler, C. F.; Kaser, S.; Sandhofer, A.; Weiss, H.; Nehoda, H.; Aigner, F.; Patsch, J. R., Weight loss increases soluble leptin receptor levels and the soluble receptor bound fraction of leptin. *Obes. Res.* **2001**, *10*, 597-601.

217. Britannica. The autonomic nervous system. https://www.britannica.com/science/human-nervous-system/The-autonomic-nervous-system (accessed July 14, 2021).

218. University of Rochester Medical Center. Health Encyclopedia. Catecholamines (Urine).

https://www.urmc.rochester.edu/encyclopedia/content.aspx?contenttypeid=167&content id=catecholamines_urine (accessed July 14, 2021).

219. Cannon, W. B., *Bodily Changes in Pain, Hunger, Fear and Rage*. Appleton, New York, 1929.

220. Haynes, W. G.; Morgan, D. A.; Walsh, S. A.; Mark, A. L.; Sivitz, W. I., Receptormediated regional sympathetic nerve activation by leptin. *J. Clin. Invest.* **1997**, *100* (2), 270-8.

221. Niijima, A., Reflex effects from leptin sensors in the white adipose tissue of the epididymis to the efferent activity of the sympathetic and vagus nerve in the rat. *Neurosci. Lett.* **1999**, *26*2, 125-8.

222. Tanida, M.; Iwashita, S.; Ootsuka, Y.; Terui, N.; Suzuki, M., Leptin injection into white adipose tissue elevates renal sympathetic nerve activity dose-dependently through the afferent nerves pathway in rats. *Neurosci. Lett.* **2000**, *293*, 107-10.

223. Dunbar, J. C.; Hu, Y.; Lu, H., Intracerebroventricular leptin increases lumbar and renal sympathetic nerve activity and blood pressure in normal rats. *Diabetes* **1997**, *4*6 (12), 2040-3.

224. Hausberg, M.; Morgan, D. A.; Chapleau, M. A.; Sivitz, W. I.; Mark, A. L.; Haynes, W. G., Differential modulation of leptin-induced sympathoexcitation by baroreflex activation. *J. Hypertens.* **2002**, *20* (8), 1633-41.

225. Hausberg, M.; Morgan, D. A.; Sivitz, W. I.; Mark, A. L.; Haynes, W. G., Leptin potentiates thermogenic sympathetic responses to hypothermia: a receptor-mediated effect. *Diabetes* **2002**, *51* (8), 2434-40.

226. Heesch, C. M., Reflexes that control cardiovascular function. *Am. J. Physiol.* **1999**, 277 (6), S234-43.

227. Snitker, S.; Pratley, R. E.; Nicolson, M.; Tataranni, P. A.; Ravussin, E., Relationship between muscle sympathetic nerve activity and plasma leptin concentration. *Obes. Res.* **1997**, *5* (4), 338-40.

228. Paolisso, G.; Manzella, D.; Montano, N.; Gambardella, A.; Varricchio, M., Plasma leptin concentrations and cardiac autonomic nervous system in healthy subjects with different body weights. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* **2000**, *85* (5), 1810-4.

229. Eikelis, N.; Schlaich, M.; Aggarwal, A.; Kaye, D.; Esler, M., Interactions between leptin and the human sympathetic nervous system. *Hypertens.* **2003**, *41* (5), 1072-9.

230. Rumantir, M. S.; Vaz, M.; Jennings, G. L.; Collier, G.; Kaye, D. M.; Seals, D. R.; Wiesner, G. H.; Brunner-La Rocca, H. P.; Esler, M. D., Neural mechanisms in human obesity-related hypertension. *J. Hypertens.* **1999**, *17* (8), 1125-33.

231. Narkiewicz, K.; Kato, M.; Phillips, B. G.; Pesek, C. A.; Choe, I.; Winnicki, M.; Palatini, P.; Sivitz, W. I.; Somers, V. K., Leptin interacts with heart rate but not sympathetic nerve traffic in healthy male subjects. *J. Hypertens.* **2001**, *19* (6), 1089-94.

232. Haynes, W. G.; Sivitz, W. I.; Morgan, D. A.; Walsh, S. A.; Mark, A. L., Sympathetic and cardiorenal actions of leptin. *Hypertension* **1997**, *30* (3), 619-23.

233. Casto, R. M.; VanNess, J. M.; Overton, J. M., Effects of central leptin administration on blood pressure in normotensive rats. *Neurosci. Lett.* **1998**, *246*, 29-32.

234. Gardiner, S. M.; Kemp, P. A.; March, J. E.; Bennett, T., Regional haemodynamic effects of recombinant murine or human leptin in conscious rats. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **2000**, *130* (4), 805.

235. Frühbeck, G., Pivotal role of nitric oxide in the control of blood pressure after leptin administration. *Diabetes* **1999**, *48*, 903-8.

236. Bełtowski, J.; Wójcicka, G.; Borkowska, E., Human leptin stimulates systemic nitric oxide production in the rat. *Obes. Res.* **2002**, *10* (9), 939-46.

237. Bełtowski, J.; Jochem, J.; Wójcicka, G.; Żwirska-Korczala, K., Influence of intravenously administered leptin on nitric oxide production, renal hemodynamics and renal function in the rat. *Regul. Pept.* **2004**, *120* (1-3), 59-67.

238. Lembo, G.; Vecchione, C.; Fratta, L.; Marino, G.; Trimarco, V.; D'Amati, G.; Trimarco, V., Leptin induces direct vasodilation through distinct endothelial mechanisms. *Diabetes* **2000**, *49* (2), 293-7.

239. Kimura, K.; Tsuda, K.; Baba, A.; Kawabe, T.; Boh-oka, S.; Ibata, M.; Moriwaki, C.; Hano, T.; Nishio, I., Involvement of nitric oxide in endothelium-dependent arterial relaxation by leptin. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **2000**, *273* (2), 745-9.

240. Vecchione, C.; Maffei, A.; Colelia, S.; Aretini, A.; Poulet, R.; Frati, G.; Gentile, M. T.; Fratta, L.; Trimarco, V.; Trimarco, B.; Lembo, G., Leptin effect on endothelial nitric oxide is mediated through Akt-endothelial nitric oxide synthase phosphorylation pathway. *Diabetes* **2002**, *51*, 168-73.

241. Winters, B.; Mo, Z.; Brooks-Asplund, E.; Kim, S.; Shoukas, A.; Li, D.; Nyhan, D.; Berkowitz, D. E., Reduction of obesity, as induced by leptin, reverses endothelial dysfunction in obese (Lep(ob)) mice. *J. Appl. Physiol.* **2000**, *89* (6), 2382-90.

242. Nathan, C.; Xie, Q., Nitric oxide synthases: roles, tolls and controls. *Cell* **1994**, *78*, 915-8.

243. Fulton, D.; Gratton, J.-P.; McCabe, T. J.; Fontana, J.; Fujio, Y.; Walsh, K.; Franke, T. F.; Papapetropoulos, A.; Sessa, W. C., Regulation of endothelium-derived nitric oxide production by the protein kinase Akt. *Nature* **1999**, *399*, 597-601.

244. Dimmeler, S.; Fleming, I.; FissIthaler, B.; Hermann, C.; Busse, R.; Zeiher, A. M., Activation of nitric oxide synthase in endothelial cells by Akt-dependent phosphorylation. *Nature* **1999**, *399*, 601-5.

245. Mitchell, J. L.; Morgan, D. A.; Correla, M. L.; Mark, A. L.; Sivitz, W. I.; Haynes, W. G., Does leptin stimulate nitric oxide to oppose the effects of sympathetic activation? *Hypertension* **2001**, *38* (5), 1081-6.

246. Jalali, A.; Morgan, D. A.; Sivitz, W. I.; Correla, M. L.; Mark, A. L.; Haynes, W. G., Does leptin cause functional peripheral sympatholysis? *Am. J. Hypertens.* **2001**, *14* (7), 615-8.

247. Rahmouni, K.; Jalali, A.; Morgan, D. A.; Haynes, W. G., Lack of dilator effect of leptin in the hindlimb vascular bed of conscious rats. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **2005**, *518* (2-3), 175-81.

248. Frühbeck, G.; Gómez-Ambrosi, J., Modulation of the leptin-induced white adipose tissue lipolysis by nitric oxide. *Cell Signal.* **2001**, *13* (11), 827-33.

249. Tsuda, K.; Nishio, I., Leptin and membrane fluidity of erythrocytes in essential hypertension: an electron paramagnetic resonance investigation. *Am. J. Hypertens.* **2004**, *17* (4), 375-9.

250. Nickola, M. W.; wold, L. E.; Colligan, P. B.; Wang, G. J.; Samson, W. K.; Ren, J., Leptin attenuates cardiac contraction in rat ventricular myocytes: role of NO. *Hypertension* **2000**, *36* (4), 501-5.

251. knudson, J. D.; Dincer, U. D.; Zhang, C.; Swafford Jr., A. N.; Koshida, R.; Picchi, A.; Focardi, M.; Dick, G. M.; Tune, J. D., Leptin receptors are expressed in coronary arteries, and hyperleptinemia causes significant coronary endothelial dysfunction. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ.* **2005**, *289* (1), H48-56.

252. Matsuda, K.; Teragawa, H.; Fukuda, Y.; Nakagawa, K.; Higashi, Y. C., K., Leptin causes nitric-oxide independent coronary artery vasodilation in humans. *Hypertens. Res.* **2003**, *26* (2), 147-52.

253. Nakagawa, K.; Higashi, Y.; Sasaki, S.; Oshima, T.; Matsuura, H.; Chayama, K., Leptin causes vasodilation in humans. *Hypertens. Res.* **2002**, *25*, 161-5.

254. Zhou, M.-S.; Leopoldo, R., Cross-talk between nitric oxide and endotheliumderived hyperpolarizing factor: synergestic interaction? *J. Hypertens.* **2003**, *21* (8), 1449-51.

255. Fortuño, A.; Rodriguez, A.; Gómez-Ambrosi, J.; Muñiz, P.; Salvador, J.; Díez, J.; Frühbeck, G., Leptin inhibits angiotensin II-induced intracellular calcium increase and vasoconstriction in the rat aorta. *Endocrinology* **2002**, *143* (9), 3555-60.

256. Serradeil-Le, G. C.; Raufaste, D.; Brossard, G.; Pouzet, B.; Marty, E.; Maffrand, J. P.; Le Fur, G., Characterization and localization of leptin receptors in the rat kidney. *FEBS Lett.* **1997**, *404* (2-3), 185-91.

257. Jackson, E. K.; Li, P., Human leptin has natriuretic activity in the rat. *Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol.* **1997**, F333-8.

258. Bełtowski, J.; Górny, D.; Marciniak, A., Human leptin administered intraperitoneally stimulates natriuresis and decreases renal medullary Na+, K+-ATPase activity in the rat-Impaired effect in dietary-induced obesity. *Med. Sci. Monit.* **2002**, *8* (6), BR221-9.

259. Villarreal, D.; Reams, G.; Freeman, R. H.; Taraben, A., Renal effects of leptin in normotensive, hypertensive and obese rats. *Am. J. Physiol.* **1998**, R2056-60.

260. Féraille, E.; Doucet, A., Sodium-potassium-adenosinetriphosphatase-dependent sodium transport in the kidney: hormonal control. *Physiol. Rev.* **2001**, *81* (1), 345-418.

261. Bełtowski, J.; Marciniak, A.; Wójcicka, G., Leptin decreases renal medullary Na+, K+-ATPase activity through phosphoatidylinositol 3-kinase dependent mechanism. *J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* **2004**, *55* (2), 391-407.

262. Bełtowski, J.; Wójcicka, G., Spectrophotometric method for the determination of renal ouabain-sensitive H+,K+-ATPase activity. *Acta Biochim. Pol.* **2002**, *49* (2), 515-27.

263. Martinez-Anso, E.; Lostao, M. P.; Martinez, J. A., Immunohistochemical localization of leptin in rat kidney. *Kidney Int.* **1999**, *55* (3), 1129-30.

264. Bełtowski, J.; Jamroz-Wiśniewska, A.; Nazar, J.; Wójcicka, G., Spectrophotometric assay of renal ouabain-resistant Na (+)-ATPase and its regulation by leptin and dietary-induced obesity. *Acta Biochim. Pol.* **2004**, *51* (4), 1003-14.

265. Rosenbaum, M.; Murphy, E. M.; Heymsfield, S. B.; Mathews, D. E.; Leibel, R. L., Low dose leptin administration reverses effects of sustained weight reduction on energy expenditure and circulating concentrations of thyroid hormones. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* **2002**, *87*, 2391-4.

266. Rosenbaum, M.; Nicolson, M.; Hirsch, J.; Murphy, E.; Chu, F.; Leibel, R. L., Effects of weight change on plasma leptin concentrations and energy expenditure. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* **1997**, *8*2 (11), 3647-54.

267. Rosenbaum, M.; Goldsmith, R.; Bloomfield, D.; Magnano, A.; Weimer, L.; Heymsfield, S.; Gallagher, D.; Mayer, L.; Murphy, E.; Leibel, R. L., Low-dose leptin reverses skeletal muscle, autonomic, and neuroendocrine adaptations to maintenance of reduced weight. *J. Clin. Invest.* **2005**, *115* (12), 3579-86.

268. Baldwin, K. M.; Joanisse, D. R.; Haddad, F.; Goldsmith, R. L.; Gallagher, D.; Pavlovich, K. H.; Shamoon, E. L.; Leibel, R. L.; Rosenbaum, M., Effects of weight loss and leptin on skeletal muscle in human subjects. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* **2011**, *301* (5), R1259-66.

269. Conroy, R.; Girotra, M.; Shane, E.; McMahon, D. J.; Pavlovich, K. H.; Leibel, R. L.; Rosenbaum, M.; Korner, J., Leptin administration does not prevent the bone mineral metabolism changes induced by weight loss. *Metabolism* **2011**, *60* (9).

270. Rosenbaum, M.; Sy, M.; Pavlovich, K.; Leibel, R. L.; Hirsch, J., Leptin reverses weight loss-induced changes in regional neural activity responses to visual food stimuli. *J. Clin. Invest.* **2008**, *118* (7), 2583-91.

271. Anguizola, J.; Matsuda, R.; Barnaby, O. S.; Joseph, K. S.; Wa, C.; DeBolt, E.; Koke, M.; Hage, D. S., Review: glycation of human serum albumin. *Clin. Chim. Acta* **2013**, *425*, 64-76.

272. D'Souza, A. M.; Neumann, U. H.; Glayas, M. M.; Kieffer, T. J., The glucoregulatory actions of leptin. *Mol. Metab.* **2017**, *6*, 1052-65.

273. Liu, Y. Delivery of a pancreatic beta cell-derived hormone to erythrocytes by albumin and downstream cellular effects. Dissertation, Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI, 2015.

274. Keshavarz, H. Adipose-Derived Molecular Amplification of Glucose Trafficking in the Bloodstream: A Potential New Role For Leptin. Dissertation, Michigan State University, 2018.

275. Keshavarz, H.; Meints, L. M.; Geiger, M. K.; Zinn, K. R.; Spence, D. M., Specific binding of leptin to red blood cells delivers a pancreatic hormone and stimulates ATP release. *Mol. Pharm.* **2021**, *18* (6), 2438-47.

276. Considine, R. V.; Sinha, M. K.; Heiman, M. L.; Kriauciunas, A.; Stephens, T. W.; Nyce, M. R.; Ohannesian, J. P.; Marco, C. C.; McKee, L. J.; Bauer, T. L.; Caro, J. F., Serum immunoreactive-leptin concentrations in normal-weight and obese humans. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **1996**, *334* (5), 292-5.

277. Kenakin, T., What systems can and can't do. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **2008**, *153* (5), 841-3.

278. Rang, H. P., The receptor concept: pharmacology's big idea. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **2006**, *147*, S9-16.

279. Britannica. Law of mass action. https://www.britannica.com/science/law-of-mass-action (accessed Aug 2, 2021).

280. Érdi, P.; Tóth, J., *Mathematical Models of Chemical Reactions: Theory and Applications of Deterministic and Stochastic Models*. Manchester University Press: 1989.

281. Clark, A. J., *The mode of action of drugs on cells*. 1933.

282. Kenakin, T., *Receptor Theory*. 2008.

283. Hulme, E. C.; Trevethick, M. A., Ligand binding assays at equilibrium: validation and interpretation. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **2010**, *161* (6), 1219-37.

284. Motulsky, H. J. GraphPad Curve Fitting Guide. https://www.graphpad.com/guides/prism/7/curve-fitting/index.htm (accessed Apr 6, 2020).

285. Mendel, C. M.; Mendel, D. B., 'Non-specific' binding: The problem, and a solution. *Biochem. J.* **1985,** *228*, 269-72.

286. Hein, P.; Michel, M. C.; Leineweber, K.; Wieland, T.; Wettschureck, N.; Offermanns, S., *Receptor and binding studies*. Springer: Berlin, Heidelberg, 2005; p 723-83.

287. Ekins, R. P., Immunoassay, DNA analysis, and other ligand binding assay techniques: from electropherograms to multiplexed, ultrasensitive microarrays on a chip. *J. Chem. Educ.* **1999**, *76*, 769-80.

288. Price, C. P.; Newman, D. J. E., *Principles and practice of immunoassay, 2nd Edition.* Stockton Press: New York, 1997.

289. Boster Biological Technology. Human Leptin ELISA Kit PicoKineTM. https://www.bosterbio.com/human-leptin-picokine-trade-elisa-kit-ek0437-boster.html (accessed June 15, 2021).

290. Zhang, S.; Garcia-D'Angeli, A.; Brennan, J. P.; Huo, Q., Predicting detection limits of enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) and bioanalytical techniques in immunosorbent assay (ELISA) and bioanalytical techniques in general. *Analyst* **2014**, *139* (2), 439-45.

291. Diamandis, E. P.; Christopoulos, T. K. E., *Immunoassay*. Academic Press: New York, 1996.

292. Jenkins, S. H.; Heineman, W. R.; Halsall, H. B., Extending the detection limit of solid-phase electrochemical enzyme immunoassay to the attomole level. *Anal. Biochem.* **1988**, *168*, 292-9.

293. de Alwis, W. U.; Wilson, G. S., Rapid sub-picomole electrochemical enzyme immunoassay for immunoglobulin G. *Anal. Chem.* **1985**, *57*, 2754-6.

294. Abdel-Hamid, I.; Atanasov, P.; Ghindilis, A. L.; Wilkins, E., Development of flow-through immunoassay system. *Sens. Actuators B Chem.* **1998**, *49*, 202-10.

295. AAT Bioquest. Resources. Frequently Asked Questions. What is linearity and dynamic range? https://www.aatbio.com/resources/faq-frequently-asked-questions/What-is-linearity-and-dynamic-range (accessed June 15, 2021).

296. Schwartz, D. A.; Abrams, M. J.; Hauser, M. M.; Gaul, F. E.; Larsen, S. K.; Rauh, D.; Zubieta, J. A., Preparation of hydrazino-modified proteins and their use for the synthesis of technetium-99m-protein conjugates. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **1991**, *2* (6), 333-6.

297. Babich, J. W.; Solomon, H. F.; Pike, M. C.; Kroon, D.; Graham, W.; Abrams, M. J.; Tompkins, R. G.; Rubin, R. H.; Fischman, A. J., Technetium-99m-labeled hydrazino nicotinamide derivatized chemotactic peptide analogs for imaging focal sites of bacterial infection. *J. Nucl. Med.* **1993**, *34* (11), 1964-74.

298. Larsen, S. K.; Solomon, H. F.; Caldwell, G.; Abrams, M. J., [99mTc]Tricine: a useful precursor complex for the radiolabeling of hydrazinonicotinate protein conjugates. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **1995**, *6*, 635-8.

299. King, R. C.; Surfraz, B.-U.; Biagini, S. C. G.; Blower, P. J.; Mather, S. J., How do HYNIC-conjugated peptides bind technetium? Insights from LC-MS and stability studies. *Dalton Trans.* **2007**, *43*, 4998-5007.

300. University of Washington. Tait Research Laboratory. Preparation of Lyophilized Tin Tricine Reagent. https://depts.washington.edu/labweb/Faculty/Tait/102.pdf (accessed Aug 10.

301. Zinn, K. R.; Chaudhuri, T. R.; Smyth, C. A.; Wu, Q.; Liu, H.-G.; Fleck, M.; Mountz, J. D.; Mountz, J. M., Specific targeting of activated endothelium in rat adjuvant arthritis with a 99mTc-radiolabeled E-selectin-binding peptide. *Arthritis Rheum.* **1999**, *42* (4), 641-9.

302. Jones, A. G.; Hattersley, A. T., The clinical utility of C-peptide measurement in the care of patients with diabetes. *Diabet. Med.* **2013**, *30* (7), 803-17.

303. Rifai, N.; Horwath, A. R.; Wittwer, C. T., eds., *Textbook of Clinical Chemistry and Molecular Diagnostics, 6th Ed.* Elsevier: 2018.

304. Konstantinou-Tegou, A.; Kaloyianni, M.; Bourikas, D.; Koliakos, G., The effect of leptin on Na+-H+ antiport (NHE 1) activity of obese and normal subjects erythrocytes. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* **2001**, *183*, 11-8.

305. The, T. H.; Feltkamp, T. E. W., Conjugation of fluorescein isothiocyanate to antibodies: I. Experiments on the conditions of conjugation. *Immunology* **1970**, *18* (6), 865-73.

306. The, T. H.; Feltkamp, T. E. W., Conjugation of fluorescein isothiocyanate to antibodies: II. A reproducible method. *Immunology* **1970**, *18* (6), 875-81.

307. Coons, A. H.; Creech, H. J.; Jones, R. N.; Berliner, E., The demonstration of pneumococcal antigen in tissues by the use of fluorescent antibody. *J. Immunol.* **1942**, *43* (3), 159-70.

308. Riggs, J. L.; Seiwald, R. J.; Burckhalter, J. H., Isothiocyanate compounds as fluorescent labeling agents for immune serum. *Am. J. Pathol.* **1958**, *34* (6), 1081-97.

309. Stephenson, R. P., A modification of receptor theory. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **1956**, *11* (4), 379-93.

310. Oshannessy, D. J.; Brighamburke, M.; Soneson, K.; Hensley, P.; Brooks, I., Determination of rate and equilibrium binding constants for macromolecular interactions using surface plasmon resonance: use of nonlinear least squares methods *Anal. Biochem.* **1993**, *212*, 457-68.

311. Vuignier, K.; Schappler, J.; Veuthey, J. L.; Carrupt, P.-A.; Martel, S., Drug-protein binding: a critical review of analytical tools. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* **2010**, *398*, 53-66.

312. Loo, J. A., Studying noncovalent protein complexes by electrospray ionization mass spectrometry. *Mass Spectrom. Rev.* **1997**, *16* (1), 1-23.

313. Melten, J. W.; Wittebrood, A. J.; Willems, H. J.; Faber, G. H.; Wemer, J.; Faber, D. B., Comparison of equilibrium dialysis, ultrafiltration and gel permeation chromatography for the determination of free fractions of phenobarbital and phenytoin. *J. Pharm. Sci.* **1985**, *74*, 692-94.

314. Lebowitz, J.; Lewis, M. S.; Schuck, P., Modern analytical ultracentrifugation in protein science: a tutorial review. *Protein Sci.* **2002**, *11* (9), 2067-79.

315. Mallik, R.; Yoo, M. J.; Briscoe, C. J.; Hage, D. S., Analysis of drug-protein binding by ultrafast affinity chromatography using immobilized human serum albumin. *J. Chromatogr. A* **2010**, *1217* (17), 2796-803.

316. Hage, D. S., Analysis of biological interactions by affinity chromatography: clinical and pharmaceutical applications. *Clin. Chem.* **2017**, *63* (6), 1083-93.

317. Pinger, C. Novel Analytical Tools For Studying A Potential Type-1 Diabetes Therapy. Dissertation, Michigan State University, 2018.

318. Pinger, C. W.; Heller, A. A.; Spence, D. M., A printed equilibrium dialysis device with integrated membranes for improved binding affinity measurements. *Anal. Chem.* **2017**, *89* (14), 7302-6.

319. Katz, S. A.; Paritt, C.; Purdy, R., Equilibrium dialysis: a laboratory experiment. *J. Chem. Educ.* **1970**, *47* (10), 721.

320. Reinard, T.; Jacobsen, H.-J., An inexpensive small volume equilibrium dialysis system for protein-ligand binding assays. *Anal. Biochem.* **1989**, *176* (1), 157-60.

321. Zamek-Gliszczynski, M. J.; Ruterbories, K. J.; Ajamie, R. T.; Wickremsinhe, E. R.; Pothuri, L.; Rao, M. V. S.; Basavanakatti, V. N.; Pinjari, J.; Ramanathan, V. K.; Chaudhary, A. K., Validation of 96-well equilibirum dialysis with non-radiolabeled drug for definitive measurement of protein binding and application to clinical development of highly-bound drugs. *J. Pharm. Sci.* **2011**, *100* (6), 2498-507.

322. Vulgnier, K.; Schappler, J.; Veuthey, J. L.; Carrupt, P. A.; Martel, S., Drug-protein binding: a critical review of analytical tools. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* **2010**, *398* (1), 53-66.

323. Waters, N. J.; Jones, R. N.; Williams, G.; Sohal, B., Validation of a rapid equilibrium dialysis approach for the measurement of plasma protein binding. *J. Pharm. Sci.* **2008**, *97*, 4586-95.

324. Pollard, T. D., A guide to simple and informative binding assays. *Mol. Bio. Cell* **2010**, *21*, 4061-7.

325. Li, C. M.; Lu, Y.; Ahn, S.; Narayanan, R.; Miller, D. D.; Dalton, J. T., Competitive mass spectrometry binding assay for characterizatoin of three binding sites of tubulin. *J. Mass Spectrom.* **2010**, *45* (10), 1160-6.

326. Liu, D.; Guo, J.; Luo, Y.; Broderick, D. J.; Schimerlik, M. I.; Pezzuto, J. M.; Van Breemen, R. B., Screening for ligands of human retinoid X receptor-α using ultrafiltration mass spectromtry. *Anal. Chem.* **2007**, *79* (24), 9398-402.

327. Jacobs, M. J.; Pinger, C. W.; Castiaux, A. D.; Maloney, K. J.; Spence, D. M., A novel 3D-printed centrifugal ultrafiltration method reveals in vivo glycation of human serum albumin decreases its binding affinity for zinc. *Metallomics* **2020**, *12* (7), 1036-43.

328. ThermoFisher Scientific. Separation Characteristics of Dialysis Membranes. https://www.thermofisher.com/us/en/home/life-science/protein-biology/protein-biologylearning-center/protein-biology-resource-library/protein-biology-applicationnotes/separation-characteristics-dialysis-membranes.html (accessed June 30, 2021).

329. Green, A., Vivaspin(R): Optimizing Sample Separation and Concentration Using Ultrafiltration with Chromatography. Special Sponsored Section. LCGC (Sponsored by Sartorius): 2020.

330. Zheng, X.; Matsuda, R.; Hage, D. S., Analysis of free drug fractions by ultrafast affinity extraction: interactions of sulfonylurea drugs with normal or glycated human serum albumin *J. Chromatogr. A* **2014**, *1371*, 82-9.

331. Lubbers, D. W.; Opitz, N., Eine neue pCO2-bzw: pO2-messonde zur messung des pCO2 oder pO2 von gasen und flüssigkeiten. *Zeitshcrift Für Naturforschung C* **1975**, *30*, 532-33.

332. Homola, J.; Yee, S. S.; Gauglitz, G., Surface plasmon resonance sensors: review. *Sens. Actuators B Chem.* **1999**, *54*, 3-15.

333. Wolfbeis, O. S. E., *Fiber optic chemical sensors and biosensors*. CRC Press: Boca Raton, 1991.

334. Barnes, W. L.; Dereux, A.; Ebbesen, T. W., Surface plasmon subwavelength optics. *Nature* **2003**, *424*, 824-30.

335. Burstein, E., in Polaritons. Pergamon: New York, 1974.

336. Wood, R. W., On a remarkable case of uneven distribution of light in a diffraction grating spectrum. *Phil. Magm.* **1902**, *4*, 396-402.

337. Otto, A., Excitation of surface plasma waves in silver by the method of frustrated total reflection. *Z. Physik.* **1968**, *216*, 398-410.

338. Kretschmann, E.; Raether, H., Radiative decay of non-radiative surface plasmons excited by light. *Z. Naturforsch.* **1968**, *23A*, 2135-6.

339. Britannica. Science. Refractive Index. https://www.britannica.com/science/refractive-index (accessed July 12, 2021).

340. Zeng, S.; Yu, X.; Law, W.-C.; Zhang, Y.; Hu, R.; Dinh, X.-Q.; Ho, H.-P.; Yong, K.-T., Size dependence of Au NP-enhanced surface plasmon resonance based on differential phase measurement *Sens. Actuators B Chem.* **2013**, *176*, 1128-33.

341. Maradudin, A. A.; Sambies, J. R.; Barnes, W. L., *Modern Plasmonics*. Elsevier: Amsterdam, 2014; p 1-23.

342. *Pioneer and Pioneer FE Operators Manual*. Pall FortéBio: Fremont, CA, 2018; p 121.

343. Myszka, D. G.; Rich, R. L., Implementing surface plasmon resonance biosensors in drug discovery. *Pharmaceut. Sci. Tech. Today* **2000**, *3* (9), 310-6.

344. Rich, R. L.; Myszka, D. G., Advances in surface plasmon resonance biosensor analysis. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* **2000**, *11*, 54-61.

345. Sartorius. SADH Sensor Chip. https://www.sartorius.com/en/products/protein-analysis/biosensors-chips-kits/sadh-sensor-chip (accessed June 18, 2021).

346. Helmerhorst, E.; Chandler, D. J.; Nussio, M.; Mamotte, C. D., Real-time and labelfree bio-sensing of molecular interactions by surface plasmon resonance: a laboratory medicine perspective. *Clin. Biochem. Rev.* **2012**, *33* (4), 161-73.

347. Millipore, Amicon Ultra-0.5 Centrifugal Filter Devices Merck: Darmstadt, Germany, 2019.

348. Nicoya. 4 Ways To Reduce Non-specific Binding in Surface Plasmon Resonance Experiments. https://nicoyalife.com/blog/4-ways-reduce-non-specific-binding-spr/ (accessed July 1, 2021).

349. Lee, K.-J.; Mower, R.; Hollenbeck, T.; Castelo, J.; Johnson, N.; Gordon, P.; Sinko, P.-J.; Holme, K.; Lee, Y.-H., Modulation of Nonspecific Binding in Ultrafiltration Protein Binding Studies. *Pharm. Res.* **2003**, *20* (7), 1015-1021.

350. McMahon, R. J., *Avidin-Biotin Interactions: Methods and Applications*. Humana Press: 2008.

351. Thermo Scientific. EZ-Link NHS-PEG4-Biotinylation Kit 21455. Pierce Biotechnology.

352. ThermoFisher Scientific. Chemistry of Protein Assays. https://www.thermofisher.com/us/en/home/life-science/protein-biology/protein-biologylearning-center/protein-biology-resource-library/pierce-protein-methods/chemistryprotein-assays.html (accessed June 21, 2021). 353. Smith, P. K.; Krohn, R. I.; Hermanson, G. T.; Mallia, A. K.; Gartner, F. H.; Porvenzano, M. D.; Fujimoto, E. K.; Goeke, N. M.; Olson, B. J.; Klenk, D. C., Measurement of protein using bicinchoninic acid. *Anal. Biochem.* **1985**, *150*, 76-85.

354. ThermoScientific. PierceTM BCA Protein Assay Kit Catalog Numbers 23225 and 23227. ThermoFisher Scientific: 2020.

355. ALPCO. C-peptide ELISA. https://www.alpco.com/store/c-peptide-elisa.html (accessed Aug 10, 2021).

356. Tate, J.; Ward, G., Interferences in immunoassay. *Clin. Biochem. Rev.* **2004**, *25* (2), 105.

357. Mohamadi-Nejad, A.; Moosavi-Movahedi, A. A.; Hakimelahi, G. H.; Sheibani, N., Thermodynamic analysis of human serum albumin interactions with glucose: insights into the diabetic range of glucose concentration. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell B* **2002**, *34* (9), 1115-24.

358. Geiger, M.; Janes, T.; Keshavarz, H.; Summers, S.; Pinger, C.; Fletcher, D.; Spence, D., A C-peptide complex with albumin and Zn2+ increases measurable GLUT1 levels in membranes of human red blood cells. *Sci. Rep.* **2020**, *10* (1), 1-9.

359. Geiger, M. Experimental Evidence for a C-peptide Complex Receptor on Red Blood Cells. Michigan State University, East Lansing, Michigan, 2021.

360. Godwin, H., Half-life of radiocarbon. *Nature* **1962**, *195* (4845), 984.

361. Kougias, P.; Chai, H.; Lin, P. H.; Yao, Q.; Lumsden, A. B.; Chen, C., Effects of adipocyte-derived cytokines on endothelial functions: implication of vascular disease. *J. Surg. Res.* **2005**, *126* (1), 121-9.

362. Janssen, J. A.; Uitterlinden, P.; Hofland, L. J.; Lamberts, S. W. J., Insulin-like growth factor I receptors on blood cells; their relationship to circulating total and 'free' IGF-I, IGFBP-1, IGFBP-3 and insulin levels in healthy subjects. *Growth Horm. IGF Res.* **1998**, *8*(1), 47-54.

363. Bianchini, L.; Pouysségur, J., Molecular structure and regulation of vertebrate Na+/H+ exchangers. *J. Exp. Biol.* **1994**, *196*, 337-45.

364. Leonard, W. J.; O'Shea, J. J., JAKs and STATs: biological implications. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **1998,** *16*, 293-322.

365. Bjørbæk, C.; Uotani, S.; de Silva, B.; Flier, J. S., Divergent signaling capacities of the long and short isoforms of the leptin receptor. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1997**, *272* (51), 32686-95.

366. Wahren, J.; Kallas, Å.; Sima, A. A. F., The clinical potential of C-peptide replacement in type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes* **2012**, *61* (4), 761-72.

367. Luppi, P.; Cifarelli, V.; Wahren, J., C-peptide and long-term complications of diabetes. *Pediatric Diabetes* **2011**, *12*, 276-92.

368. Burns, D., Subunit structure and enzymic activity of pertussis toxin. *Microbiol. Sci.* **1988**, *5* (9), 285-7.

369. Kabbani, N., Proteomics of membrane receptors and signaling. *Proteomics* **2008**, *8* (19), 4146-55.

370. Josic, D.; Clifton, J. G., Mammalian plasma membrane proteomics. *Proteomics* **2007**, 3010-29.

371. Forler, D.; Köcher, T.; Rode, M.; Gentzel, M.; Izaurraide, E.; Wilm, M., An efficient protein complex purification method for functional proteomics in higher eukaryotes. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **2003**, *21* (1), 89-92.

372. Kocher, T.; Superti-Furga, G., Mass spectrometry-based functional proteomics: from molecular machines to protein networks. *Nat. Methods* **2007**, *4*, 807-15.

373. Kabbani, N.; Levenson, R., A proteomic approach to receptor signaling: molecular mechanisms and therapeutic implications derived from discovery of the dopamine D2 receptor signalplex. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **2007**, *57*2, 83-93.

374. Baitaci, A. K.; Moguikoc, R., Leptin and zinc relation: In regulatoin of food intake and immunity. *Indian J. Endocrinol. Metab.* **2012**, *16*, S611.

375. do Nascimento Marreiro, D.; Geloneze, B.; Tambascia, M. A.; Lerário, A. C.; Halpern, A.; Cozzolino, S. M. F., Effect of zinc supplementation on serum leptin levels and insulin resistance of obese women. *Biol. Trace Elem. Res.* **2006**, *112* (2), 109-18.

376. Mantzoros, C. S.; Prasad, A. S.; Beck, F. W.; Grabowski, S.; Kaplan, J.; Adair, C.; Brewer, G. J., Zinc may regulate serum leptin concentrations in humans. *J. Am. Coll. Nutr.* **1998**, *17* (3), 270-5.

377. Chen, M.-D.; Song, Y.-M.; Lin, P.-Y., Zinc may be a mediator of leptin production in humans. *Life Sci.* **2000**, *66* (22), 2143-9.

378. Eckel, R. H.; Grundy, S. M.; Zimmet, P. Z., The metabolic syndrome. *Lancet* **2005**, *365* (9468), 1415-28.

379. Myers, M. G.; Cowley, M. A.; Münzberg, H., Mechanisms of leptin action and leptin resistance. *Annu. Rev. Physiol.* **2008**, *70*, 537-56.

380. Alberti, K.; George, M. M.; Zimmet, P.; Shaw, J., The metabolic syndrome - a new worldwide definition. *Lancet* **2005**, *366* (9491), 1059-62.

381. Steppan, C. M.; Bailey, S. T.; Bhat, S.; Brown, E. J.; Banerjee, R. R.; Wright, C. M.; Patel, H. R.; Ahima, R. S.; lazar, M. A., The hormone resistin links obesity to diabetes. *Nature* **2001**, *409*, 307.

382. Steppan, C. M.; Lazar, M. A., Resistin and obesity-associated insulin resistance. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.* **2002**, *13* (1), 18-23.

383. Głab, T. K.; Boratyński, J., Potential of casein as a carrier for biologically active agents. *Top. Curr. Chem.* **2017**, *375* (4), 1-20.

384. De Jong, G.; Van Dijk, J. P.; Van Eijk, H. G., The biology of transferrin. *Clin. Chim. Acta* **1990**, *190* (1-2), 1-46.

385. Van Campenhout, A.; Van Campenhout, C. M.; Lagrou, A. R.; Manuel-y-Keenoy, B., Transferrrin modifications and lipid peroxidation: implications in diabetes mellitus. *Free Radic. Res.* **2003**, *37* (10), 1069-77.

386. Shoulders, M. D.; Raines, R. T., Collagen structure and stability. *Ann. Rev. Biochem.* **2009**, *78*, 929-58.

387. Lee, C. H.; Singla, A.; Lee, Y., Biomedical applications of collagen. *Int. J. Pharm.* **2001**.

388. Monnier, V. M.; Vishwanath, V.; Frank, K. E.; Elmets, C. A.; Dauchot, P.; Kohn, R. R., Relation between complications of type I diabetes mellitus and collagen-linked fluorescence. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **1986**, *314* (7), 403-8.

389. Vishwanath, V.; Frank, K. E.; Elmets, C. A.; Dauchot, P. J.; Monnier, V. M., Glycation of skin collagen in type I diabetes mellitus: correlation with long-term complications *Diabetes* **1986**, *35* (8), 916-21.

390. Paul, R. G.; Bailey, A. J., Glycation of collagen: the basis of its central role in the late complications of ageing and diabetes. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell B.* **1996**, *28* (12), 1297-1310.